
   

 
 

 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
Date: Wednesday, 19 December 2018 
 
Time:  2.30 pm 
 
Place: Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham, 

NG2 3NG 
 
Councillors are requested to attend the above meeting to transact the following 
business 

 
Corporate Director for Strategy and Resources 
 
Governance Officer: Nancy Barnard   Direct Dial: 0115 876 4312 
 
 

   
1  CHANGE IN COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP  

To note that Councillor Linda Woodings has stood down as a member of 
Planning Committee. 
 

 

2  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 

4  MINUTES  
To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 21 November 2018. 
 

3 - 10 

5  PLANNING APPLICATIONS : REPORTS OF THE CHIEF PLANNER  
 

 

a   Land Between Clifton Wood And Clifton Phase 4 Development Yew 
Tree Lane  
 

11 - 60 

b   Grove Hotel 273 Castle Boulevard  
 

61 - 82 

c   Colwick Hall Racecourse Road  
 

83 - 104 

 

IF YOU NEED ANY ADVICE ON DECLARING AN INTEREST IN ANY ITEM ON THE 
AGENDA, PLEASE CONTACT THE GOVERNANCE OFFICER SHOWN ABOVE, IF 
POSSIBLE BEFORE THE DAY OF THE MEETING  
 

Public Document Pack



CITIZENS ATTENDING MEETINGS ARE ASKED TO ARRIVE AT LEAST 15 MINUTES 
BEFORE THE START OF THE MEETING TO BE ISSUED WITH VISITOR BADGES 
 
CITIZENS ARE ADVISED THAT THIS MEETING MAY BE RECORDED BY MEMBERS 
OF THE PUBLIC. ANY RECORDING OR REPORTING ON THIS MEETING SHOULD 
TAKE PLACE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COUNCIL’S POLICY ON RECORDING AND 
REPORTING ON PUBLIC MEETINGS, WHICH IS AVAILABLE AT 
WWW.NOTTINGHAMCITY.GOV.UK. INDIVIDUALS INTENDING TO RECORD THE 
MEETING ARE ASKED TO NOTIFY THE GOVERNANCE OFFICER SHOWN ABOVE IN 
ADVANCE.



 

1 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL  
 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held at Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley 
House, Station Street, Nottingham, NG2 3NG on 21 November 2018 from 2.31 
pm - 4.06 pm 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Chris Gibson (Chair) 
Councillor Brian Parbutt (Vice Chair) 
Councillor Leslie Ayoola 
Councillor Cheryl Barnard 
Councillor Graham Chapman 
Councillor Azad Choudhry 
Councillor Josh Cook 
Councillor Gul Nawaz Khan 
Councillor Sally Longford 
Councillor Mohammed Saghir 
Councillor Wendy Smith 
Councillor Malcolm Wood 
Councillor Cate Woodward 
Councillor Steve Young 
 

Councillor Andrew Rule 
Councillor Linda Woodings 
 

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
James Ashton - Transport Strategy Manager 
Judith Irwin - Senior Solicitor 
Rob Percival - Area Planning Manager 
Paul Seddon - Director of Planning and Regeneration 
Nigel Turpin - Team Leader, Planning Services 
Zena West - Governance Officer 
 
43  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Councillor Andrew Rule – Work Commitments (Councillor Roger Steele attending as 
substitute) 
Councillor Linda Woodings – Council Business 
 
44  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
Councillor Steve Young declared an interest in agenda item 5d, Former Meadows 
Police Station, Crammond Road, as he is a member of the Nottingham City Homes 
Board. He withdrew from the meeting room during this item, and did not take part in 
discussion or voting. 
 
45  MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meetings held 19 September 2018 and 17 October 2018 were 
agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



Planning Committee - 21.11.18 

2 

46  DRAFT WATERSIDE SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (SPD) 
 

Paul Seddon, Director of Planning and Regeneration, presented a report on the Draft 
Waterside Supplementary Planning Document for noting. There is a commitment to 
make Nottingham a prosperous and vibrant place to work live and visit, with the 
Waterside area as a key aspirational residential area. The Supplementary Planning 
Document is now out for consultation, and contains vision and policies to steer the 
transformation of that area over next 15 years.  
 
The Committee welcomed the Supplementary Planning Document, and agreed that 
the scheme will be important for Nottingham’s future. 
 
RESOLVED to note the report and its contents. 
 
47  BROADMARSH CAR PARK, COLLIN STREET 

 
Rob Percival, Area Planning Manager, introduced application 18/02038/PFUL3 by 
Leonard Design Architects on behalf of Nottingham City Council for provision of a 
new bus station and car park structure with a public library (Use Class D1), 
commercial space (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, A4 and A5), ancillary public facilities 
including a travel centre and a link footbridge. The application was brought to 
Planning Committee because it relates to a major development of critical significance 
to the City Centre where there are important land use, design, heritage and 
regeneration considerations. 
 
Rob Percival gave a presentation showing comparable visuals of the previously 
approved scheme and the proposed amendments. He highlighted the following 
points: 
 
a) a scheme for the redevelopment of the bus station and car park was approved 

in February 2018, this represents a revision to that scheme, to incorporate the 
library.  The lower ground level design is essentially very similar to the previous 
scheme. The upper ground level (level with Collin Street) now contains library 
with frontages to Collin Street and Carrington Street. There is a void space 
above this at the first car park level to allow for greater height in the library. The 
next floor includes another floor of the library on the Collin Street frontage; 

 
b) the size of the car park has been reduced in the redesign, with fewer parking 

spaces provided;  
 

c) it is proposed to shrink the digital advertising screen to allow for an expansive 
double height entrance to the library, with very little change on the other three 
corners of the building. The library is a welcome addition to the building, and it 
also makes enhancements to the outside of the building; 

 
d) the update sheet reflects the fact that the Environment Agency have withdrawn 

previous concerns;  
 

e) the update sheet also details the objection of Pedals to the fact that the revised 
scheme does not include cycle parking or lockers.  The revision of the design 
has moved at a pace where the issue is ongoing in terms of design 

Page 4



Planning Committee - 21.11.18 

3 

development, but it is very much intended that a cycle hub still will be included.  
The latest plans suggest it will be located in the north eastern corner, which was 
its original proposed position, with potentially another area of cycle parking on 
the lower ground level near the bus station. A condition in the draft decision 
attached to the report already secures the provision of cycle parking by 
requiring details of the cycle scheme to be submitted for approval by the 
planning authority; 

 
f) the update sheet also proposes the deletion of the existing Condition 5 in light 

of the submission and approval of the various archaeological documents and 
the substitution of a new regulatory condition.   

 
Following a number of questions and comments from the Committee, some 
additional information was provided: 
 
g) the library will be located in the city centre with many bus routes going to that 

point, along with accessible entrances. The change in internal levels within the 
library will be by steps, but there will also be an accessible lift option available; 
 

h) there will be the same proportion of electric charging points as in the previous 
design – 10% (only 5% are required to be electric charging point spaces); 

 
i) transport to a library is obviously a very important point. A number of additional 

bus stops are being explored, particularly on Canal Street, in light of the 
proposed library placement. The network will be analysed to see if stops on 
Middle Hill will be considered; 

 
j) although not a planning consideration, the proposed scheme will still be viable 

even if the redevelopment of the Broadmarsh Shopping Centre does not go 
ahead. 

 
RESOLVED to: 
 
(1) grant planning permission subject to the conditions substantially in the 

form listed in the draft decision notice at the end of the report; 
 

(2) delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Regeneration to 
determine the final details of the conditions. 

 
48  HORIZON FACTORY , THANE ROAD 

 
Rob Percival, Area Planning Manager, introduced application 18/01455/POUT by 
Henry Boot Developments Plc for outline planning permission for the development of 
up to 46,556m2 of B1, B2 and B8 industrial space, up to 12,115m2 for a potential car 
showroom (use class Sui Generis) and with all matters reserved, except 
consideration of access. The application was brought to Planning Committee 
because is a major application where there are important land use considerations. 
 
Rob Percival gave a presentation showing potential proposed layouts for the factory 
site. He highlighted the following points: 
 

Page 5



Planning Committee - 21.11.18 

4 

a) the former John Player factory is currently  vacant, awaiting demolition. The 
outline application is to establish the principle of the type of building that can go 
on the site. The Committee is only being asked to consider access as a detailed 
matter at this stage; 
 

b) possible layouts include a very large industrial building with smaller units, a 
large industrial building with a car dealership and smaller units, or two or three 
medium sized industrial buildings. The detailed scheme will come back for 
further consideration to Committee; 

 
c) as comments have not yet been received from the Environment Agency,  a 

change to the recommendation is included on the update sheet to 
accommodate this. It is not anticipated that the Environment Agency will raise 
any issues of concern.  

 
Following questions and comments from the Committee, some additional information 
was provided: 
 
d) It is welcomed that the proposed uses are still industrial, and Councillors noted 

that it was important to be flexible with possibilities for the site, as long as they 
remain primarily industrial in nature; 
 

e) it is difficult to know what the provision for cycle use at  the site will be until it is 
known who is to develop and occupy the site, but cycle storage can be 
addressed at the reserved matters stage. 

 
RESOLVED to: 
 
(1) grant planning permission subject to no material issues arising from the 

representations of the Environment Agency on flood risk issues, and 
subject to both the indicative conditions listed in the draft decision notice 
at the end of the report and any other conditions arising from the 
comments of the Environment Agency; 
 

(2) delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Regeneration to 
determine the final details of the conditions. 

 
49  PLAYING FIELD AND POND NORTH EAST OF TENNIS CENTRE, 

UNIVERSITY BOULEVARD 
 

Rob Percival, Area Planning Manager, introduced application 17/02866/PFUL3 by 
Nottingham City Council for planning permission to erect a three storey building 
providing undercroft parking, café, conference and meeting space at ground floor 
with office space above. The application was brought to Planning Committee 
because it is a major development on a prominent site where there are important 
design considerations. 
 
Rob Percival gave a presentation showing photos of the vacant site and visuals of 
the proposed development. He highlighted the following points: 
 

Page 6



Planning Committee - 21.11.18 

5 

a) half of the Nottingham Science Park site has been developed already, this is for 
the first phase of the second half of that larger site. The proposals include office 
accommodation, and a hub for the larger site, with a café and shared meeting 
spaces for use by the whole Science Park; 
 

b) the proposed building follows the existing master plan in terms of siting, form, 
scale and approach to undercroft parking; 

 
c) as there is  an outstanding ecological assessment, the recommendation 

accommodates any matters which may arise from  the  further survey work 
required. It is anticipated that the assessment will be completed satisfactorily 
within a matter of days. 

 
Following questions and comments from the Committee, additional information was 
provided: 
 
d) the site has stayed empty for a number of years. Councillors welcomed the 

development, with some commenting that the design was dramatic but in 
keeping with the rest of the Science Park, and would certainly enhance 
University Boulevard; 
 

e) the original design concept was based around the central wetland feature, 
which is now very mature. A pedestrian footpath currently gives access to a 
viewing platform over the nature reserve. The level change prohibits a path 
down to the nature reserve from the viewing platform; 

 
f) the provision of electric charging points in 10% of spaces within the car park 

can be secured by way of an additional  condition; 
 

g) some Councillors commented that they did not like the appearance of the 
ground floor screening of the car park. A condition requires the submission and 
approval of materials, so improvements can be sought. . 

 
RESOLVED to: 
 
(1) grant planning permission subject to no material issues arising from the 

further ecological assessment and subject to: 
i) the indicative conditions listed in the draft decision notice at the end 

of the report; 
ii) the addition of a condition re electric charging points; 
iii) and any other necessary conditions arising from the further 

ecological assessment; 
 
(2) delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Regeneration to 

determine the final details of the conditions. 
 
50  FORMER MEADOWS POLICE STATION, CRAMMOND CLOSE 

 
Councillor Steve Young left the room prior to discussion, consideration and voting on 
this item, due to his declared interest. 
 

Page 7



Planning Committee - 21.11.18 

6 

Rob Percival, Area Planning Manager, introduced application 17/02512/PFUL3 by 
Nottingham City Homes for planning permission to demolish the existing police 
station building and construct a 3 and 4 storey block of 21 two bedroom apartments 
with associated car parking and amenity spaces and the extension of Rutland Close 
to form a new vehicular junction with Meadows Way. The application was brought to 
Planning Committee at the request of a local Ward Councillor who has raised valid 
planning reasons. 
 
Rob Percival gave a presentation showing maps of the area, aerial views of the 
context with existing properties, a map of the proposed extension to Rutland Close, 
and visuals of the proposed development. He highlighted the following points: 
 
a) the site sits on the north western edge of Meadows, opposite the NG2 Business 

Park. It sits on the edge of an area which has seen a lot of transformation 
recently; 
 

b) the proposals include interesting design features, such as darker brick work for 
the corner feature, along the base and as an accent material elsewhere, and a 
curved form to the building. It is proposed that the main brick colour will be buff, 
in keeping with much other brickwork in the Meadows; 

 
c) the update sheet proposes  an amendment to  condition 7 in the draft decision 

notice requiring provision of secure gates; 
 

d) brick detailing around the windows has been added in response to concerns 
raised on earlier designs.   

 
Following questions and comments from the Committee, additional information was 
provided: 
 
e) Councillors agreed that the building design was attractive and of high quality, 

particularly the curve to the building. The brief was put together by Nottingham 
City Council, with the design developed by Nottingham City Homes and their 
architects through negotiation with the City Council. Work has taken place with 
Nottingham City Homes to ensure that the scheme can be delivered on budget, 
given the high quality; 

 
f) the trees used in the boundary treatment will be columnal trees with a fairly 

narrow canopy, in order to avoid or lessen future maintenance issues related to 
them; 

 
g) the Committee noted that the flats being developed on Arkwright Walk use an 

attractive combination of red, brown and buff brick colours, and that the same 
bricks could be considered for this scheme; 

 
h) there are no south facing houses behind this development, so the effect on light 

obstruction of neighbouring properties will be minimal; 
 

i) the securing of local employment and training opportunities is done by 
agreement with Nottingham City Homes rather than via planning and  that 
arrangement  already exists with Nottingham City Homes 

Page 8



Planning Committee - 21.11.18 

7 

 
j) there is generous re-cycling provision within the waste storage facility of the 

scheme. 
 
RESOLVED to: 
 
(1) grant planning permission subject to: 

i) prior completion of a S106 Planning Obligation to secure an off-site 
Public Open Space financial contribution of £19,488.84 towards the 
restoration of the Victoria Embankment War Memorial; 

ii) the indicative conditions substantially in the form of those listed in 
the draft decision notice at the end of the report plus amended 
condition 7 (regarding the secure access gates); 

 
(2) delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Regeneration to 

determine the final details of both the conditions and the S106 Planning 
Obligation; 
 

(3) note that the Committee is satisfied that Regulation 122(2) Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 is complied with, in that the planning 
obligation sought is: 
i) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
ii) directly related to the development and; 
iii) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development; 

 
(4) to note that the Committee is satisfied that the planning obligation(s) 

sought that relate to infrastructure would not exceed the permissible 
number of obligations according to Regulation 123(3) of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010. 

 
Councillor Steve Young returned to the room for the remainder of the meeting. 
 
51  LAND TO THE REAR OF 11 WESTERN TERRACE 

 
Rob Percival, Area Planning Manager, introduced application 18/01400/PFUL3 by 
Phoenix Planning (UK) LTD for planning permission for the erection of a detached 
single storey dwelling. The application was brought to Planning Committee at the 
request of the local Ward Councillor who has raised valid planning reasons. 
 
Rob Percival gave a presentation showing photos of the site, and visuals of the 
proposed development. He highlighted the following points: 
 
a) the proposed development is not in line with policies for heritage conservation in 

the Park. Planning permission was previously granted on appeal for demolition 
and rebuilding of boundary walls and erection of new entrance gates.  The 
Council had refused the application on the grounds that loss of the trees arising 
from the proposal would harm the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area.  The appeal was allowed subject to the provision of a 
scheme for re-planting. The proposal takes this a step further by placing a 
dwelling on that plot; 
 

Page 9



Planning Committee - 21.11.18 

8 

b) representations from the applicant make a case for the development to be 
allowed. Their case is that it is now a separate plot and an untidy site. There 
have been some comments in support from local residents; 

 
c) objections have been received  from the Civic Society and the Park Estate. A 

new dwelling would threaten trees on the site and limit placement of new trees 
to replace those removed for resulting in damage to the wall; 

 
d) Granting the application would result in the permanent sub-division of the plot.    
 
Following questions and comments from the Committee, some additional information 
was provided: 
 
e) the proposed building is very low lying and unobtrusive, and there is precedent 

for a building of this style elsewhere in the Park. Generally speaking new 
dwellings have been conversions or replacements of existing buildings, so this 
is different in that regard; 

 
f) The principle of resisting the subdivision of  large gardens within the Park is an 

important one, and if this were allowed that may in itself set a precedent; 
 

g) whilst some Councillors felt the scheme would improve an untidy site, other 
Councillors noted that the applicants themselves have allowed the site to 
become untidy, and the Council’s response to that behaviour should not be to 
grant  planning permission but to require landowners to remedy the situation; 

 
h) it was felt that granting planning permission in such a situation could incentivise 

the subdivision of other large gardens.   
 
RESOLVED to: 
 
(1) refuse planning permission for the reasons set out in the draft decision 

notice at the end of the report; 
 

(2) delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Regeneration to 
determine the final details of the reasons for refusal. 

 
Councillor Malcolm Wood asked that his vote against the above resolution be 
recorded. 
 
 

Page 10



 
 
WARDS AFFECTED: Clifton South  Item No:  
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
19 December 2018 

 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF PLANNING AND REGENERATION 
 
Land Between Clifton Wood And Clifton Phase 4 Development, Yew Tree Lane 
 
1 SUMMARY 
 
Application No: 18/00056/POUT for outline planning permission 

 
Application by: Planning And Design Group (UK) Ltd on behalf of Nottingham City 

Council And Nottingham Trent University 
 

Proposal: Outline planning permission for residential development with all 
matters reserved except access. 

 
The application is brought to Committee as it is a major application which departs from 
some policies in the Development Plan, where there are important land use considerations 
and significant public interest. 
 
To meet the Council's Performance Targets this application should have been determined 
by 13th April 2018 
 
2 RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
TO GRANT PLANNING PERMISISON 
2.1 Subject to: 
 

(a) No adverse comments being received by the 7th January 2019 which both, arise 
from the publicity of the Planning Application as a departure from the 
Development Plan and consist of issues other than those already addressed by 
this report,  
 

(b)  The prior completion of a Section 106 planning obligation to be secured in 
accordance with paragraph 7.76-of the report and to include: 

 
(i) A requirement to provide 20% affordable housing on site should any 

subsequent reserved matters submission comprise of 25 dwellings or more. 
 
(ii)  The provision of an approved scheme in respect of on-site amenity land 

and the Sustainable Urban Drainage System. 
 

(iii)  On-going management and maintenance arrangements for any on-site 
amenity land and the Sustainable Urban Drainage System. 

 
(iv) A financial contribution towards the enhancement of public open space off-

site. 
 

(v) A financial contribution towards the expansion and/or enhancement of 
education facilities in the area. 

 
Page 11

Agenda Item 5a



 
(vi) A financial contribution of £25,000 towards the enhancement and 

improvement of existing footpaths in the adjacent Clifton Woods. 
 

vii) Provisions for the long term maintenance arrangements for the emergency 
access. 
 

(c) subject to conditions substantially in the form of the indicative conditions listed in 
the draft decision notice at the end of this report. 

 
2.2  Power to determine the final details of both the conditions and the section 106 

obligation be delegated to Director of Planning and Regeneration. 
 
2.3  That Committee are satisfied that Regulation 122(2) Community Infrastructure Levy 

Regulations 2010 is complied with, in that the planning obligation sought is (a) 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, (b) directly 
related to the development and (c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to 
the development. 
 

2.4 That Committee are satisfied that the planning obligation(s) sought that relate to 
infrastructure would not exceed the permissible number of obligations in 
accordance with Regulation 123(3) of the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010.  
 

3 BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The planning application relates to a 9.6 hectare site located on the south western 

edge of Clifton. The site comprises of a disused playing field which is owned by 
Nottingham Trent University (NTU) and an agricultural field which is owned by 
Nottingham City Council. The site is irregular in shape and largely bordered by 
mature hedgerows and in places by mature trees. A central row of trees crosses the 
site from east to west, which forms the predominant landscape feature on the site. 
The topography of the site is reasonably flat with a gentle slope from south to north. 

 
3.2 The site is adjoined to the east by part of the existing Trent Valley Bridleway with 

the Barton Green housing estate beyond. To the west lies Clifton Wood, which 
forms a Grade II Registered Park and Garden associated with Grade 1 Listed 
Clifton Hall to the north. The wood has recently been identified as an ancient 
woodland by Natural England. It is also a Local Wildlife Site (LWS) and forms part 
of the Clifton Grove, Clifton Woods and Holme Pit Local Nature Reserve (LNR). 
The wood extends along the entire western limit of the site. The site is adjoined to 
the south by the Trent Valley Bridleway with pockets of woodland, forming part of 
the above LNR and Fox Covert LWS and agricultural grazing land beyond. To the 
north is a mix of agricultural land, a tree plantation and residential development on 
Clifton Hall Drive, built within the grounds of the Grade 1 Listed Clifton Hall. The 
Hall and associate listed Grade II Listed stable block is located further to the north 
west of Clifton Hall Drive. The Grade 1 Listed Church of St Mary the Virgin and 
associated Grade II listed structures; Grade II listed 1 and 2 Home Farm Cottages 
and Grade II listed Yew Tree Grange and associated structures sit to the north and 
north east of Clifton Hall Drive.  

 
3.3 The site also sits within the Clifton Fox Covert Lane Archaeological Constraint Area 

and falls within a Minerals Safeguarding Area. The edge of the Clifton Village 
Conservation Area runs along the north and western boundaries of the site, 
incorporating Clifton Woods. The   Nottinghamshire Green Belt abuts the west and 

Page 12



 
southern boundaries of the site. The Holme Pit Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSI) is located 0.2km to the west of the site. 

 
3.4 There is currently no vehicular access to the site. Informal footpaths from the 

adjacent bridleway cross the site to gain access into Clifton Woods. 
 
4 DETAILS OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 This application seeks outline planning permission for residential development of 

the site, with access arrangements being the only detailed matter submitted for 
approval at this stage. The City Council and NTU are joint applicants for the 
planning application, as landowners. 

 
4.2 The submission includes an illustrative masterplan which aims to illustrate how up 

to 278 dwellings could be accommodated on the site. A Design Code has also been 
submitted to inform the design and layout of future residential development, the 
streets, associated open spaces and a proposed landscape framework. 

 
4.3 The main access to the site would be through the existing Barton Green estate. 

Existing access to the estate is taken from the A453 Trunk road, at the Crusader 
roundabout, onto Hartness Road, which forms the sole existing distributor road 
serving the Barton Green estate. From Hartness Road direct access to the site 
would be via an extension to Hawksley Gardens, which currently forms a cul-de sac 
serving approximately 36 properties. An additional (emergency only) access is 
proposed to be built off Finchley Close, a further cul-de-sac serving approximately 
14 properties. Both accesses are proposed to cross the existing bridleway, which 
runs along the western boundary of the estate. It is proposed to provide bridleway 
crossing facilities at these points. 

 
4.4 The illustrative masterplan also includes the following: 
 

• The creation of a green edge to all boundaries of the site, with new residential 
areas and streets set within it. This includes a green buffer along the western edge 
of the site with Clifton Woods which was originally shown to have an approximate 
width of 10m. The applicant in response to comments from statutory consultees 
has revised the illustrative masterplan and supporting documents to show an 
undulating buffer with a width of 15m to 30m. 

• Retention of the central spine of mature trees. 
• An 8m strip of green space along the eastern edge of the site with the bridleway, 

and the Barton Green estate beyond, to provide an easement for an existing main 
water pipe. 

• The creation of a further green buffer to the southern boundary. 
• The creation of green space and a surface water attenuation pond to the northern 

boundary of the site. 
• An indicative road and housing layout. 
• New and improved links for pedestrians and cyclists. 

 
5 CONSULTATIONS AND OBSERVATIONS OF OTHER OFFICERS 
 

467 Neighbouring properties on the following streets have been notified of the 
proposal:  
 

 Finchley Close 
Juniper Close 

Page 13



 
Camelia Avenue 
Pieris Drive 
Jasmine Close 
Osprey Close 
Hartness Road 
Primula Close 
Falconwood Gardens 
Hawksley Gardens 
Linden Avenue 
The Leys 
Eucalyptus Avenue 
Lilac Court 
Maris Close 
Mimosa Close 
Veronica Walk 
Crusader Court 
Goldswong Terrace 
Myrtus Close 
Thymus Walk 
Arbutus Close 
Betula Close 
Clifton Hall Drive 
 
The application has also been publicised through the display of a site notice and 
the publishing of a press notice.  
 
60 representations have been received from local residents. Their main concerns 
are summarised below: 
 
Principal of Residential Development and Amenity  
 

• There is no need or justification for more housing development particularly 
as 3000 homes are already planned as part of the Clifton South Sustainable 
Urban Extension to the south in Rushcliffe Borough. 

• Barton Green estate is also seen to have sufficient housing and additional 
properties would detract from the character and open aspect of the 
neighbourhood.  

• The development is seen as too intensive. 
• The planning application is pre-empting consideration of the sites allocation 

for residential development in the Draft Local Plan Part 2 (LAPP) and its 
discussion at the forthcoming Examination of the LAPP which starts in 
November 2018. 

• The urbanising impact of the development would result in a reduction in 
people’s quality of life and would have a detrimental impact on the landscape 
amenity value of the area, through the loss of farming land and countryside 
which is currently enjoyed daily by walkers, families and children. 

• One resident objects on the grounds that the development would be built on 
green belt land. 

• There is concern that Clifton is already losing surrounding open space as a 
result of the Clifton South Sustainable Urban Extension to the south and this 
proposal will exacerbate it. 

• The increase in traffic generation will have a negative impact on resident’s 
quality of life in terms of air pollution, noise, fumes, outlook and the general 
residential feel of the estate. Concern that this would have a negative impact 

Page 14



 
on people’s mental and physical health. 

• Disruption, noise disturbance and pollution to existing residents during the 
construction period. Concern that this would have a negative impact on 
people’s mental and physical health. 

• One resident is aware that unauthorised landfill operations took place in the 
area. To prevent unacceptable risks to public health from pollution and 
potential land instability they consider that the Phase 2 site investigation as 
recommended in the submitted desk top contamination study should be 
carried out prior to planning permission being granted. 

• Concerns regarding the impact on existing local services such as doctor’s 
surgeries and capacity within existing Clifton schools. 

 
Traffic and Access considerations 
 

• The main concern of local residents relates to the proposed increase in 
traffic and congestion resulting from the development using existing roads 
through the Barton Green estate and its access onto the A453 at the 
Crusader roundabout. They consider that the existing roads on the estate 
were not designed to cope with the increase in the volume of traffic proposed 
by the development. 

• One local resident has submitted written correspondence from the Local MP  
dated August 1994, which stated that access would not be taken through the 
existing residential areas, except for emergency access. It states that the 
Clifton West area would need an access direct from the A453. 

• The use of Hawksley Gardens as the sole access to the site, due to its 
narrow width, is of particular concern. Residents state that it is a small cul-
de-sac with minimal traffic flow making it a safe environment for local 
residents and children to walk/play and cycle. Extending this road as a 
thoroughfare to serve the development and to allow the increased volume of 
additional vehicular movements proposed along this narrow street, is 
considered to be unacceptable and unsafe.  Residents feel that it would 
destroy the nature of Hawksley Gardens as a quiet residential cul-de-sac 
and that no consideration has been given to its impact on them. They 
consider that highway safety issues would be exacerbated by existing on 
street parking along both sides of Hawksley Gardens and on Hartness Road 
opposite the junction with Hawksley Gardens, as many residents do not have 
space to park two cars on their drives. This makes turning into Hawksley 
Gardens difficult and dangerous and reduces the width of the road further, 
leaving limited space for only a small car to get through. 

• The possible introduction of traffic restrictions on Hawksley Gardens is seen 
as being unfair to existing residents who currently have unrestricted on street 
parking.  

• There is also significant concern about the additional impact on egress from 
the estate at Hartness Road onto the A453, at the Crusader roundabout. 
This is the sole access to estate and they consider that the proposal would 
result in significant increase in traffic generation / congestion and queuing 
vehicles at this junction. Many residents state that it already takes 2- 3 
changes of the traffic lights at the roundabout to exit the estate in the 
mornings. In addition, they feel that there is the potential for traffic to back up 
the A453 heading out of Nottingham as a result of one lane effectively 
becoming blocked as a result of the increased traffic flow trying to enter 
Barton Green and the new Clifton West development. In their opinion the 
situation would be worsened by existing on street parking of vehicles using 

Page 15



 
the public house and local shop situated at the junction of Hartness Road 
with the Crusader Island. 

• Concern that the submitted Traffic Assessment does not include a full 
assessment of traffic generation along Hawksley Gardens. Residents 
consider that the traffic generation modelling within the assessment is 
misleading and unrepresentative of the projected increase in traffic resulting 
from the development. Recent traffic accident reports have not been 
included and the impact of additional right turning traffic onto the A453 has 
not been appropriately considered. On this basis the do not consider that the 
development meets the requirements of the NPPF to provide a safe and 
suitable access to serve developments. 

• Residents question why the proposed access from Finchley Gardens is for 
emergency access only. They suggest the access should form a second 
access into the development to help alleviate the increase in traffic using 
Hawksley Gardens. 

• Residents of Finchley Close object to the use of Finchley Close as an 
emergency access. The close consists of privately owned properties and 
they consider that the emergency access should be taken from Juniper 
Close  

• Many residents query why alternative access arrangements to the site have 
been discounted. They consider that the proposed access has been chosen 
as it is the least problematic option rather than being based upon actual 
feasibility, sustainability and appropriateness. A new access from the new 
Mill Hill roundabout on the A453 is suggested, as is proposed for the Clifton 
South Sustainable Urban Extension to the south in Rushcliffe Borough. 
Another resident suggests that access be taken to the north of the site 
through the existing agricultural land. 

• Concern that the increase in the volume of traffic could cause additional 
problems for emergency services gaining access to the existing estate. 
Hartness Road is the sole access off the estate and residents recall an 
instance when the access was blocked and there was no vehicular access to 
the estate. 

• Concerns are raised about the new access road from Hawksley Gardens 
which is proposed to cross the existing bridleway that runs along the western 
boundary of the existing estate. Residents state that the bridleway is 
regularly used by horse riders, walkers and cyclists and there are concerns 
about their future safety due to the road crossing. 

• Residents consider that the proposals contained in the submitted Travel Plan 
would not to reduce car reliance are unrealistic and would be unlikely to be 
successful, and contain no mitigating plans should the measures fail. They 
consider that few people cycle and it is too far to walk to the tram. The 
existing bus services are currently infrequently used. They consider that the 
development would be placed further from existing bus stops, making it even 
less likely for residents in the new site to take up these alternative means of 
transport.  

• One resident considers that when the potential of up to 600 vehicles 
entering/accessing the development is combined with the lack of plans for 
additional schools, leisure, medical,  shopping facilities and poor public 
transport, the result would be that most journeys would be completed by car, 
often at peak times. 

• Concerns relating to the use of both Hartness Road and Hawksley Gardens 
by heavy construction traffic, potential damage to the road surface and mud 
deposition and spillages on the road. 

Page 16



 
• Query over whether the development would provide sufficient off street 

parking. 
• Request that if the development goes ahead Hartness Road should be the 

subject of a 20mph speed limit. 
 
Heritage and Nature Conservation 
 

• Given the woodland / sites of special scientific interest in the immediate 
locale residents are concerned about how an additional 250 homes (and 
associated people) will impact on these sensitive habitats, especially given 
the lack of any other planned leisure facilities for both young and old alike. 

• Development of the site would further detract from the significance of Clifton 
Hall and the Church of St Marys (Grade I listed), Clifton Wood as a 
Registered Park and Garden (Grade II listed) and Clifton Conservation Area. 
There is concern that the contribution made by the application site to the 
historic setting and significance of Clifton Hall and Clifton Wood has been 
underestimated, with the classification in the submitted Heritage Impact 
Assessment (HIA) of 'low to at most moderate level of harm'. It is the 
resident’s opinion that the site makes a valuable contribution to the historic 
setting significance of Clifton Hall, being not only part of the original estate, 
but as importantly, it was an area managed as common pasture until the 2nd 
World War. It also forms the immediate undeveloped rural setting of the 
Registered Park and Garden and as such forms an important part of the 
historic environment of these designated heritage assets. Contrary to the 
conclusion of the submitted HIA residents consider that the development 
would cause a major level of harm to these heritage assets. The proposed 
development is considered to be contrary to Policy 11 of the Aligned Core 
Strategy and Policies BE10, BE12 and BE14 of the Local Plan. 

• Concern that development of the site would have an adverse environmental 
impact on Clifton Wood as an ancient woodland and Local Nature Reserve 
and Clifton Fox Covert (located to the south east of the site) as a Local 
Wildlife Site (formerly known as SINC)in terms of human disturbance, noise, 
vibration, light, air pollution and dust deposition. The site is considered to act 
as a valuable green pastoral buffer which protects both woodlands from the 
adverse impacts associated with urban development. It also makes a 
valuable contribution to the ecological network across the City and Rushcliffe 
Borough. Residents consider that the ecological appraisal does not 
satisfactorily demonstrate how development of the site would adequately 
minimise its impacts and provide net gains in biodiversity. The proposal 
would therefore be contrary to the NPPF in respect of its impact on ancient 
woodland and nature conservation interests.  

• Residents reiterate the concerns raised by Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust 
(see below). They consider that there hasn’t been a thorough assessment in 
respect of the impact of the development on protected species and the flora 
and fauna in adjacent woodland and SINCs. The proposed buffer along the 
edge of Clifton Woods is considered to be inadequate. Surveys for notable 
and/or protected species are considered to be incomplete and the mitigation 
measures set out in ecological appraisal are seen as vague and inadequate 
to mitigate against the impact of the development on biodiversity in the 
adjacent woodlands. 

• In addition to the above some residents consider that the development would 
restrict and detract from the views into and out of Clifton Wood and through 
to Thrumpton Parish. These are considered important to visitors as they 

Page 17



 
enhance the feeling of naturalness and tranquillity and play an important part 
in identifying the Hall and parkland’s historic origins. 

• One resident consider that the buffer to Clifton Woods should be a minimum 
of 50m in width to protect and conserve this woodland. 

• It is considered that the site should be conserved and made available to the 
public as recreational space and would form a welcome extension to the 
Clifton Grove green corridor. 

 
Other 
 

• This was designated green belt land and one resident considers it should be 
used for sports facilities by the Trent University as originally used by Clifton 
Hall grammar school. 

• The development would exacerbate existing drainage and foul sewer 
problems currently experienced.  

• Given the amount of known archaeology in proximity to the site, further 
investigations should be carried out prior to outline planning permission 
being granted. 

• Would result in the devaluation of property prices. 
• Concern that the City Council is making decision on planning applications for 

its own land. 
 

Clifton Village Residents Association has written in to object to the proposed 
development. The four main issues set out below reflect many of the concerns 
raised by local residents above: 
 
1) The Highways statement and travel plan do not reflect the site specific factors; 
traffic flows during construction and once completed would be far higher than 
modelled. They consider that additional survey data should be sought to 
substantiate the impact on the Barton Green estate as a result of the proposed 
access route, and proposals for managing the access route during the substantial 
construction phase should be required. 
2) That the actual trips from the site will be far higher than stated due to specific 
factors such as the barrier of the A453 and the survey should include this, or be 
substantiated by a survey of Barton Green. 
3) The plans provide insufficient open space and do not comply with either the 
requirements of the Open Space Supplementary Planning Guidance or the more 
recent site development principles for the allocated site PA57 Clifton West, as set 
out in the LAPP. 
4) The indicative masterplan, which shows roads backing onto protected woodland, 
is considered to be insufficient in terms of its landscaping and buffering of the 
development to Clifton Woods. It again does not comply with PA57 Clifton West as 
set out in the LAPP. The Residents Association consider that resolution of both of 
these important design features should be a pre start condition to ensure quality 
and a layout solution is agreed prior to any start on site. 
 
Barton in Fabis Parish Council has also written in to object to the planning 
application. Their concerns reflect those raised by local residents under Heritage 
and Nature Conservation and in particular they refer to the detrimental impact the 
development would have on the listed setting of Clifton Hall and Clifton Woods, the 
woodlands natural environment and ancient woodland status. 

 
Nottingham Local Forum consider it essential that this development has good 
connections to the local rights of way network. Although various access points are 

Page 18



 
shown on the indicative master plan, the only non-emergency one explicitly 
mentioned is the combined highway/pedestrian and cycle access from Hawksley 
Gardens. The Forum consider that the emergency access from Finchley Close 
should include a pedestrian access between the site and the adjacent residential 
area. There should also be more connections from the new development to the 
surrounding bridleways. The Forum notes that there are already a variety of public 
transport options which residents of the new development could access, given 
appropriate walking links. However consideration should be given to whether faster 
public transport options to the city centre may be provided, in order to encourage 
public transport travel. 
 
Additional comments to the revised indicative masterplan and supporting 
information 
One local resident has commented on the revised indicative master plan and 
amendments to the buffer to Clifton Wood. In their opinion neither the original 
planning application nor the revised proposals have provided suitable evidence in 
order to decide whether an undulating buffer of 15 – 30 metres would prevent 
unacceptable adverse impacts to both Clifton Woods as an ancient woodland and 
the biodiversity it supports. They consider that although there is no proposed loss of 
woodland, there is considerable potential for deterioration of the woodland as a 
result of the impacts of this development. In order to make a sound assessment of 
the impact they consider that a full Ecological Impact Assessment should be 
undertaken prior to the determination of the application. The importance of the site 
to the setting and significance of Clifton Hall, St Marys Church, Clifton Woods and 
Clifton Conservation Area as important heritage assets, in line with National 
Planning Policy, is restated and emphasised. The importance of vistas in and 
towards Clifton Wood, the Hall and Church are also restated.  
 
They also consider that the development, together with the planned Clifton South 
Sustainable Urban Extension to the south in Rushcliffe Borough, and proposed 
mineral extraction site at Mill Hill/Barton in Fabis, would result in cumulative impacts 
on the historic landscape character of the area. They consider that a full 
assessment of these impacts should be made before determination of the 
application. 
 
Additional consultation letters sent to: 
 
Environmental Health and Safer Places: No objection. EHSP are satisfied with 
the conclusions of the environmental assessment that conventionally designed 
houses would deliver acceptable levels of noise within the home and that no 
condition is required to address this. Conditions relating to remediation for ground, 
ground water and ground gas contamination are recommended. 
 
Highways England (HE): No objections. The A453 and the Crusader roundabout 
from which the development gains access, via the Barton Green estate, is part of 
the strategic trunk road network, for which HE is responsible. HE initially requested 
that more detailed modelling of the junctions along the A453 in the vicinity of the 
site be carried out to demonstrate how the development would affect the 
performance of the trunk road network. Since this response it has been established 
that the design of the recently upgraded A453 included forecast traffic from this 
development. Based on this HE are content that the associated traffic from the 
proposed development can be accommodated on the A453 and no further traffic 
modelling is required.  
 

Page 19



 
Highways: No objections. The City Council is responsible for the local highway 
network, which in this instance relates to the existing roads running through the 
Barton Green Estate, in particular the proposed access into the site from Hawksley 
Gardens via Hartley Road and the subsequent internal road layout within the new 
development. Highways consider both Hartness Road and Hawksley Gardens are 
acceptable to serve the development, in terms of their geometry and pedestrian 
provision from a highways safety viewpoint. In terms of additional traffic generation 
the applicants have provided a Transport Assessment to show the impact on the 
highway network. Highways consider that whilst the development would result in 
some additional queuing at am and pm peak hour times at the Crusader 
roundabout, the anticipated increase in traffic generation as a result of the 
development would be acceptable in this location. 
 
The emergency access located off Finchley Close would be gated and closed, 
prohibiting daily use, including pedestrians and cyclists. The access is proposed to 
only be used in an emergency situation. Both the Hawksley Gardens and Finchley 
Close accesses would cross the existing bridleway and would be required to be 
built to adoptable standards, with an appropriate bridleway crossing facility. An 
Order to stop up the bridleway is currently under consideration with the City Council 
Highways Team. As an outline planning application, details of the internal road 
layout would be considered as part of a reserved matters application. Conditions 
relating to the following are recommended: 
 

• Construction Management Plan. 
• Details of the proposed bridleway crossings and access from Hawksley 

Gardens and Finchley Close. 
• Proposed road layout and parking provision within the new development. 
• Provision of dropped kerbs and ramps at all major pedestrian crossing 

points. 
• The investigation of Traffic Road Orders (TRO’s) on the adjacent existing 

highway network and instigating the process to implement any TRO’s 
required to protect access to the development. 

 
Environment Agency: No objections.  
 
Drainage Team: No objections: The drainage team are satisfied with the submitted 
Flood Risk Assessment. A condition relating to surface water drainage is 
recommended. 
 
Historic England (HE): Clifton Hall is a Grade I Listed Building set in a Grade II 
Registered Park; closely associated with the Grade I Listed Church of St Mary the 
Virgin and the Conservation Area. HE consider that some housing development 
could be achieved in the application site, without compromising the relationship of 
the designated assets to the wider agricultural landscape. They are concerned that 
the application documents do not present an indicative layout and massing that 
demonstrates this. As presented HE consider the proposed indicative layout and 
massing of up to 285 units does not address the relationship between the Hall, 
Park, Church and Conservation Area and the wider historic landscape, in particular 
in views looking south east in association with these designated assets and also 
across the river over the assets to the land beyond. The scheme fails to illustrate 
that the proposed level of housing can be delivered without harm and does not 
present a clear and convincing justification for the harm evident in the indicative 
layout and massing. HE are disappointed that the proposed scheme does not at 
this outline stage present a layout and massing proposal to support the introduction 

Page 20



 
of up to 285 units in a manner which speaks to the significance of the Park, Hall, 
Church  and Conservation Area in their historic landscape setting.    
 
Conservation Officer: No objection subject to mitigation. The development is 
situated immediately adjacent to the grade II registered Clifton Hall Park and 
Garden and the Clifton Village Conservation Area (the boundaries of which 
overlap). The Conservation Officer considers that the southernmost part of the Park 
and Garden, known as Clifton Wood, would be the heritage asset most directly 
affected by the scheme. The Conservation Officer considers that the Impact 
Assessment’s conclusions and suggestions are felt to be well reasoned and 
accurate. It is felt that the potential for impact on the tranquillity and character of 
Clifton Wood is considerable and could lead to a moderate level of harm to its 
significance and rural setting. The introduction of adequate mitigation through 
landscaping is therefore of high importance. The Conservation Officer considered 
that the layout depicted on the original indicative master plan for the site provides 
insufficient easement between the built up area proposed and the woodland edge. 
A revised indicative layout was recommended, with a suggested belt of green 
landscaping at least 30 metres wide being provided along the western edge of the 
development. 
 
Further to the submission of the revised proposals for the green buffer along the 
western boundary of the site with Clifton Woods, the Conservation Officer has 
commented that he is satisfied with the revised approach to the woodland edge. 

  
 Biodiversity and Greenspace Officer (BGSO): No objection subject to mitigation 
and conditions. An ecology appraisal and accompanying protected species surveys 
have been submitted as part of the planning application. Recommendations in the 
appraisal for the protection, mitigation and enhancement of protected species and 
the natural environment are mirrored in the individual surveys and included in 
section 5 of the appraisal. The BGSO considers the findings of the appraisal and 
surveys to be satisfactory and recommends that these should be secured by a 
suitably worded condition. These are recommended to include: 
 
• Buffer specification. 
• Ancient woodland mitigation strategy. 
• Hedgehog friendly fencing. 
• Badger mitigation strategy. 
• Bat friendly lighting throughout the scheme. 
• Bat and bird boxes on houses/ trees. 
• Landscaping – including details of species, future maintenance agreements, 

and retention of boundary and central hedgerows/ tree line. 
• Paths and development boundary specification. 
• Flood attenuation pond specification. 

 
A badger mitigation strategy has subsequently been submitted and comments from 
the BGSO will be reported to the meeting as an update report. 
 
Natural England (NE): No objection subject to ancient woodland strategy being 
secured by condition. NE consider that without appropriate measures being 
secured, the development could have an adverse effect on Clifton Wood, which is 
now listed on the Ancient Woodland Inventory. The submission and agreement of 
an ancient woodland strategy is required to mitigate against theses adverse effects 
and make the development acceptable. 
 

Page 21



 
City Archaeologist: The site is in an area of archaeological potential. A 
geophysical survey undertaken in 2017 revealed some archaeological potential in 
the form of possible ditches and other possible features, in parts of the site. 
Widespread evidence of prehistoric and Romano-British occupation has been 
identified in the vicinity of the site. The potential archaeological features identified 
through the geophysical survey could therefore be of some significance. 
 
There should be a requirement for a programme of archaeological works initially 
consisting of an archaeological field evaluation, in the form of trial trenches, as a 
condition of planning permission to assess the character, condition and extent of 
archaeological remains. The archaeological field evaluation will then provide an 
evidence base to determine what further archaeological work may be required in 
advance of and/or during groundworks. 

 
Coal Authority: No objections. 
 
Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust: Object. The Trust acknowledge that the site is 
allocated within the current Local Plan for residential development. However, 
considering the ecological sensitivity of the surrounding area including the adjacent 
Clifton Wood, its woodland habitat, its status as a Local Nature Reserve, its 
scheduled status as Grade II Park and Garden, together with 2 nearby Local 
Wildlife sites and Holme Pit Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), the Trust 
consider that the submitted indicative master plan is ecologically insensitive and 
does not follow the ‘design principles’ as set out in the emerging LAPP (ref: PA57 
Clifton West). The Trust consider that there is very limited open space proposed. 
The position of the road, as shown on the indicative masterplan, due its close 
proximity to Clifton Wood, in their opinion does not provide sufficient space to allow 
the recommendation mitigation measures outlined in the ecological appraisal to be 
implemented. They recommend that the application is not determined until the 
emerging LAPP has been formally adopted. 
 
Furthermore the Trust consider that the planning application should not be 
determined until additional survey work has been carried out in respect of bats, 
reptiles and breeding birds. They also express concern that development could 
have an adverse impact on badgers and the loss of suitable foraging habitat. The 
Trust do not consider that the impact on Clifton Woods has been adequately 
assessed. They feel that the status of Clifton Wood LNR in particular will be 
impacted by an increase in footfall, particularly as direct access is proposed to 
Clifton Wood from the residential development. The Trust has had a long-term 
involvement in the management of this LNR and consider it to be very high quality 
woodland in ecological terms. The Trust recommended that as a precautionary 
measure the wood should be treated as ‘ancient woodland’ and recommended that 
the development should follow current standing advice published by Natural 
England. (The wood has since been designated thus). 
 
Woodland Trust:  The Woodland Trust objects on the basis of damage to Clifton 
Wood to the west. Although not previously identified as ancient woodland Clifton 
Wood was recently assessed by Natural England and has subsequently been 
added to the Ancient Woodland Inventory (AWI) as ancient semi-natural woodland 
(ASNW). The Trust are concerned that where large residential developments are 
proposed adjacent to areas of ancient woodland the wood can be subjected to 
damage and long-term degradation without appropriate mitigation in place. The 
Trust note that the applicants have amended their indicative master plan in order to 
incorporate a buffer zone that is largely 15m in width along the development 

Page 22



 
boundary, occasionally extending to 30m. While the implementation of a recognised 
buffer is to be commended, the Trust believes that the applicants have not provided 
a suitable buffer that is in line with the large size and scale of their development 
and the lack of areas of alternative natural green space within the development site. 
As such, the Trust will maintain its objection to the development until the applicants 
have committed to increasing the buffer size to a minimum of 50 metres in order to 
adequately protect Clifton Wood.  
 

6 RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018)  
 

6.1 The NPPF advises that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development 
and that applications for sustainable development should be approved where 
possible and paragraph 11 indicates that development proposals that accord with 
an up-to date development plan should be approved without delay.  A number of 
sections of the NPPF are relevant to this application. 

 
6.2 Delivery of a sufficient supply of homes - Paragraphs 59-61 support the 

Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes where it is 
needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements are addressed 
and that land with permission is developed without unnecessary delay.  Paragraph 
62 indicates that when the need for affordable housing is identified it should 
normally be expected to be met on-site. 

 
6.3 Promoting healthy and safe communities - Paragraph 91 requires decisions to 

achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which, amongst other things, promote 
social interaction, are safe and accessible, and support healthy lifestyles through, 
for example the provision of safe and green infrastructure. Paragraph 94 stresses 
the importance that a sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the 
needs of existing and new communities. Great weight should be given to the need 
to create, expand or alter schools through the preparation of plans and decisions on 
applications. Paragraph 98 states that planning decisions should protect and 
enhance public rights of way and access, including taking opportunities to provide 
better facilities for users. 

 
6.4 Promoting Sustainable Transport - Paragraphs 102-111 stress the need for 

transport issues to be considered at the earliest stage of plan making and 
development proposals so that: 

 
a) the potential impacts of development on transport networks can be addressed;  
b) opportunities from existing or proposed transport infrastructure, and changing 
transport technology and usage, are realised – for example in relation to the scale, 
location or density of development that can be accommodated;  
c) opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport use are identified 
and pursued;  
d) the environmental impacts of traffic and transport infrastructure can be identified, 
assessed and taken into account – including appropriate opportunities for avoiding 
and mitigating any adverse effects, and for net environmental gains; and  
e) patterns of movement, streets, parking and other transport considerations are 
integral to the design of schemes, and contribute to making high quality places. 
 
Paragraph 108-109 require consideration of the promotion of sustainable transport 
modes, ensuring that safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all 

Page 23



 
users and acceptable mitigation of any significant impacts on the transport network. 
Development should only be prevented or refused on highway grounds if there 
would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe. 
 

 6.5 Making effective use of land - Paragraphs 117-123 state that planning policies 
and decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for 
homes and other uses, while safeguarding and improving the environment and 
ensuring safe and healthy living conditions.  
 

6.6 Achieving well- designed places - Paragraphs 124-132 are focused on achieving 
the creation of high quality buildings and places. Paragraph 124 notes that the 
creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning 
and development process should achieve, and that good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development. Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning policies 
and decisions should ensure that developments will function well and add to the 
overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but over the lifetime of the 
development; are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 
appropriate and effective landscaping; are sympathetic to local character and 
history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting, while 
not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change (such as increased 
densities); optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an 
appropriate amount and mix of; and create places that are safe, inclusive and 
accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of 
amenity for existing and future users and where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience. 

 
6.7 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment - Paragraphs 170-183 

states (amongst other things) that planning decisions should protect, enhance 
valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity, minimise impacts on, provide net gains for 
biodiversity and recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside.  
Paragraph 175 states that when determining planning applications, Local Planning 
Authorities should apply the following principles: 

 
a) if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided 
(through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately 
mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be 
refused; 
b) development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest, and 
which is likely to have an adverse effect on it (either individually or in combination 
with other developments), should not normally be permitted. The only exception is 
where the benefits of the development in the location proposed clearly outweigh 
both its likely impact on the features of the site that make it of special scientific 
interest, and any broader impacts on the national network of Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest;  
c) development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats (such 
as ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees) should be refused, unless there 
are wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable compensation strategy exists; and  
d) development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity 
should be supported; while opportunities to incorporate biodiversity improvements 
in and around developments should be encouraged, especially where this can 
secure measurable net gains for biodiversity. 

 
 

Page 24



 
6.8 Conserving the Historic Environment – Paragraph 190 requires local planning 

authorities to identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset 
that may be affected by a proposal (including its setting). Paragraph 192 requires 
account to be taken of the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance 
of heritage assets, the positive contribution that the conservation of heritage assets 
can make to sustainable communities, and the desirability of new development 
making a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness. Paragraph 193 
states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the 
asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight 
should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 
Paragraph 194 states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 
heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its 
setting), should require clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to or 
loss of: 

 
a) a grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, should be 

exceptional. 
b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected 

wreck sites, registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed buildings, grade I and II* 
registered parks and gardens, and World Heritage Sites, should be wholly 
exceptional. 
 

6.9.1 Where a development proposal will lead to substantial harm to a designated 
heritage asset permission should ordinarily be refused unless certain specified 
criteria are met. Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial 
harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, 
securing its optimum viable use. 

6.9.2 Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals – Paragraph 206 indicates that other 
development should not normally be permitted in a Mineral safeguarding Area if it 
might constrain potential future use for mineral working. 
 

 
Nottingham Local Plan (November 2005): 
 
Policy ST1 – Sustainable Communities  
 
Policy H1 – Clifton West 
 
Policy H2 – Housing Density  
 
Policy H5 – Affordable Housing 
 
Policy R2 – Open Space in New Development  
 
Policy BE10 – Development within the curtilage or Affecting the Setting of a Listed 

Building 
 
Policy BE12 – Development with Conservation Areas 
 
Policy BE14 – Historic Parks and Gardens 
 

Page 25



 
Policy BE16 – Archaeological Constraint Areas 
 
Policy NE1 – SSIs 
 
Policy NE2 - Nature Conservation 
 
Policy NE3 – Protected Species 
 
Policy NE5 – Trees 
 
Policy NE9 – Pollution  
 
Policy NE10 – Water Quality and Flood Protection 
 
Policy NE12 – Derelict and Contaminated Land. 
 
Policy T3 – Car, Cycle and Servicing Parking  
 
Policy T10 – Management of the Highway Network 
 
Policy T12 – Public Rights of Way 

 
 
Aligned Core Strategy (ACS) (September 2014):  
 
Policy A - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
 
Policy 1 – Climate Change   
 
Policy 8 – Housing Size, Mix and Choice  
 
Policy 10 - Design and Enhancing Local Identity 
 
Policy 11 – The Historic Environment 
 
Policy 14 – Managing Travel Demand 
 
Policy 17 – Biodiversity  
 
Policy 19 – Developers Contributions  
 

 
7. APPRAISAL OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
 Main Issues 
  

(i)  Principle of residential development; 
(ii) Highway considerations; 
(iii) Impact on Heritage Assets; 
(iv) Impact on the Natural Environment; 
(v) Density, layout and scale; 
(vi) Relationship with adjoining residential properties 
(vii)  Planning obligations. 

 
Page 26



 
i) Principle of residential development (Paragraph 11 of the NPPF, Policy A 

and 8 and the Aligned Core Strategy Policies ST1, H1.6 and H2 of the Local 
Plan) 

 
7.1 The site is currently agricultural grazing land which sits at the western urban fringe 

of Clifton. The site was formerly within the Green Belt but its release came as a 
result of the Green Belt review that was carried out as part of the Nottingham Local 
Plan Review in 1997. It has been an allocated site for residential development since 
the adoption of that Local Plan in1997.  

 
7.2 The Clifton West Policy H1A of the adopted Local Plan 1997 proposed a net 

housing area of between 6.1 and 7.3 hectares with a minimum retention of 2.3 
hectares of the existing playing field to form new open space.  

 
7.3  A subsequent Planning Brief produced in 1997 sets out guidance for development 

of the site. Particular attention should be drawn to Paragraph 4,21 of the brief which 
states the following: 

 
 “ Access will be at Finchley Close and Hawksley Gardens. Direct access is possible 

from the head of Hawksley Gardens cul-de-sac. Land at numbers 7 and 8 Finchley 
Gardens however prevents entry at this point. Therefore, land purchase will be 
required to achieve the access.” 

 
  At the time the Planning Brief was prepared responsibility for Highways was with 

the County Council and the relevant guidance stated that “a 300 unit residential 
development requires dual entry points, each of 5.5m. The carriageway should, in 
addition, be flanked by 2m footways. Finchley Close and Hawksley Gardens are 
respectively 5.5m and 6m with requisite footways.” 

 
7.4 The site did not come forward for development during the plan period of the 

adopted Nottingham Local Plan (1997) and the site was further allocated for 
residential development in the subsequent Nottingham Local Plan (adopted 2005), 
some policies of which are now ‘Saved’ pending the adoption of the Land and 
Planning Policies Development Plan Document (LAPP) which has recently 
undergone public examination.  Saved Policy H1.6 of this Local Plan allocates the 
site for residential development of approximately 285 dwellings.  

 
7.5 The Inspector’s Report of Inquiry into Objections to the Nottingham Local Plan 2005 

assessed the merits including the site allocation in the adopted Local Plan 2005, 
and referred to the imbalanced housing stock in Clifton and the need for its 
diversification to create more of a balanced community and housing choice. The 
Nottingham City Playing Pitch Assessment, May 2001 (jointly commissioned by the 
City Council and Sport England), concluded that there was no need for sports 
provision in Clifton. The Inspector agreed that there was merit in revisiting the open 
space element of the development. He also considered that the draft brief had due 
regard to the surrounding land, including Clifton Woods as a Site of Importance for 
Nature Conservation and Local Nature Reserve. The Inspector gave great 
consideration to the representation of local residents at the Local Plan’s 
Examination Hearing in respect of their concerns regarding transportation issues 
and proposed access. Taking into account safety records at the time and the 
proposed improvements to the A453 at the Crusader roundabout, the Inspector 
considered that the additional vehicles from the proposed development would not 
be unduly detrimental to highway safety. Hartness Road, Hawksley Gardens and 
Finchley Close were considered to be of a sufficient width and geometry to 

Page 27



 
accommodate residential traffic associated with both the existing and proposed 
development. 

 
7.6 The site is currently allocated for residential development in the emerging LAPP,  

Submission Version (March 2018). Policy SA1 - Site Allocations, identifies sites 
allocated and protected to meet the development needs of Nottingham until 2028. 
Site reference ‘PA 57 Clifton West’ is the proposed allocation for the application 
site. Access to the site is safeguarded from Hawksley Gardens and Finchley Close 
under Policy TR2. 18. The LAPP is currently at Examination stage and the 
soundness of the ‘PA57 - Clifton West’ as a residential allocation is under 
consideration. Although the LAPP is not yet capable of being a material planning 
consideration in its own right, it is at an advanced stage and both follows and 
maintains the clear policy direction for this site for residential development.  

 
7.7 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2018) and Policy A of the Aligned Core Strategy (ACS) 

sets a clear presumption in favour of development where development proposals 
accord with an up-to-date development plan. The site is allocated under ‘Saved’ 
Policy H1.6 of the 2005 Local Plan for residential development. Residential 
development of the site is therefore considered to be in principle acceptable and 
would accord with the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ set out in 
the NPPF and Policy A of the ACS. As an allocated site within an adopted Local 
Plan, the City Councils determination of the planning application can proceed 
independently to the current LAPP process. The City Council would not therefore 
have grounds to delay the determination process. Determination of the proposed 
development will however be subject to meeting the requirements of the policies of 
the NPPF, development plan and other material planning considerations of 
acknowledged importance. 

 
7.8 The current planning application is outline and therefore details of the proposed 

housing numbers and mix would be agreed at the reserved matters stage. Policy 
H1.6 of the ‘Saved’ Local Plan estimates that approximately 285 dwellings could be 
accommodated on the site. The Submission Version of the LAPP identifies the site 
for predominantly family housing and estimates the potential delivery of between 
255 and 275 dwellings. The Design and Access Statement submitted with the 
planning application states that development has the potential to provide up to 285 
dwellings, which would make a significant contribution to the Council’s five year 
land supply, as required by the NPPF, as the site is available and would be largely 
and potentially entirely deliverable within this period. However, given the need to 
protect both the setting of adjacent heritage assets and avoid adverse impacts on 
nature conservation interests, it is anticipated that the numbers of dwellings is likely 
to be lower than the current figures quoted in the ‘Saved’ Local Plan. 

 
7.9 The NPPF, Aligned Core Strategy and Saved Local Plan policies support the 

delivery of a wide choice of high quality homes, the widening of opportunities for 
home ownership and the creation of sustainable, inclusive mixed communities. The 
NPPF states that Local Planning Authorities should plan for a mix of housing and 
identify the size, type, tenure and range of housing to meet local needs. The 
indicative masterplan and supporting Design Code put forward for consideration at 
this time is for a development of houses that would be predominately family 
housing focused, with potential housing mix of 1-5 bedroom houses, 20% of which 
would be affordable housing to meet local needs. Such accommodation would 
support the aims and objectives of Saved Policy ST1 and ACS Policy 8 that support 
the provision of family housing.   

 
Page 28



 
7.10 Residents have referred to the Clifton South Sustainable Urban Extension. The 

Urban Extension is located within the Borough of Rushcliffe and as such the 
proposed 3,000 dwellings would not contribute towards the City Councils 5 year 
housing supply 

 
7.11  The proposal would therefore comply with NPPF, Policies A and 8 of the Aligned 

Core Strategy and Saved Policies ST1, H1.6 and H2 of the Local Plan. 
 

ii) Highways considerations (NPPF, Policy 14 of the Aligned Core Strategy 
and Saved Policies T3 and T12 of the Local Plan) 

 
 Proposed Access through the Barton Green Estate 
 
7.12 The application is an outline proposal which seeks to establish the principle of the 

land use but also includes consideration of access issues, with all other matters 
reserved. The primary access for vehicles and pedestrians would be through the 
extension of Hawksley Gardens at its western end. An emergency access would be 
created at the western end of Finchley Gardens but is not proposed to be other 
than for providing access and egress for emergency purposes. Access onto 
Hawksley Gardens is from Hartness Road, a local distributor road, which provides 
access into the existing estate from the A453 at the signalised Crusader 
roundabout. 

 
7.13 The proposed extension to Hawksley Gardens would take the form of a 6m wide 

carriageway with 2m footways to either side. The emergency access point at the 
end of Finchley Close is proposed to be 3.7m in width and would be gated to 
restrict access to emergency use only. The access design includes for appropriate 
equestrian crossing facilities where the proposed access road crosses the existing 
bridleway running along the eastern boundary of the site.  

 
7.14 Highways consider that Hawksley Gardens and Hartness Road provide suitable 

geometries, pedestrian provision and visibility splays to ensure that the proposed 
development can be safely accessed from the existing local highway. Hawksley 
Gardens provides a carriageway width of between 5.5 and 6m wide, and 7.5m 
corner radii at the junction with Hartness Road. Visibility splays of 2.4m by 65m are 
provided at the junction with Hartness Road. Hartness Road has been designed to 
the standard of a residential distributor road and Highways consider that it can 
accommodate traffic associated with both the existing and the proposed 
development. The precise design of the proposed accesses and bridleway crossing 
facilities would be agreed by condition. 

  
 Traffic generation and impact on the strategic and local road network  
 
7.15 A Traffic Assessment (TA) has been submitted with the planning application to 

primarily assess the impact traffic generated by the development on the local and 
strategic road network. The TA using the TRICS survey database from the ‘Houses 
Privately Owned’ category concluded that the proposed development would 
generate 141-146 vehicular movements in the AM and PM peak hours. This level of 
vehicle generation during the peak hours equates to approximately 2-3 additional 
vehicles travelling on the local highway network every minute during the peak 
hours, split between arrivals and departures. The TA states that the proposed 
development would only have an impact of more than 5% along Hartness Road. 
Beyond Hartness Road impacts of 2% or less will be felt across the rest of the 
network. 

Page 29



 
 
7. 16 Hawksley Gardens currently serves approximately 35properties. It is acknowledged 

that the road has low traffic flows at present and the development would lead to a 
significant percentage increase which is estimated to be an additional 141-146 
vehicular movements in the AM and PM peak hours. However, as previously stated, 
in design terms Hawksley Gardens is considered sufficient to cater for the 
additional traffic generated by the proposed development. This was recognised by 
the Planning Inspector in their report of the Inquiry on the site’s allocation in the 
‘Saved’ Local Plan (2005), who considered both Hawksley Gardens and Finchley 
Close to be of sufficient width to accommodate the proposed development without 
widening. It is recognised that additional Traffic Regulation Orders may be required 
along Hawksley Gardens to maintain a free flow of traffic. On this basis Highways 
are satisfied with the conclusions of the TA in terms of traffic generation and have 
raised no objections to the proposal on the grounds of highway safety on the local 
highway network. 

 
7.17 As all traffic associated with the development would travel through the signalised 

Crusader roundabout on the A453, detailed junction assessments were undertaken. 
Highways England also required additional traffic modelling of the junctions along 
the A453. The TA concluded that the results of the capacity assessments indicate 
that the additional traffic generated by the proposed development scheme would 
not have a significant impact on the operation of the signalised roundabout or 
capacity levels on the A453. The TA anticipated that an additional 141-146 trips 
would travel through the Crusader Roundabout during each of the peak hours. The 
impact at the A453 /Green Lane roundabout was forecast to be 103-106 trips 
during each peak hour whilst impact at the Farnborough Road Roundabout is 
anticipated at 91-94 trips. The slip roads travelling between the A453 and the A52 
(west) are forecast to receive between 15 and 44 additional trips during the peak 
hours. 

 
7.18 Highways England have confirmed that the design of the recent A453 road 

improvements, including the Crusader roundabout, included forecast traffic from 
this development. On this basis Highways England are content with the submitted 
TA and that the associated traffic from the development can be accommodated on 
the A453. On this basis Highways England have raised no objections on the 
grounds of highway safety on the strategic highway network. 

 
7.19 The use of the TRICS survey database is seen as an accepted method to forecast 

the likely traffic generation resulting from the development as part of a TA. Both 
Highways and Highways England are satisfied with the findings of the TA. 

 
 Sustainable Transport 
 
7.20 The proposed development is considered to offer a number of opportunities for 

residents to use sustainable modes of transport, to either travel to work or access 
facilities within Clifton and the city centre. The site is proposed to link into the 
existing pedestrian network running through the existing Barton Green estate and 
the wider pedestrian network within Clifton. In addition, the existing bridleways 
running along the eastern boundary of the site and other public rights of way 
running through the area which provide additional pedestrian and cycle links and 
recreational walking routes through the surrounding area. Shared pedestrian and 
cycle routes have also been provided along the western side of the A453 as part of 
the recent improvements works.  

 
Page 30



 
7.21 The nearest existing bus stops to the centre of the site are situated along Hartness 

Road, a walking distance of approximately 250m from the centre of the proposed 
development site. Further stops are also provided along the A453, to the north of 
the Crusader Roundabout, within a walking distance of 875m from the centre of the 
site. Surface improvements are proposed to the existing bridleway which runs from 
the south east corner of the site along the southern boundary of the Barton Green 
estate and across the recreation ground to create a better access for pedestrians 
wishing use public transport, better linkages for cyclists in the existing cycle 
network, and improved access to the local park and play equipment, and Clifton 
beyond. 

 
7.22 A Residential Travel Plan has been submitted which sets a target to reduce the 

percentage of car drivers during the AM and PM peak hours by over 5% over 5 
years.  The Travel Plan sets out ‘hard and soft’ measures to provide suitable links 
to local facilities in Clifton for pedestrians, cyclists and public transport use and to 
encourage the use of more sustainable modes of travel.  

  
Alternative access arrangements 
 

7.23 Local residents have suggested alternative access arrangements to the site. These 
are considered in turn: 

 
• Access to the north from the A453, via agricultural fields separating Barton 

Green estate from Clifton Village: The land sits within the Clifton Village 
Conservation Area and forms part of the Open Space Network, and shares a 
close relationship two Grade I Listed Buildings. Use as part of the 
development would not accord with several policies of the Development Plan 
and would result in significant harm to the surrounding heritage assets. The 
land involves third party land which is not part of the development and 
viability of such a length of access road is questioned without further 
development along its length. 

• Access from the south from the A453 at the Mill Hill roundabout via Fox 
Convert Lane and Clifton Grove Woods. Land to the south of the site sits 
within open countryside and is washed over the Green Belt, Open Space 
Network and Clifton Grove is a Local Nature Reserve (LNR) and Local 
Wildlife Site (LWR). The proposed access would be contrary to both national 
and local planning policy in this respect and would be considered to extend 
built urban development into the Green Belt. It would result in significant 
harm to the LNR and LWR. The land involves third party land which is not 
part of the development and viability of such a length of access road is 
questioned.  

• The use of Juniper Close and Osprey Close in the Barton Green estate. The 
applicant has stated that this access option involves the demolition of 
existing dwellings and third party land which is not available for use as part 
of the development. The tenure of properties on Juniper Close would not 
form a material planning consideration 
 

7. 24 The Local Plan Inspector in examining the ‘Saved’ Local Plan (2005) considered 
access to the site from both Hawksley Gardens and Finchley Close. Both roads 
form part of the adopted highway and are available for use as part of the 
development. A small parcel land has been secured at the western end of Finchley 
Close, solely on the basis that the access road is for emergency use only and is 
restricted at any other time. It is acknowledged that this could have formed a 
second access into the site or least pedestrian and cycle access. Highways are 

Page 31



 
however satisfied that the development can be primarily served from Hawksley 
Gardens.  

 
7.25 Highways are satisfied that subject to the design of suitable bridleway crossing 

points, the development would maintain pedestrian, cycle and equestrian safety 
along the existing bridleway to the east of the site. An application to stop up the 
bridleway to facilitate both access points has been submitted to the Council and is 
being dealt with by Highways as a separate matter. 

 
 7.26 Matters regarding the internal road layout and parking for the proposed dwellings 

are not matters for the consideration at this stage and would be considered as part 
of the detailed, reserved matters. The application has been supported by a design 
code and illustrative masterplan which is discussed below. 

 
7.27 A Construction Management Plan would be conditioned to ensure that impact of the 

development on the highway, pedestrians, cyclists and neighbouring residents 
would be mitigated as far as possible during the construction period. 

 
7.28 The granting of permission would neither create an unacceptable impact on 

highway safety nor severe residual cumulative impacts on the road network. The 
proposal accords with NPPF, Policy 14 of the Aligned Core Strategy and Saved 
Policies T3 and T12 of the Local Plan, subject to the conditions requested by 
highways. 

 
   iii) Impact on Heritage Assets (NPPF, Policy 10 and 11 of the ACS and Saved 

Policies BE10, BE12, BE14 and BE16 of the Local Plan) 
 
7.29 No designated heritage assets lie within the site itself. However, the site does lie 

within the immediate setting of a number of designated heritage assets including: 
Grade I Listed Clifton Hall, and associated Grade II structures; Grade I listed 
Church of St Mary the Virgin and associated Grade II listed structures; Grade II 
listed 1 and 2 Home Farm Cottages; Grade II listed former Stables to Clifton Hall; 
Grade II listed Yew Tree Grange and associated structures; and the Clifton Village 
Conservation Area. These heritage assets are all located to the north of the site 
although the Conservation Area also takes in Clifton Wood to the west. 

 
7.30 The development is situated immediately adjacent to the grade II registered Park 

and Garden of Clifton Hall and the Clifton Village Conservation Area (the 
boundaries of which overlap). The southernmost part of the Park and Garden, 
known as Clifton Wood, would be the heritage asset most directly affected by the 
scheme. This area of mixed, semi-natural woodland was shown on Ingham’s map 
of 1763 as wilderness, an area for walking and tranquil relaxation. Later maps show 
a more formal grid pattern of paths was laid out in the wood. This layout survived 
into the 20th century, but is now heavily overgrown. 

 
7.31 The proposed development would not result in a direct impact on or loss of any 

designated heritage asset. However, given the potential impact on the setting of the 
above heritage assets, a Historic Environment Impact Assessment (HEIA) has been 
submitted with the planning application. 

 
7.32 The HEIA noted that the proposed development would be visible from Clifton Wood 

and would: 

Page 32



 
• result in the loss of a large area of farmland that contributes to the open, 

undeveloped rural setting of the asset when viewed from the east, north and 
south. 

• restrict views of the tree-line and views out of the wood to the east. 
• lead to the construction of road infrastructure bordering the eastern tree-line.  
• This will inevitably increase traffic noise and activity, impacting on the 

tranquillity of the woodland. 
• The proposed development will more closely integrate the Registered garden 

with the extended settlement of Clifton, restricting views of the eastern tree-
line and views out of the asset to the east, although these already include 
views of the rooftops of properties along Hartness Road. 

 
7.33 In respect of Clifton Hall, the assessment concludes there to be no clear or known 

functional or historical relationship between the site and this asset. The visual 
connection between the asset and the site is considered to be restricted by a 
rise/fall in topography, mature planting, a field boundary to the south of the Hall and 
by later modern development along Clifton Hall Drive within the immediate setting 
of the Hall. The HEIA does agree with local residents that it is likely that the site 
once lay under the ownership of the hall and was farmed as part of its estate. In 
respect of St Marys Church it concludes there to be no known functional 
relationship between the Site and this asset. Once more it considers the visual 
connection is restricted by a rise/fall in topography, mature planting, a field 
boundary and by later modern development within the immediate setting of the 
Church. The HEIA concludes that the southernmost part of the proposed 
development may be visible from both the second floor of the Hall and the top of 
the church tower, featuring in distant rural views. It considers that this will bring low 
and negligible levels of harm to the setting and appreciation of the special 
architectural and historic significance of these assets respectively.  

 
7.34 The HEIA considered that the development of the site would have no impact on the 

setting and significance of the Grade II listed 1 and 2 Home Farm Cottages and a 
neutral impact on the setting and significance of the Grade II listed Yew Tree 
Grange and associated structures.  

 
7.35 The HEIA considers that the proposed development would infill a sizeable plot of 

open arable land that contributes to the transition from the settlement of Clifton 
Village to the rural hinterland of fields and managed woodland, as observed within 
short and long-distance views from the south. As such it would impact on the 
experience of the peripheries of the built up area of Clifton Village Conservation 
Area from the south and the adjacent woodland. The new development would 
impact on the openness of views towards and away from the Conservation Area, 
mainly on the approach along the track from the south. It further notes that the 1997 
Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan expressly acknowledges the 
allocation of the site within the Local Plan at that time. Overall, it is considered that 
the proposed development will bring a low to at most moderate level of harm to the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  

 
7.36 The HEIA, having assessed the significance of heritage assets and the contribution 

that setting, makes to that significance, concludes that the development would lead 
to a low to at most moderate level of harm to the designated heritage assets. It 
goes on to suggest that a well considered landscaping scheme could help mitigate 
this impact.   

 

Page 33



 
7.37 The Conservation Officer considers the above conclusions and proposed mitigation 

measures to be well reasoned and accurate. They are of the opinion that the 
potential for impact on the tranquillity and character of Clifton Wood is considered 
appropriate and could lead to a moderate level of harm to its significance and rural 
setting. The introduction of adequate mitigation through landscaping is therefore of 
high importance. 

 
7.38 Policies BE10, BE12 and BE14 of the Local Plan (2005) relate to the impact on 

Listed Building, Conservation Areas and Registered Parks and Gardens. These 
policies are set out in absolute terms to the effect that if the application results in 
any form of harm or detriment then planning permission should be refused. These 
policies are however now 13 years old and are out of step with the revised NPPF 
(2018), which sets out the policy direction in terms of the assessment of the impact 
of development on heritage assets. The new policies of the LAPP have been 
updated to reflect the policy position of the revised NPPF. The HEIA has assessed 
the impact on heritage assets in line with the revised NPPF and highlights a level of 
‘harm’ albeit low to moderate.  Given the absolute terms of the Local Plan policies a 
recommendation to grant permission in these circumstances forms a ‘technical’ 
departure from the Local Plan even though such a recommendation is in 
accordance with other policies of that Plan, most notably the longstanding 
allocation of the Site for housing development.  Officers are of the opinion that 
given the age of Policies BE10, BE12 and BE14, and their inconsistency with 
National and forthcoming local Policy that greater weight should be given to the 
policy direction outlined in the revised NPPF. The application is considered on this 
basis below.  

 
7.39 Paragraph 196  of the NPPF (2018) states that where a development proposal will 

lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal 
including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.  

 
7.40 When the policies of the NPPF and the development plan are taken as a whole, the 

benefits of the proposed development must be regarded as significant. The site is a 
long standing housing allocation in the development plan that is available and 
deliverable to help meet the Council’s 5 year housing land supply, would widen the 
housing offer locally and increase the amount of affordable housing in the area. The 
economic stimulus of new house building is a material benefit implicit in the NPPF, 
which explicitly seeks to boost significantly the supply of housing. Taken together, 
the social and economic benefits of the proposed development would be 
substantial. In the context of the NPPF it is necessary to weigh such benefits 
against any environmental disadvantages and other impacts taking into account the 
scope for mitigation through the proportionate and appropriate use of planning 
conditions. 

 
7. 41 Historic England (HE) have not objected to the development and clearly state that 

some housing development could be achieved in the application site without 
compromising the relationship of the designated assets to the wider historic 
agricultural landscape, i.e. without subsuming the park into a suburban landscape. 
However, they are concerned that the application documents do not present an 
indicative layout and massing that demonstrates this. At this outline stage all 
matters, apart from access, are reserved for future approval including the number of 
houses, their scale, external appearance and landscaping. It is considered that the 
concerns of HE can be fully addressed through the subsequent reserved matters 
planning application, in full consultation with them. 

Page 34



 
 
7.42 The original illustrative masterplan and supporting Design Code were submitted to 

demonstrate that a development of 285 dwellings could potentially be 
accommodated on the site. The illustrative masterplan showed a network of roads 
passing through and around the perimeter of the site. Alongside Clifton Wood a thin 
strip of green was shown while larger areas of landscaping were present at the 
northern end of the site and in the south west and south east corner. The Design 
Code proposed the scale of the housing to be two storeys in height with lower 
densities around the perimeter edge adjoin the boundaries with the designated 
heritage and nature conservation assets. 

 
7.43 The Conservation Officer considered that the original illustrative masterplan 

provided insufficient mitigation and easement between the built up area and the 
woodland edge of the Registered Park and Garden. It was suggested that a buffer 
of green landscaping at least 30 metres wide be provided along the western edge 
of the development in order to provide sufficient separation distance between the 
tranquil environment of the Wood and potential sources of noise and visual 
disturbance arising from the new housing and road. Improving accessibility to the 
Registered Park and Garden and restoration of the woodland walks would provide 
additional benefits which help to justify the development’s impact.  

 
7.44 A revised illustrative masterplan and Design Code were subsequently submitted to 

respond to consultation responses. In summary, changes to the masterplan 
included an increased western buffer which is now 15m to 30m in width, restricted 
and managed access to the woods, and the inclusion of suitable habitat for foraging 
badgers.  In responding to the impact on the Registered Park and Garden the 
applicant notes that the asset's significance comes not from a consequence of 
views into the woodland, but through its remnant status as a former formal 
plantation associated with the hall to the north east. Within the woodland the 
original paths are not clear, but would have primarily taken vistas along east - west 
axis rather than out from the woodland to the application site. From the site towards 
the woodland the picture is one of a solid naturalised woodland edge, with no clue 
to the original formalised parkland.  

 
7.45 The Conservation Officer is satisfied with the proposed approach to the woodland 

edge design. Although he considers that a more consistent 30m buffer would have 
provided a more significant degree of separation, the variable 15-30m easement 
represents an adequate and more natural compromise between protecting the 
setting of this heritage asset and the development of housing on this allocated site. 
It is also considered that the reduced housing density proposed in the Design Code 
to the north and western edges of the development would further mitigate the 
impact of new housing within the immediate setting of the heritage assets. 

 
7.46 As a result of changes made to the illustrative masterplan and Design Code it is 

clear that the ability of the site to be developed with 285 dwellings is unrealistic and 
likely to provide insufficient mitigation to outweigh the potential harm to the 
woodland as a designated heritage asset. The  subsequent reserved matters 
application for the development, in terms of its layout, scale and external 
appearance, would be required to fully address this and all other  issues,  resulting 
in an appropriate housing density to reflect its context. 

 
7.47 The submitted archaeology assessment has identified that the part of the site sits 

within an area of Archaeological constraint and has potential to contain 

Page 35



 
archaeological remains. The Council's Archaeologist has requested a scheme for 
archaeological evaluation, which can be secured by condition. 

 
7.48 In conclusion, it is considered that housing delivery is a public benefit that can in 

itself be weighed against the development’s ‘less than substantial harm’ as set out 
in Paragraph 196 of the NPPF. Notably the Clifton West site is a longstanding 
housing allocation which has not previously come forward as an active 
development opportunity. It is clear that by definition, the allocation of the site within 
a Local Plan represents a wider public benefit. It is also considered that with 
sufficient mitigation, any residual impacts of granting permission on the designated 
heritage assets would not significantly or demonstrably outweigh the public benefits 
of the proposed development, when assessed against the policies of the NPPF as 
a whole. 

 
7.49 The proposed development is therefore considered to comply with paragraphs 132 

and 134 of the NPPF and  Policy 11 of the Aligned Core Strategy and Saved 
Policies BE16 of the Local Plan. Government Guidance on determining planning 
applications advises that “the National Planning Policy Framework does not remove 
the requirement to determine the application in accordance with the development 
plan unless there are other material considerations that indicate otherwise” and the 
NPPF itself is such a material consideration. The same guidance also advises that 
“conflicts between development plan policies adopted, approved or published at the 
same time must be considered in the light of all material considerations, including 
local priorities and needs, as guided by the National Planning Policy Framework. “ 
Bearing all of this in mind, and as indicated above,  it is felt that the NPPF should 
be afforded more weight than Saved Policies BE10, BE12, and BE14 of the Local 
Plan especially when balanced against the benefits of this development and the 
Site’s longstanding allocation for housing. Whist the proposals are contrary to these 
policies it is felt on balance that it is appropriate to recommend the grant of planning 
permission and this has been advertised as a departure from these Local Plan 
policies.  

 
 iv) Impact on the Natural Environment (NPPF, Policy 17 of the ACS and 

Saved Policies NE1, NE2, NE3 and NE5 of the Local Plan) 
 
7.50 Clifton Wood has recently been listed as an ancient woodland, in September 2018, 

by Natural England. It is also a Local Wildlife Site (LWS) and forms part of the 
Clifton Grove, Clifton Woods and Holme Pit Local Nature Reserve (LNR). The wood 
extends along the entire western limit of the site. The site is adjoined to the south 
by pockets of woodland, forming part of the above LNR and Fox Covert LWS. The 
Holme Pit Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSI) is located 0.2km to the west of the 
site. 

 
7.51 Saved Policies NE1, NE2 and NE3 of the Local Plan state that development likely 

to have an adverse impact on the fauna, flora, landscape or geological features of a 
SSI, LNR, and LWS or other locally important sites will not be permitted unless it 
can clearly demonstrated that there are reasons for the proposal which outweigh 
the need to safeguard the nature conservation value of the site and, in the case of 
policy NE3 (Conservation of Species)  where there is an overriding need for the 
development. Where planning permission is granted, conditions and/or planning 
obligations will be sought to provide appropriate mitigation and compensation 
measures. 

 
 

Page 36



 
7.52 In light of the adjacent national and local designated sites an Ecological Appraisal 

has been carried out. This is turn had led to further survey work being carried in 
connection with bats, Great Crested Newts and Badgers. The Nottingham Wildlife 
Trust have made comment that additional survey work has not been undertaken in 
respect of breeding birds and reptiles. The applicants’ ecologist identified some 
potential for breeding birds, including Birds of Conservation Concern (BoCC), but 
did not consider a full breeding bird survey necessary based on desk study records 
and the site being relatively small and lacking in diversity. Similarly, the ecologist 
did not consider a reptile survey to be necessary based on the desk study records 
and that habitats in the site are generally unsuitable with for reptile species. 

 
7.53 The Biodiversity and Green Space Officer (BGSO) considers the submitted 

Appraisal and surveys to be satisfactory. 
 
7.54  The Appraisal identifies the site to largely comprise improved grassland with 

approximately 50% of its boundaries having mature hedgerows. Along the 
boundary between the two fields, through the centre of the site, is a line of semi 
mature trees. The proposed development would involve loss of the improved 
grassland. The Appraisal considers that the site does not contain notable habitats 
in their own right but does provide opportunities for use by protected species: 

 
• Great Crested Newts: The survey found no evidence of great crested newts. 
• Birds: The vegetated habitats within the site are likely to be used by nesting 

birds, including ground nesting species within the open grassland areas. All wild 
birds, their nests, eggs and dependent young are protected under the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981Act and this would have implications for scheduling of 
any site clearance activity. 

• Bats: Although there is no opportunity for roosting within the site itself, the 
adjacent areas (particularly the woodlands) are considered likely to support 
roosting bats, and trees and hedgerows within the site may provide important 
foraging and commuting corridors associated with local roosts. The bat survey 
showed evidence of bat foraging within the development site. 

• Badgers: Evidence of badger activity in the area was found across the site and 
surrounding woodlands. 

 
7.55 In terms of impact on the adjacent woodland designated sites, the Appraisal 

recognised that housing development up the boundaries of the woodland areas 
could lead several harmful impacts including increased disturbance of the 
woodland habitat resulting in damage to fauna, reduction in the quality of the 
woodland fringe as foraging habitat, and a potential increase in the predation of 
birds and other wildlife. 

 
7.56 Based on the findings of the ecological surveys the Appraisal sets out 

recommendations which would mitigate the impacts of the development: 
 

• The retention of existing trees where possible, in particular the mature 
hedgerow along the eastern boundary of the site with the bridleway. 

• A buffer of soft landscaping along the boundary with the woodland areas to 
minimise degradation of the woodland fringe and maintain the value of these 
areas as foraging and commuting habitat for wildlife. 

• High fences around gardens backing onto any woodland areas. 
• Clearance of the site should be undertaken outside the bird breeding season. 
• Installation of a ‘hawk kite’ in each field before the commencement of the bird 

breeding season to minimise risk to ground breeding birds. 
Page 37



 
• Installation of bat friendly lighting and the need for it to avoid illumination of the 

woodland fringe and mature hedgerows. 
• Consideration of permeability of the site to species such as hedgehogs. 
• Creation of corridors of green habitat throughout the site. 
• Ecological enhancements including bat roost provision, bird nesting boxes and 

native soft landscaping. 
 
7.57 The BGSO considers that a buffer between the woodland on the north, west and 

southern boundaries and proposed development is required to not only provide an 
area of protected land adjacent to the protected Clifton Wood, but also to retain 
foraging habitat for mammals, foraging birds of prey and other species. It is 
recommended that this should be at least 30m in width, should compliment the 
woodland fringe and in doing so would help to reduce impacts of disturbance 
following the development.  

 
7.58 The Design Code sets out that the proposed green buffer to the site’s boundaries 

would provide the needed mitigation required to meets the requirements of the 
NPPF and development plan. Furthermore the existing hedge line through the 
middle of the site is to be retained and the mature hedgerow long the eastern 
boundary of the site would be retained, and further protected by the green buffer. 
These are welcomed inclusions within the proposals, providing a green corridor 
between Clifton Wood and the bridleway to the east and south as a foraging route 
for bats, birds and other mammals.  

 
7.59 Paragraph 175(c) of the NPPF states that ‘development resulting in the loss or 

deterioration of irreplaceable habitats (such as ancient woodland and ancient or 
veteran trees) should be refused, unless there are wholly exceptional reasons 
and a suitable compensation strategy exists’. The proposed development would 
not result in the loss of ancient woodland. 

 
7.60   Natural England have raised no objection to the proposal, subject to appropriate 

mitigation. They consider that without appropriate measures the application 
would have an adverse effect on Clifton Wood, as an ancient woodland. In order 
to mitigate these adverse effects and make the development acceptable, a 
suitable ancient woodland strategy should be secured by condition. Guidance 
produced by Natural England and the Forestry Commission (Ancient Woodland, 
ancient trees and veteran trees: protecting them from development, October 
2014) sets out what form the mitigation measures could take. These include, 
improvement to the condition of the wood, noise, light reduction measures and 
buffer zones. For ancient woodlands its states that buffer zones should be at 
least 15m in width to avoid root damage, but may need to be larger to reduce 
the impacts of air pollution for increased traffic associated with development. A 
buffer should contribute to the wider ecological networks and be part of the 
green infrastructure of the site. 

 
7.61  In light of the submitted ecological appraisal the BGSO requested additional survey 

work on badger foraging and commuting routes across the site and a revised width 
for the buffer, together with details of how this will be soft landscaped. Further to 
the submission of the additional badger survey and revised proposals for the green 
buffer, the BGSO requested  a badger mitigation strategy. This is currently with the 
BGSO and any further comments regarding this will be reported. 

 
7.62 The BGSO has no adverse comments to make on the principle of the revised buffer 

as set out in the revised Masterplan and Design Code, which varies between 15-
Page 38



 
30m in width. She considers that the maximum width should be sought as a priority 
and should reflect the presence of badgers and sensitivity of the adjacent ancient 
woodland. She supports the recommendations of Natural England for the 
submission of an ancient woodland strategy. Landscaping of the buffer should 
ensure the use of native species, to create a stepped structure of trees, shrubs and 
grassland. This will provide a retained habitat for badgers and other small 
mammals, birds and invertebrates.  
 

7. 63 The BGSO states that the ancient woodland mitigation strategy and management 
of access to Clifton Wood should include the improvement of existing footpaths 
throughout the woods. The BGSO has recommended there be two pedestrian 
access routes into the woodland from the development, in addition to the current 
path from the south. This is required to provide an accessible Local Nature Reserve 
for future and existing residents, and help to reduce the environmental impacts of 
the creation of desire line paths within the woodland.  
 

7.64 A financial contribution towards these works is to be secured as part of the S106 
Agreement. Furthermore the S106 Agreement is also required to provide a financial 
contribution towards the enhancement of existing public open space in the 
surrounding area, part of which is to be put towards improvement of Clifton Wood. 

 
7.65 In conclusion it is considered that the impact of the proposed development on the 

natural environment is acceptable subject suitable conditions requiring the 
mitigation measures outlined above. The proposal would accord with the NPPF, 
Policy 17 of the ACS and Saved Policies NE1, NE2, NE3 and NE5 of the Local 
Plan subject to the conditions required by the Natural England and the BGSO.   

 
(v) Density, layout and scale (Policy 10 of the Aligned Core Strategy and 
Saved Policies H2, T3, NE5 of the Local Plan) 

 
7. 66 All matters regarding site layout, scale and design of the proposed dwellings would 

be considered under a subsequent reserved matters submission. The application is 
however supported by the revised illustrative Masterplan and Design Code. 

 
7.67 The illustrative Masterplan and Design Code show an indicative road layout and 

residential development frontages to demonstrate how the site could be developed 
for up to 285 properties (although the revisions referred to elsewhere may result in 
a lower level of housing) and achieves an average density of 37 dwellings per 
hectare. Densities would vary across the site to respond to its immediate context, 
with lowers densities envisaged at the development edge along the west, south and 
northern boundaries of the site. The Design Code sets out an indicative housing 
mix which would deliver a range of 1-5 bedroom houses likely to comprise largely  
three bedroom family houses with a smaller range of two, four and five bedroom 
dwellings, which reflects the character of the site and the largely family housing 
proposition in the surrounding area. The Masterplan and Design Code show a road 
layout and built form consisting of detached, semi-detached and some terraced 
housing organised in perimeter blocks. Continuous residential frontages are 
proposed to define, overlook and activate the streets. Building heights are restricted 
to two storey. 

 
7.68 A key feature of the Masterplan and Design Code is the retention of large areas of 

informal open space and the enhancement of existing green infrastructure around 
the rural edges of the site. The position of the informal open space and attenuation 
pond along the northern boundary of the site would create an attractive open and 

Page 39



 
green entrance into the site, as well as suitable mitigation for the designated 
heritage assets. Green buffers along the western and southern boundaries provide 
important mitigation and separation of the built development from Clifton Wood and 
the adjacent LNR’s and LWS to the south. They would also provide a soft green 
edge to the development where it meets open countryside and the Green Belt. A 
large strip of open space is also provided by the easement to a mains water pipe 
that runs along the eastern boundary of the site with the bridleway. The existing 
hedge line through the middle of the site is shown to be retained to create a green 
corridor between Clifton Wood and the bridleway. In addition to mitigation they all 
offer opportunities for ecological enhancement and new landscaping. 

 
7.69 The Design Code sets out a hierarchy of three types of streets, namely the main 

distributor road, the residential street and the shared surface pedestrian priority 
residential streets, to create a framework for differing street design and character. It 
also sets out various in curtilage parking scenarios.  A series of 6 character areas 
are proposed across the development to add a further layer design, interest and to 
help create a sense of place. Together with the proposed areas of informal green 
space these character areas provide an important tool to develop and steer an 
appropriate scale, density and character of development at the rural edges of the 
site with Clifton Wood, open countryside to the south and with the designated 
heritage assets to the north. 

 
7.70 An updated Design Code and Design and Access Statement would be required to 

be submitted to support a subsequent reserved matters application to ensure that 
the development would fully address comments made by Historic England. Details 
of external materials and hard and soft landscaping would be required by condition. 

 
7.71 It is therefore considered that the proposed development would comply with Policy 

10 of the Aligned Core Strategy and Saved Policies H2, T3 and NE5 of the Local 
Plan in this regard 

 
(vi) Relationship with adjoining residential properties (Policy 10 of the Aligned 
Core Strategy and Saved Policy NE9 of the Local Plan) 

 
7.72 The site is separated from the Barton Green estate by the existing bridleway to the 

east. The need to provide a mains water pipe easement which runs along the 
eastern edge of the site with the bridleway would provide further separation 
between existing and new development. It is considered that the relationship with 
the properties immediately adjacent to the site is acceptable and that the proposal 
would not unacceptably impact upon the amenities of the neighbouring occupiers. 
The reserved matters submission would resolve details of the layout, including the 
boundary treatment to the edge of the site where it abuts existing residential 
properties. It is therefore considered that the proposed development would satisfy 
Policy 10 of the Aligned Core Strategy in this regard. 

 
7.73  There will inevitably be some impact from additional car movements on residents 

fronting the roads within Barton Green that would provide access to the 
development, but this impact is assessed in broader terms under the Highways 
consideration section and is found to be at an acceptable level for these roads. 
Regarding the change to the character of the Hawksley Gardens, and to a lesser 
extent Finchley Gardens, it is recognised that a significant change would occur but 
once again it noted that these are allocated routes to serve an allocated 
development site within the ‘Saved’ Local Plan, where the principle of this change 
has been accepted in principle since 1997. These are cul-du-sacs with roads that 

Page 40



 
end at the site boundary of a housing development where there has always existed 
the potential to access further developable land. Setting this change in character to 
one side, the impact of the car movements in itself would be the same as for the 
other access routes through Barton Green and as stated above, this is considered 
to be of an acceptable level. 

 
7.74 It is therefore considered that the proposed development would comply with Policy 

10 of the Aligned Core Strategy and Saved Policy NE9 of the Local Plan in this 
regard 

 
(vii) Planning obligations (NPPF, Policies ST1, H5, R2, NE2, NE3 and NE5 of 

the Local Plan and Policies 8, 11, 17 and 19 of the Aligned Core Strategy) 
 
7.75 For this development a number of both Policy based and site specific planning 

obligations would be required to ensure that the development is acceptable in 
planning terms, namely b: 

  
(i) A requirement to provide 20% affordable housing on site should any 

subsequent reserved matters submission comprise of 25 dwellings or more.  
(ii)  The provision of an approved scheme in respect of on-site amenity land 

and the Sustainable Urban Drainage System. 
 

(iii)  On-going management and maintenance arrangements for any on-site 
amenity land and the Sustainable Urban Drainage System. 

 
(iv) A financial contribution towards the enhancement of public open space off- 

site. 
 

(v) A financial contribution towards the expansion and/or enhancement of 
education facilities in the area. 

 
(vi) A financial contribution of £25,000 towards the enhancement and 

improvement of existing footpaths in the adjacent Clifton Wood. 
 

vii) Provisions for the long term maintenance arrangements for the emergency 
access. 

 
7.76 As indicated above, the site comprises two parcels of land, one of which is owned 

by the City Council and the other by Nottingham Trent University (NTU). The 
intention is that the site will be marketed jointly should planning permission be 
granted. As it is not possible for the Council to enter into a planning obligation with 
itself, and, in order to ensure that the full range of necessary obligations are 
secured, NTU have agreed that they will enter into a S106 Agreement to secure all 
the necessary planning obligations for the whole site against their land. The S106 
obligation will then include mechanisms to ensure that no development would 
commence on the NTU land until a second S106 Agreement has been completed in 
respect to the land currently owned by the City Council once that land has been 
sold. This would ensure that the all the necessary planning obligations are secured 
in full. Both applicants have agreed the relevant Heads of Terms and this proposed 
mechanism.  

 
 Affordable Housing (Policy 8 of the Aligned Core Strategy and Saved Policy 

H5 of the Local Plan) 
 

Page 41



 
7.77 Policy H5 of the Local Plan sets out the requirement to secure up to 20% affordable 

housing on all new residential developments. In this instance it is considered that 
the affordable housing provision should be provided on site. The final tenure mix 
and siting of the affordable housing would be secured through the planning 
obligation and dealt with at the reserved matters stage.  

 
7.78 As affordable housing is calculated by reference to a policy based formula reliant 

on details to be covered in the reserved matters, it is not possible to give a precise 
indication of the number of affordable housing units to be required at this stage, 
however, the S106 obligation will secure full compliance with Policy H5 of the Local 
Plan. 

 
 Public Open Space (Saved Policy R2 of the Local Plan) 
 
7.79 Policy R2 of the Local Plan sets out the requirements to secure either the provision 

of public open space on site or a financial contribution towards the enhancement of 
existing public open space within the local area. Informal green space is required 
along all boundaries of the site but given the requirement to mitigate against the 
adverse impacts of the development as set out above, this would not been seen as 
meeting the public open space requirements of the development. A financial 
contribution in lieu of on-site public open will also be required based on the formula 
within the Council’s Open Space Supplementary Planning Guidance. This will be 
directed towards the improvement of the Clifton Wood Local Nature Reserve, 
Barton Green play area, Clifton Playing Fields (tennis courts and Sports Barn) and 
Clifton Central Park. These are areas of public open space readily accessible to the 
residents of this development.  

 
7.80 As the financial contribution towards the enhancement of existing public open 

space is calculated by reference to a policy based formula reliant on details to be 
covered in the reserved matters, it is not possible to give a precise indication of 
what the final contribution towards public open specie would be at this stage. The 
planning obligation will secure the enhancement of existing public open space and 
would therefore meet Policy R2 of the Local Plan. 

 
 Education (Saved Policy ST1 of the Local Plan) 
 
7.81 In terms of education, the secondary schools are already experiencing capacity 

issues and consequently the development is going to increase pressure for school 
places. The contribution will be used towards expanding the capacity of 
Farnborough secondary school in the Clifton catchment area. 

 
7.82 Given that this is an outline planning application, the final education contribution 

cannot be calculated at this stage. The proposed Section 106 obligation will include 
the relevant formula to calculate the contribution. The S106 obligation will secure 
the enhancement of education facilities in the Clifton catchment area and will 
therefore meet Policy ST1 of the Local Plan. 

 
 Clifton Wood footpath improvements (NPPF, Policies 11 and 17of the ACS 

and Saved Policies BE14, NE2, NE3 and NE5 of the Local Plan 
  
7.83 A financial contribution is required to ensure that the proposal meets the mitigation 

requirements set out above and accords with the NPPF and Saved Policy NE5 of 
the Local Plan (in respect of ancient woodlands,); Policy 11 and Saved Policy BE14 
of the ACS, to ensure the preservation of the setting of Clifton Wood as a 

Page 42



 
Scheduled Parks and Garden; and Policy 17 of the ACS and Saved Policies NE2 
and NE3 with regards to the protection and preservation of nature conservation 
interests. The proposed footpath contribution would be put towards the 
improvement of existing footpath links, and to help manage pedestrian access 
within Clifton Wood. 

 
 Management Arrangements 
 
7.84 The revised illustrative masterplan shows various areas of amenity land which are 

needed to meet the mitigation requirements for protected species and woodland as 
set out above. The s106 obligation will ensure that this land together with the 
Sustainable Urban Drainage System is maintained by a management company.  

 
7.85 There is also a need to ensure that the emergency access is properly maintained 

and managed and this will also be covered by the S106 obligation. 
 
7.86 In relation to all of the above  (including each of the named areas of public open 

space to be enhanced by the open space financial contribution and the secondary 
school to be expanded ), the planning obligations sought will not exceed the 
permissible number of obligations in accordance with Regulation 123 (3) of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010.  

 
7.87 The obligations proposed are necessary and directly relate to the development and 

accord with the policies outlined above.  
 

 Other Matters (Policies 10 and 11 of the Aligned Core Strategy and Policies 
NE9, NE12 and BE16 of the Local Plan)  

 
7.88 Contamination: (Policy NE9 and NE12 of the Local Plan): The requirement for a 

remediation strategy to deal with ground, gas and water contamination, including 
adjacent landfill operations, would be secured by condition. The proposals are 
therefore in accordance with Policy NE9 and NE12 of the Local Plan. 

 
7.89 In response to the issue regarding the City Council interest as applicant, this 

planning application is required to be determined by the City Council as Local 
Planning Authority and the recommendation is made solely in light of the proposed 
development’s compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and the 
policies of the Development Plan, as required by Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. Further transparency is offered by the determination of the 
application at Planning Committee. 

 
7.90 The applicant has agreed to provide employment and training opportunities for the 

construction phase of the development. This would be secured as part of the s106. 
 
7.91 The site is located within a Minerals Safeguarding Area. No objections have been 

raised by the Coal Authority in this regard. 
 
8. SUSTAINABILITY (Policy 1 of the Aligned Core Strategy and Saved Policy 

NE10 of the Local Plan) 
 
8.1 The conservation and enhancement of the surrounding woodland habitat as 

designated assets forms an integral part of the scheme. 
 

Page 43



 
8.2 The proposed development would seek to include measures from the following, as 

appropriate:- 
 

• Seek to provide insulation standards to meet or exceed current building regulation 
standards. 

• Dwellings to accommodate features that actively reduce water and energy 
consumption and carbon emissions. 

• Plots orientated to take advantage of natural light and heat capture where 
possible. 

• Accommodation of space and provision for local recycling and waste management 
on all plots. 

• Sustainable construction standards as part of the build process. 
 
8.3 Surface water drainage is to be reduced to greenfield runoff rates and has been 

designed to use sustainable drainage techniques. A surface water attenuation pond 
is to be provided in the northern part of the site corner of the site and is proposed to 
include measure to enhance biodiversity. Details of surface water drainage would 
be dealt with by condition. 

 
9 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

The policy compliant requirements for Affordable Housing and the financial 
contributions towards education, off-site public open space and off-site footpath 
improvements are outlined in the above appraisal section. As an outline planning 
application, the final figures are not known and would be calculated in accordance 
with established formulas once a planning application for reserved matters is 
approved. 
 

10 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The issues raised in this report are primarily ones of planning judgement, however it 
should be noted that  the power to depart from development plan policy is 
confirmed in article 32 of the Town and Country Planning Act (Development 
Management Procedure) ( England) Order 2015. Should further legal 
considerations arise these will be addressed at the meeting. 
 

11 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 

12 RISK MANAGEMENT ISSUES 
 
None. 
 

13 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
 
Deliver quality housing for all 
 
Ensure Nottingham’s workforce is skilled 
 

14 CRIME AND DISORDER ACT IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 

Page 44



 
15 VALUE FOR MONEY 

 
None. 
 

16 List of background papers other than published works or those disclosing 
confidential or exempt information 
 
1. Application No: 18/00056/POUT - link to online case file: 
http://publicaccess.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=P2FKSQLYFIL00 
 

17 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
Nottingham Local Plan (November 2005) 
 

Contact Officer:  
Mrs Jo Bates, Case Officer, Development Management.  
Email: jo.bates@nottinghamcity.gov.uk.      Telephone: 0115 8764041

Page 45

http://publicaccess.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=P2FKSQLYFIL00
http://publicaccess.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=P2FKSQLYFIL00


Key
°0 0.1 0.2 km

NOMAD printed map

© Crown copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey Licence number 100019317. NOMAD print generated by a NOMAD user on 11/12/2018.
THIS MAP IS UNSUITABLE FOR PUBLICATION: contact gi@nottinghamcity.gov.uk (ext. 64341) for high quality maps.

City Boundary No description provided
Description

Copyright Nottingham City Council, Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey Licence number 100019317

Page 46



- 1 -

Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

My Ref: 18/00056/POUT (PP-06059463)

Your Ref:

Contact: Mrs Jo Bates

Email: development.management@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Planning And Design Group (UK) Ltd
FAO: Mr Bob Woollard
Pure Offices
Lake View Drive
Sherwood Park
Nottingham
NG15 0DT

Development Management
City Planning
Loxley House
Station Street
Nottingham
NG2 3NG

Tel: 0115 8764447
www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Date of decision: 
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
APPLICATION FOR OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION

Application No: 18/00056/POUT (PP-06059463)
Application by: Nottingham City Council And Nottingham Trent University
Location: Land Between Clifton Wood And Clifton Phase 4 Development, Yew Tree Lane, 

Nottingham
Proposal: Outline planning permission for residential development with all matters reserved 

except access.

Nottingham City Council as Local Planning Authority hereby GRANTS OUTLINE PLANNING 
PERMISSION for the development described in the above application subject to the following 
conditions:-

 1. Approval of the details of scale, layout, appearance and landscaping of the development 
(hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority 
in writing before any development is commenced.

Reason: In accordance with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

 2. Application for the approval of any reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 
Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this outline permission; and

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of two years from the 
date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved.

Reason: In accordance with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Time limit

Pre-commencement conditions
(The conditions in this section require further matters to be submitted to the local planning authority 
for approval before starting work)

Page 47



- 2 -

Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

3. The development shall not be commenced, including vehicle movement and ground 
preparation, until details of the vehicle/pedestrian access road from Hawksley Gardens, the 
emergency access from Finchley Close and the bridleway crossings have been submitted to 
and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. This shall include details of measures 
to safeguard users of the bridleway, at the point the proposed accesses cross the bridleway, 
during construction, and should include a timetable for their implementation.

The access road,emergency access road and bridleway crossings shall then be constructed in 
full accordance with the approved details in line with the agreed implementation timescale, 
unless otherwise agreed in wirting with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To avoid prejudice to traffic conditions within the vicinity of the site in the interest of 
highways and pedestrian safety in accordance with Policy 10 and 14 of the Aligned Core 
Strategy.

4. No development including vehicular access andr site preparation works shall be carried out 
until details of a Construction Management Plan have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period for the development and shall provide for:

(a) Measures to be taken to reduce noise and disturbance to neighbouring properties;
(b) The proposed hours of construction and delivery times.
(c) Details of the type, size and frequency of vehicles to/from the site and haul routes (if any);
(c) Loading and unloading of plant and materials;
(d) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
(e) Measures to prevent the deposit of debris on the highway to incliude wheel washing 
facilities, if necessary;
(f) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;
(g) Site security;
(h)The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors, to be contained with the site;
(j) A timetable for its implementation.

The construction of the development shall be carried out in full accordance with the Plan.

Reason: To avoid prejudice to traffic conditions within the vicinity of the site and to safeguard 
the amenities of neighbouring residents to comply with Policy 10 of the Aligned Core Strategy 
and Policy NE9 of the Nottingham Local Plan.

5. No development involving the breaking of ground shall take place within the site until a 
programme of archaeological works, consisting initially of an archaeological field evaluation, 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme of 
evaluation shall determine the character, extent and condition of any archaeological remains 
and provide an evidence base to determine what further archaeological work may be required 
in advance of and/or during groundworks. 

The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved programme of 
archaeological works, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that any archaeological remains of significance are safeguarded in 
accordance with Policy 11 of the Aligned Core Strategy and Policy BE16 of the Nottingham 
Local Plan.

Page 48



- 3 -

Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

6. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced, including vehicle movement and 
ground preparation, until an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS), to include retained trees, 
adjacent woodland and hedgerows, prepared in accordance with principles set out in British 
Standard 5837:2012- 'Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction - 
Recommendations', has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Arboricultural Method Statement shall specify measures to be put in place for 
the duration of construction operations to protect the existing trees/woodland/hedgerows that 
are shown to be retained on the approved plans or adjoin the site.  

The AMS shall include a programmme of arboricultural supervision to ensure all staff on site 
are made aware of the tree protection conditions. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with any ongoing requirements set out in the approved Arboricultural Method 
Statement.

Reason: To ensure the protection of retained trees, adjacent woodland and boundary 
hedgerows during the construction period and in accordance with the aims of Policy NE5 of 
the Local Plan.

7. The tree protection measures detailed in the approved Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) 
and plans approved under a subsequent reserved matters application shall be put in place 
prior to the commencement of any work on site, including demolition, vehicle movement and 
ground preparation. The protection is to be retained for the duration of all site works including 
hard surface installation. No works are to be carried out to the trees unless prior approval has 
been given by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that all staff on site are fully aware of the importance of the trees and for 
the Local Planning Authority to have a named contact in case of any arboricultural issues that 
may arise.

8. No development, including vehicular acces and site preparation, shall commence until details 
of  a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP shall ensure that Clifton 
Woods are protected from impacts such as damage by construction traffic, dust, pollution, and 
increased noise and lighting levels. The CEMP shall contain details relating to locations of 
protective hoardings around the site along with measures to prevent accidental encroachment 
within proposed green buffers. No direct lighting of the surrounding woodland and mature 
trees should occur during construction. Further consideration should be given to site hydrology 
and run-off to prevent  potential effects from ground contamination. Any environmentally 
hazardous material used should be kept in dedicated stores and storage tanks should have 
appropriate bunding.

The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved Plan.

Reason: In the interest on nature conservation in accordance with Policies 17 of the Aligned 
Core Strategy and Policies BE14, NE2 and NE3 of the Nottingham Local Plan.

Page 49



- 4 -

Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

9. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced, including vehicle movement and 
site preparation, until a detailed Ancient Woodland Mitigation Strategy required to protect 
Clifton Woods as an ancient woodland is prepared in accordance with the principles set out in 
Natural England and Forestry Commission standing advice on ancient woodland.

The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the mitigation strategy.

Reason: To ensure the protection of retained trees, adjacent woodland and boundary 
hedgerows during the construction period and in accordance with the aims of Policy NE5 of 
the Local Plan.

10. No development shall commence, including vehicle access and all site preparation works, until 
a detailed ecological mitigation strategy (EMS) required to protect badgers, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by Local Planning Authority. The EMS shall include 
detailed method statements, as required, to avoid harm or significant disturbance to the 
badgers that may be impacted by the development works. The mitigation strategy shall include 
the following:

- The location and status of the setts;
- Updated survey work as necessary; to be completed by qualified and where necessary 
licenced ecologist following published guidance;
- The location of and width of the buffer, based on up to date locations of setts;
-Appropriate landscaping of the woodland buffer, central retained  to provide a stepped 
structure with berry, nut and nectar producing species to provide food source;
- Location of upgraded paths in Clifton Woods in relation to badgers;
- Working methods during construction, to avoid disturbance and harm to badgers and their 
setts;
- Methods in place to reduce disturbance after development;
- Retention of foraging routes and access to adjacent foraging areas throughout;

The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved EMS.

Reason: To safeguard and manage protected species and valued habitat in accordance with 
the aims of Policy 17 of the Aligned Core Strategy and Policies NE2 & NE3 of the Local Plan.

11. No development shall commence, including vehicle access and all site preparation works, until 
precise details of the proposed green buffer/informal open space required to mitigate against 
the harm to the adjacent heritage assets, ancient woodland and protected speicies, to include 
their size, width, boundary and landscape treatment, and timescales for their implementation, 
have been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

Thereafter the green buffer/informal open space shall be constructed in accordance with the 
approved details and timescale, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: To safeguard the setting of adjoning heritage assets, ancient woodland, protected 
species and valued habitat in accordance with the aims of Policies 11 and 17 of the Aligned 
Core Strategy and Policies BE10, BE12, BE14, NE2 & NE3 of the Local Plan.

Page 50



- 5 -

Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

12. Prior to the commencement of the development, a Remediation Strategy that includes the 
following components to deal with the risks associated with ground, groundwater and ground 
gas contamination of the site shall be submitted to and be approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority:  

a) A Site Investigation, based on the recommendations made in the Phase 1, Desk Study, 
Produced by BSP Consulting dated 11 January 2017, and a detailed assessment of the risk to 
all receptors that may be affected, including those off site. 

b) A Remediation Plan, based on the Phase 1 report and Site Investigation ( required by a) 
above) giving full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be 
undertaken (including a contingency plan for dealing with any unexpected contamination not 
previously identified in the Site Investigation). 

c) A Verification Plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to demonstrate 
that the works set out in b) above are complete.

The Remediation Strategy shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless 
varied with the express written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

To safeguard the health and residential amenity of the occupants of the proposed 
development to comply with Policies NE9 and NE12 of the Nottingham Local Plan.

13. Notwithstanding the submitted Flood Risk Assessment, the development shall not be 
commenced until drainage plans for the disposal of surface water, to include the use of 
sustainable urban drainage measures and additional source control features, have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Thereafter the surface water drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details and timetable unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage as 
well as to reduce the risk of creating or exacerbating a flooding problem and to minimise the 
risk of pollution in accordance with Policy 1 of the Aligned Core Strategy and Policy NE10 of 
the Local Plan.

14. The development shall not be commenced until details of existing and proposed site levels 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved site levels.

Reason: In order to ensure an appropriate quality of finish to the approved development and to 
protect the amenities of neighbouring residential properties in accordance with Policy 10 of the 
Aligned Core Strategy.

Page 51



- 6 -

Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

15. The development shall not be commenced until details of the layout of the development and 
the design, external appearance and scale of the buildings, including their relationship to 
adjacent heritage and ecological assets, protected species and existing ground levels, have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Thereafter the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the layout and appearance of the development will be satisfactory in 
accordance with the NPPF, Policy 10, 11 and 17 of the Aligned Core Strategy and Policies 
BE10, BE12, BE14 of the Local Plan.

16. No above ground development shall be commenced until details of the following have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:

a) External materials including windows, bricks, other finishes to walls and tiles;

b) Hard surfacing of all external areas to include roads, foot/cycle paths and parking areas;

c) Boundary treatment and enclosures to the site and individual plot boundaries;

d) Refuge storage for the site and individual premises.

The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details, unless 
otherewsie agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to ensure an appropriate quality of finish to the approved development and to 
protect the amenities of neighbouring residential properties in accordance with Policy 10 of the 
Aligned Core Strategy.

Page 52



- 7 -

Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

17. No above ground development shall be commenced until details of ecological management 
and enhancement measures, which shall have regard to the recomendations of the ecological 
appraisal and separate protected species surveys, produced by Penny Anderson Associates 
Ltd, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Measures shall include details of the following:

- The  production and approval of a the badger and ancient woodland mitigation strategy (in 
line with conditions 10 and 11);
- A buffer of soft landscaping along all boundaries of the site (inline with condition 12);
- Retention of the central line trees on the site;
- Retention of boundary hedgerows and vegetation features to all boundaries for commuting 
bats, which should not be lit, and for potential badger commuting areas;
- The inclusion of bat friendly lighting throughout;
- Clearance of vegetation outside of the bird breeding season;
- A bat and bird box scheme;
- Update of the badger survey and ecological assessment/ protected species scoping report;
- Hedgehog friendly fencing throughout the scheme;
- Details of landscaping and management for retained and newly created grasslands, 
meadows and buffers, including a specification for the attenuation pond;
- Paths and development boundary specification;
- Timescales for the implementation of ecological enhancements.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved measures. 

Reason: In the interests of ecological enhancement and in accordance with the NPPF,  Policy 
17 of the Aligned Core Stratgey and Policy NE3, NE2 and NE5 of the Nottingham Local Plan.

18. No above ground development shall be commenced until an electric vehicle charging scheme 
has been submitted to and be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the first occupation of the development.

Reason: To promote sustainable modes of travel in accordance with Policy 10 of the Aligned 
Core Strategy and Policy NE9 of the Nottingham Local Plan.

19. No above ground development shall take place until details of a renewable energy scheme 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Thereafter the renewable/low carbon energy scheme shall be implemented  prior to first 
occupation of each dwelling unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of providing a sustainable development and in accordance with Policy 
1 of the Aligned Cored Strategy.

20. No above ground development shall be commenced until details of improvements to the bridle 
way running along the southern boundary of the site and existing Barton Green Estate, 
together with footpath improvements across the Barton Green park to provide pedestrian 
access to existing pedestrian and public transport routes, have been submitted to and agreed 
in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

The works shall be implemented in accordance with the a timescale to be agreed as part of 
the details.

Page 53



- 8 -

Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

Reason: To promote sustainable modes of travel in accordance with Policy 10 of the Aligned 
Core Strategy and Policy NE9 of the Nottingham Local Plan.

21. Each dwelling shall not be occupied until the following have been completed and made 
availble for use, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

a) the installation of the means of enclosure for the property;
b) laying of the hard surfaced areas  for the property;
c) installation of the bin storage area for the property;
d) Car parking has been provided for the property;
e) Refuge storage for the property.

Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the development will be satisfactory and in the 
interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy 10 of the Aligned Core Strategy.

22. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a detailed landscaping 
and planting scheme indicating the type, height, species, location, sectional pit details and 
maintenance arrangements of the proposed trees and shrubs has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved landscaping scheme shall 
be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the 
development and any trees or plants which die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased within a period of five years shall be replaced in the next planting season with others 
of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any 
variation.

Reason: To ensure a high quality development in accordance with Policy 10 of the Aligned 
Core Strategy.

23. Prior to first occupation of the development, the following shall be submitted to and be 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:

a) A Verification Report, which shall include the data referred to in the Verification Plan, to 
demonstrate that the approved Remediation Strategy to deal with ground gas contamination of 
the site has been fully implemented and completed.  

b) A Verification Report, which shall include the data referred to in the Verification Plan, to 
demonstrate that the approved Remediation Strategy to deal with ground and groundwater 
contamination of the site has been fully implemented and completed.   

To safeguard the health and residential amenity of the occupants of the proposed 
development to comply with Policies NE9 and NE12 of the Nottingham Local Plan.

24. Prior to the first occupation of the development a timescale for the installation of the roads, 
pavements and footpaths shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.

Thereafter their installation shall be carried out in accordance with the approved timescales.

Reason: To ensure a high quality development in accordance with Policy 14 of the Aligned 
Core Strategy.

Pre-occupation conditions
(The conditions in this section must be complied with before the development is occupied)

Page 54



- 9 -

Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

25. All site clearance work shall be undertaken outside of the bird-breeding season, ie. not within 
March to September inclusive. All birds' nests (except pest species) are protected from 
disturbance and destruction by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). If work 
has to take place during the bird breeding season a survey for nesting birds shall be carried 
out by an experienced ecologist and the results of this submitted for the written approval of the 
Local Planning Authority before the work begins. If nesting birds are discovered, no activity 
likely to cause disturbance shall be undertaken in the vicinity of the nest until the chicks have
fledged.

Reason: In the interests of conserving protected species and the ecology of the development 
in accordance with Policy NE3 of the Local Plan.

Standard condition- scope of permission

S1. Except as may be modified by the conditions listed above, the development shall be carried 
out in complete accordance with the details described in the forms, drawings and other 
documents comprising the application as validated by the council on 12 January 2018.

Reason: To determine the scope of this permission.

Informatives

 1. The reason for this decision, and a summary of the policies the local planning authority has had 
regard to are set out in the committee report, enclosed herewith and forming part of this decision.

 2. This permission is valid only for the purposes of Part III of the Town & Country Planning Act 
1990. It does not remove the need to obtain any other consents that may be necessary, nor does it 
imply that such other consents will necessarily be forthcoming. It does not override any restrictions 
contained in the deeds to the property or the rights of neighbours. You are advised to check what 
other restrictions there are and what other consents may be needed, for example from the 
landowner, statutory bodies and neighbours.  This permission is not an approval under the Building 
Regulations.

 3. Conditions  and  are 'reserved matters' as defined in the Town & Country Planning (General 
Development Procedure) Order 1995.

 4. Contaminated Land, Ground Gas & Groundwater

The Remediation Strategy (including its component elements) must be undertaken and 
implemented in accordance with Defra and the Environment Agency's guidance Model Procedures 
for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11, CIRIA C735 Good Practice on the Testing & 
Verification of Protection Systems for Buildings Against Hazardous Ground Gases (2014) and other 
authoritative guidance. The Remediation Strategy must also provide details of:

- 'Cut and fill' operations on site
- How trees retained on site will be dealt with
- How gas precautions including any radon gas precautions will be validated 
- Any asbestos surveys carried out, the method statement for removal of asbestos and subsequent 
validation of air and soil following asbestos removal and demolition. 

Regulatory/ongoing conditions
(Conditions relating to the subsequent use of the development and other regulatory matters)

Page 55



- 10 -

Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

Following completion of the development, no construction work, landscaping or other activity must 
be undertaken which may compromise the remediation measures implemented to deal with ground, 
groundwater and ground gas contamination of the site.  

Any ground gas protection measures included in the original development are designed for the 
buildings as originally constructed to protect against possible dangers to public health and safety 
arising from any accumulation of methane, carbon dioxide or other gas and to ensure that the site 
can be developed and used without health or safety risks to the occupiers of the development 
and/or adjoining occupiers.  These protection measures may be compromised by any future 
extension of the footprint of the original building or new building structures within the curtilage of the 
site including the erection of a garage, shed, conservatory or porch or similar structure.  Advice 
from the Council's Environmental Health Team regarding appropriate gas protection measures 
must be sought should future extension of the footprint of the original building or new building 
structures within the curtilage of the site be proposed (regardless of whether the proposed 
construction requires planning permission or building regulation approval). 

It is a requirement of current Building Regulations that basic radon protection measures are 
installed in all new constructions, extensions conversions & refurbishments on sites which are 
Radon Class 3 or 4 and full radon protection measure are installed on site which are Radon Class 5 
or higher.  Advice from the Council's Environmental Health Team regarding appropriate gas 
protection measures must be sought where there are both radon issues and ground gas issues 
present.

The responsibility and subsequent liability for safe development and secure occupancy of the site 
rests with the developer and/or the landowner.  The developer is required to institute a thorough 
investigation and assessment of the ground conditions, nature and degree of contamination on the 
site to ensure that actual or potential risks to public health and safety can be overcome by 
appropriate remedial, preventive or precautionary measures.  The developer shall provide at his 
own expense such evidence as is required to indicate clearly that the risks associated with ground, 
groundwater and ground gas contamination of the site has been addressed satisfactorily.

 5. Construction & Demolition

Noise Control: Hours of Work and Equipment
The acceptable hours for demolition or construction work are detailed below; -

Monday to Friday:       0730-1800 (noisy operations restricted to 0800-1800)
Saturday:                    0830-1700 (noisy operations restricted to 0900-1300)
Sunday:                       at no time
Bank Holidays:            at no time

Work outside these hours may be acceptable in exceptional circumstances but must be agreed with 
Nottingham City Council's Environmental Health Team (Tel: 0115 9152020; email: 
pollution.control@nottinghamcity.gov.uk)

Equipment
All equipment shall be properly maintained, serviced and operated in accordance with the 
manufacturer's recommendations and with appropriate noise suppression / silencers.

Dust/Grit and Other Fugitive Emissions 
Construction and demolition work invariably generates grit and dust, which can be carried off-site 
and cause a Statutory Nuisance, and have a detrimental effect on local air quality.

Contractors are expected to use appropriate methods to minimise fugitive emissions, reduce the 
likelihood of justified complaint and avoid costly restriction and development delays.

Page 56



- 11 -

Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

Appropriate measures include;-

Flexible plastic sheeting
Water sprays  /damping down of spoil and demolition waste
Wheel washing.
Periodic road cleaning.

 6. Ancient Woodland advice:

- The ancient woodland strategy should cover all aspects highlighted in Natural England and 
Forestry Commission standing advice on ancient woodland
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveyslicences.The 
assessment guide can be used to determine a developments potential impact 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_da 
ta/file/740503/FCNE_AWSA_AssessmentGuideFinalSept2018.pdf

-The Environmental Construction Management Plan should detail how impacts on the woodland will 
be avoided.

 7. Noise Control: hours of work and equipment during demolition/construction
To assist with project planning, reduce the likelihood of justified complaint and avoid costly 
restriction and development delays, 'acceptable hours' are detailed below:-

Monday to Friday:    0730-1800 (noisy operations restricted to 0800-1800)
Saturday:                 0830-1700 (noisy operations restricted to 0830-1300)
Sunday:                   at no time
Bank Holidays:        at no time

Work outside these hours may be acceptable but must be agreed with Nottingham City Council's 
Pollution Control Section (Tel: 0115 9152020).

Equipment
All equipment shall be properly maintained, serviced and operated in accordance with the 
manufacturer's recommendations and with appropriate noise suppression/silencers.

Dust/Grit and other fugitive emissions
Construction and demolition work invariably generates grit and dust, which can be carried offsite 
and cause a Statutory Nuisance, and have a detrimental effect on local air quality.

Contractors are expected to use appropriate methods to minimise fugitive emissions, reduce the 
likelihood of justified complaint and avoid costly restriction and development delays.  Appropriate 
methods include:-

Flexible plastic sheeting
Water sprays/damping down of spoil and demolition waste
Wheel washing
Periodic road cleaning

 8. Highways:

1) It is an offence under Section 148 and Section 151 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit mud on 
the public highway and as such you should undertake every effort to prevent it occurring. If the 
development works will have any impact on the public highway, please contact Highways Network 
Management on 0115 876 5238 or by email at highway.management@nottinghamcity.gov.uk. All 
associated costs will be the responsibility of the developer.

Page 57



- 12 -

Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

2) The Highways Network Management team at Loxley House must be notified regarding when the 
works will be carried out as disturbance to the highway will be occurring and licences may be 
required. Please contact them on 0115 8765238. All costs shall be borne by the applicant.

3) Planning consent is not consent to work on the highway. To carry out off-site works associated 
with the planning consent, approval must first be obtained from the Local Highway Authority. 
Approval will take the form of a Section 278 Agreement and you should contact Highways Network 
Management on 0115 8765293 to instigate the process. It is strongly recommended that you make 
contact at the earliest opportunity to allow time for the process to be completed as you will not be 
permitted to work on the Highway before it is complete. All associated costs will be borne by the 
developer. We reserve the right to charge commuted sums in respect of ongoing maintenance 
where the item in question is above and beyond what is required for the safe and satisfactory 
functioning of the highway.

4) The applicant should note that notwithstanding any planning permission that if any highway 
forming part of the development is to be adopted by the Highways Authority. The new roads and 
any highway drainage will be required to comply with the Nottingham City Council's current highway 
design guidance and specification for roadworks. The Advanced Payments Code in the Highways 
Act 1980 applies and under section 219 of the Act payment will be required from the owner of the 
land fronting a private street on which a new building is to be erected. The developer should 
contact the Highway Authority with regard to compliance with the Code, or alternatively to the issue 
of a Section 38 Agreement and bond under the Highways Act 1980. A Section 38 Agreement can 
take some time to complete. Therefore, it is recommended that the developer contact the Highway 
Authority as early as possible. It is strongly recommended that the developer contact the Highway 
Authority at an early stage to clarify the codes etc. with which compliance will be required in the 
particular circumstance. It is essential that design calculations and detailed construction drawings 
for the proposed works are submitted to and approved by the City Council in writing before any 
work commences on site. For further information please contact Network Management on 0115 
876 5293.

5) The Highway Authority reserve the right to charge commuted sums in respect of ongoing 
maintenance where the item in question is above and beyond what is required for the safe and 
satisfactory functioning of the highway. All trees to be planted on highway will be subject to 
commuted sum payments for their maintenance. The commuted sum for a street tree is £938.61 
per tree. Trees that will have a dual purpose as use for drainage will incur greater costs. For further 
information regarding the collection of commuted sums the applicant should contact Network 
Management on 0115 876 5293.

6) Please contact our drainage experts Paul Daniels 0115 8765275 to discuss requirements to 
satisfy the condition related to drainage.

8) Please contact Robert Smith 0115 8763604 robert.smith3@nottinghamcity.gov.uk to discuss 
sustainable transport, and the Travel Plan and measures.

9) At the same time as the remainder of the development, all parking areas shall be provided with 
minimum dimensions of 2.4m x 5.5m (with additional 0.5m if adjacent to a hard boundary) with 
permeable surface construction. The spaces should be marked out in accordance with details 
which shall first have been agreed in writing with the City Council as local planning authority, and 
shall be retained and not used for any other purpose.

 9. PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY (PROW)

The crossing of the bridleway at the two places identified shall be built to adoptable standards and 
be of an appropriate design to accommodate all expected access users such as horses. The 

Page 58



- 13 -

Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

design shall ensure these users are prioritised over vehicular traffic. All costs to be borne by the 
applicant and the design to be agreed in liaison with the highway authority.

To discuss Public Right Of Way details further the applicant should contact John Lee 0115 
8765246.

Where a condition specified in this decision notice requires any further details to be submitted for 
approval, please note that an application fee will be payable at the time such details are submitted 
to the City Council. A form is available from the City Council for this purpose.

Your attention is drawn to the rights of appeal set out on the attached sheet.

Page 59



- 14 -

DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

RIGHTS OF APPEAL
Application No: 18/00056/POUT (PP-06059463)

If the applicant is aggrieved by the decision of the City Council to impose conditions on the grant of 
permission for the proposed development, then he or she can appeal to the Secretary of State under 
section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Any appeal must be submitted within six months of the date of this notice.  You can obtain an appeal 
form from the Customer Support Unit, The Planning Inspectorate, Room 3/15 Eagle Wing, Temple 
Quay House, 2 The Square, Temple Quay, Bristol, BS1 6PN.  Phone: 0117 372 6372.  Appeal forms 
can also be downloaded from the Planning Inspectorate website at http://www.planning-
inspectorate.gov.uk/pins/index.htm.  Alternatively, the Planning Inspectorate have introduced an 
online appeals service which you can use to make your appeal online. You can find the service 
through the Appeals area of the Planning Portal - see www.planningportal.gov.uk/pcs.

The Inspectorate will publish details of your appeal on the internet (on the Appeals area of the 
Planning Portal).  This may include a copy of the original planning application form and relevant 
supporting documents supplied to the local authority by you or your agent, together with the 
completed appeal form and information you submit to the Planning Inspectorate.  Please ensure that 
you only provide information, including personal information belonging to you that you are happy will 
be made available to others in this way.  If you supply personal information belonging to a third party 
please ensure you have their permission to do so.  More detailed information about data protection 
and privacy matters is available on the Planning Portal.

The Secretary of State can allow a longer period for giving notice of an appeal, but will not normally 
be prepared to use this power unless there are special circumstances which excuse the delay.

The Secretary of State need not consider an appeal if the City Council could not for legal reasons 
have granted permission or approved the proposals without the conditions it imposed.

In practice, the Secretary of State does not refuse to consider appeals solely because the City 
Council based its decision on a direction given by him.

PURCHASE NOTICES

If either the City Council or the Secretary of State refuses permission to develop land or grants it 
subject to conditions, the owner may claim that he can neither put the land to a reasonably beneficial 
use in its existing state nor can he render the land capable of a reasonably beneficial use by the 
carrying out of any development which has been or would be permitted. This procedure is set out in 
Part VI of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

COMPENSATION

In certain limited circumstances, a claim may be made against the City Council for compensation 
where permission is refused or granted subject to conditions by the Secretary of State. The 
circumstances in which compensation is payable are set out in Section 114 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990.

 

Page 60



 
 
WARDS AFFECTED: Dunkirk And Lenton  Item No:  
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
19th December 2018 

 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF PLANNING AND REGENERATION 
 
Grove Hotel, 273 Castle Boulevard 
 
1 SUMMARY 
 
Application No: 18/01082/PFUL3 for planning permission 

 
Application by: Leonard Design Architects on behalf of Mr Sam Burt 

 
Proposal: Refurbishment and external alterations to the existing public house 

on the ground floor. Change of use of the upper 2 floors to 2no. 
student cluster apartments. Conversion of the existing loft space to 
6no. student studios. Erection of three storey extension to the rear 
consisting of 19no. student studios (In total 38 student beds) 

 
The application is brought to Committee because application relates to a major 
development on a prominent site, where there are important land use considerations. The 
Ward Councillors have also objected to the proposal.  
 
To meet the Council's Performance Targets this application should be determined by 24th 
December 2018 
 
2 RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
2.1 To GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to: 
 

(a) prior completion of a Section 106 Planning Obligation to secure: 
 

(i) An off-site Public Open Space financial contribution of £8,011.54 
towards improvements at Kings Meadow Wildlife Site; 

 
(ii) a student management plan, to include restrictions on car use. 

 
(b) the indicative conditions substantially in the form of those listed in the draft 
decision notice at the end of this report. 
  

2.2 Power to determine the final details of both the conditions and the section 106 
obligation to be delegated to the Director of Planning and Regeneration. 
 

2.3  That Committee are satisfied that Regulation 122(2) Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010 is complied with, in that the planning obligation sought is (a) 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, (b) directly 
related to the development and (c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to 
the development. 
 

2.4 That Committee are satisfied that the planning obligation(s) sought that relate to 
infrastructure would not exceed the permissible number of obligations according to 
Regulation 123(3) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010. 

Page 61

Agenda Item 5b



 
 
3 BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The application site relates to the Grove Public House, formerly known as the 

Grove Hotel. It is a three storey public house located at the far western end of 
Castle Boulevard and now been vacant and boarded up for many years. It is a 
corner plot bounded by Castle Boulevard and Grove Road. The Grove was built 
around 1886 and is an attractive red brick Victorian building with historic importance 
to the surrounding area. The building sits at the back edge of the highway and 
accommodated a pub on the ground floor and hotel rooms on the upper two floors. 
In its latter years the upper floors were converted into a second bar and function 
room. The building covers a large part of the site apart from a small car park with 
room for approximately 5-6 vehicles located to the rear, accessed from Grove 
Road. 

 
3.2 The Grove sits at the southern side of the Abbey Bridge roundabout, a major 

arterial route in and out of the city centre. To the southwest are residential 
properties in the form of two storey terraced houses along Grove Road. On the 
opposite side of Grove Road to the south east is the rear elevation of the Castle 
Gardens apartments. Further along Castle Boulevard there are a number retail and 
commercial units. 

 
3.3 Vehicular Access from Grove Road onto Castle Boulevard is now prevented by the 

new cycle way which runs along Castle Boulevard, and so vehicular access from 
Castle Boulevard is currently via Alderney Street and Grove Road. 

 
4 DETAILS OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 The application is for a mixed use development which proposes to retain and 

extend the existing building. It is proposed to retain the use of the ground floor of 
the existing building as a public house. The remaining part of the building and 
extension would form purpose built student accommodation comprising of 2 x 6/7 
bedroom cluster flats on the two upper floors of the existing building and 25 studio 
apartments in the roof space of the existing building and the proposed extension 
(38 bedrooms in total).  

 
4.2 The extension would be located to the south of the existing building and occupy the 

former car park. It is proposed to be three storey in height and contemporary in its 
design. The extension would be constructed in red brick to complement the existing 
building. At the ground floor the extension would include the main entrance to the 
student accommodation at the junction of Castle Boulevard and Abbey Bridge, 
communal space, secure parking and waste/recycling store to serve both the pub 
and the student accommodation. Servicing for the pub would continue to be from 
Grove Road. 
  

5 CONSULTATIONS AND OBSERVATIONS OF OTHER OFFICERS 
 

Adjoining occupiers consulted: 
 
Castle Gardens 
Grove Road 
Castle Boulevard 
 
 

Page 62



 
12 representations have been received from local residents which are summarised 
below: 
 

• The development is for another student property in a residential part of 
Nottingham that is already saturated with students HMOs. The development 
would be contrary to Council policy that seeks to restrict such 
accommodation to 25%. Residents consider that the development would 
exacerbate the existing high concentration of students in the area and further 
contribute towards the unbalanced community in Lenton contrary to the 
policies of the Development Plan. 

• The demographic in Lenton needs to be re-balanced by bringing in more 
families and working professionals. 

• The impact that additional students in the area would have on residential 
amenity in terms of noise, disturbance, other forms of anti-social behaviour, 
poor waste management and poor upkeep of gardens. 

• The impact that additional students would have on local services such as 
shops and schools. 

• Concern that it will be another student pub, like many others in the locality, 
adding to the current problems of anti-social behaviour and noise 
disturbance. 

• Some residents question the business case for re-opening the pub and its 
future viability. 

• Concern that the extension would not respect the character and appearance 
of the existing pub, which is seen as having distinct architectural features. 

• One residents likes the proposed design and feels that it would renovate 
what is seen as an impressive and historic building in Lenton. They agree 
that maximum use should be made of the building and grounds. 

• The lack of a smoking area is questioned meaning people will stand outside 
causing increased noise and disturbance. 

• Three resident welcome and support the planning application and the pub 
re-opening. They question the lack of a kitchen and function room to serve 
the pub.  

 
Nottingham Action Group support the applicant’s intention to retain the Victorian 
building. They have however stated that there several aspects of the proposed 
scheme which mean that NAG cannot support the proposed scheme: 
 
1. Student Accommodation: The applicant has not submitted any support in this 
application to show that this location is suitable for student accommodation. Lenton 
is quite regularly described as the ‘epicentre’ of studentification in Nottingham, and 
no area of Lenton more so than the streets around Lenton Boulevard, Castle 
Boulevard and Abbey Bridge where the concentration of student accommodation in 
HMOs is substantially higher than the threshold set out in the Building Balanced 
Communities SDP. 
 
NAG consider that although significant development of purpose built 
accommodation (new build and conversion of existing buildings), particularly 
around the city centre, has resulted in students moving out of HMO accommodation 
in parts of the city, the evidence is that this is not happening in Lenton. Therefore, it 
is highly questionable whether the student accommodation proposed in this 
application will in any way contribute towards the restoration of balance and 
sustainability to Lenton. In fact, it is more than likely that it will merely add to the 
imbalance, potentially attract more students into the area and in doing so will 

Page 63



 
exacerbate the well-documented problems which Lenton’s long-term residents are 
being required to deal with. 
 
Lenton is seen by NAG to be almost saturated with students, and to permit this 
development to take place will not only increase the number of students, but will 
encourage other casual developers to put in applications to convert other premises 
into yet more student accommodation. 
 
2. Design Considerations: They consider that there are aspects of the proposed 
design which need to be addressed give its proposed use namely: 
 
- Noise and amenity considerations for living accommodation above the retained 

pub. 
- Lack of amenity space and communal areas. 
- Lack of features in the design to reduce opportunities for crime and anti-social 

behaviour. 
- Lack of office for on site management. 
- No provision for students with disabilities and disabled parking spaces. 
- No provision on site for student drop off and pick at the beginning and the end of 

term. 
 
3. Alternative Use: NAG suggest the building should be re-designed as good 
quality accommodation for non-student residents ie. apartments. 
 
The Local ward councillors for Lenton and Dunkirk have also raised objections to 
the proposed development. They state that the Grove sits in a residential area of 
Lenton, which is recognised as having a high concentration of transient residents, 
typically housed in HMOs, and a deficit of long-term residents. They believe that the 
imbalance has created tensions in the community, with a high number of complaints 
about anti-social behaviour, parking and environmental crime. They are concerned 
that although the planning authority has put measures in place to prevent the 
spread of HMOs and to control the growth in housing for transient residents, this 
has not so far had a significant impact and the serious problem of a lack of housing 
for long-term residents remains. They therefore object to the conversion of the 
public house for student accommodation as it would not address the housing 
problems in the area. In addition, whilst they welcome the plans to return the public 
house into use, the development of the surrounding site into an additional 22 
student studios would appear to conflict with the operations of a pub. The business 
would be left without any outdoor space for customers during warm weather and 
especially for smokers. Councillors do not believe that this proposal in its current 
form would create a viable business.  
 
Councillors also object to the creation of 22 student studios to the side of the public 
house. They consider that the extension would impact negatively on the adjacent 
houses on Grove Road and the residential apartments opposite. They conclude 
that the site would be significantly and unacceptably overdeveloped. 
 
Nottingham Civic Society have stated that they have reservations about the design 
of the extension to this Locally Listed Building. They have no objection to the mix of 
uses and consider that keeping the ground floor as pub best reflects the buildings 
heritage. They do however consider that the design of the extension detracts from 
the character and interest of the Victorian building. A prominent feature of the 
existing gable end facing Abbey Bridge is the large, arched window lighting the 
staircase. They consider it a pity to lose this feature. In addition, the design of the 

Page 64



 
extension itself does not relate well to the proportions of the Victorian pub building. 
They feel that the mass and design of the proposed extension should be 
reconsidered. 

 
Additional consultation letters sent to: 
 
Environmental Health and Safer Places: No objections. Conditions relating to 
contamination, noise assessment and a noise management plan are 
recommended. 
 
Highways: No objections. Conditions relating to cycle provision, a traffic 
management plan for the drop off and pick up of students, and redundant vehicular 
crossings to be reinstated, are recommended. 
 
Drainage: The development would be required to reduce surface water run-off by 
30%, in comparison with its previous use. Methods of sustainable urban drainage 
should be used. 

 
6 RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018): 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) advises that there is a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that development proposals 
that accord with an up-to-date development plan should be approved without delay.  
 
There are a number of sections of the NPPF that are relevant to this application.  
 
Paragraphs 59-61 support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the 
supply of homes, where it is needed, that groups with specific housing 
requirements (including students) are met and that land with permission is 
developed without delay. Paragraph 80 requires that significant weight be placed 
on the need to support economic growth and productivity. Paragraph 91 requires 
decisions to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which, amongst other 
things, promote social interaction, are safe and accessible, and support healthy 
lifestyles. Paragraph 103 states that significant development should be focused on 
locations which are or can be made sustainable. Paragraph 118 requires that 
substantial weight be given to the value of using brownfield land and promoting the 
development of under-utilised land and buildings. Paragraphs 124-132 are focused 
on achieving the creation of high quality buildings and places.  
 
Aligned Core Strategy (ACS) (September 2014):  
 
Policy A - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development. 
 
Policy 1 - Climate Change. 
 
Policy 8 - Housing Size, Mix and Choice. 
 
Policy 10 - Design and Enhancing Local Identity. 
 
Policy 14 - Managing Travel Demand. 
 
Policy 19 – Developers Contributions.  

Page 65



 
 

Nottingham Local Plan (November 2005): 
 
ST1 - Sustainable Communities.  
 
H2 - Density.  
  
H6 - Student Housing.  
 
R2 - Open Space in New Development.  
 
NE9 - Pollution.  
 
NE10 – Water Quality and Flood Protection. 
 
NE12 - Derelict and Contaminated Land. 
 
T3 – Car, Cycle and Servicing Parking. 
 
Building Balanced Communities Supplementary Planning Document 
 
Monitoring of Student Households report (March 2017) 
 
Planning Guidance for the Provision of Open Space within Developments, 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 

 
7. APPRAISAL OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
 Main Issues 
  

(i) Principle of student accommodation 
(ii) The design and appearance of the development 
(iii) Impact on amenity of surrounding residents  
(iv) Highway considerations 
(v) Planning obligations 

 
(i) Principle of student accommodation (Policies A and 8 of the Aligned 

Core Strategy, Policies ST1, H2 and H6 of the Local Plan, and the 
Building Balanced Communities SPD (BBCSPD) 

 
7.1  As student accommodation, the principle of the proposal needs to be considered 

against Policy 8 of the ACS, the saved policies ST1 and H6 of the Nottingham 
Local Plan and the Building Balanced Communities Supplementary Planning 
Document (BBC SPD). 

 
7.2  Policy ST1 of the Local Plan seeks to provide and maintain balanced communities 

within the City, noting that family housing is particularly important to sustain local 
communities and support local schools as centres of communities. Policy ST1 
promotes "a balanced mix of housing size, type and affordability in the area, 
particularly promoting housing for families with children". 

 
7.3 In addition, the Building Balanced Communities Supplementary Planning Document 

(BBCSPD) expands on Policies ST1 and H6 (student housing) and sets out the City 
Council’s approach to the imbalance caused by the overconcentration of student 

Page 66



 
housing. It promotes the diversion of students from general housing into purpose 
built student accommodation in appropriate locations. The BBCSPD references that 
an area is in danger of becoming imbalanced if the percentage of student 
households exceeds 25% of the total number of households in that area (by leading 
to further over-concentrations of student households or increases in the problems 
associated with large numbers of students). The methodology in the SPD shows 
this and adjoining census output areas to have a concentration of 37.2% of student 
households. However, the BBCSPD also advises that this formula should not result 
in an overly rigid and mathematical approach to decision making and should not be 
used as the sole determining factor for proposals in this regard. The BBCSPD also 
sets out some exceptions to the general presumption of resisting further student 
accommodation in areas of high concentration, which include where: 

 
• The development is located within a shopping frontage on a major radial 

route, where it assists in the regeneration and re-use of retail premises, such 
as conversion of redundant shops or accommodation above shops  

 
7.4 Policy 8 of the ACS sets out, inter alia, that residential development should 

maintain, provide and contribute to a mix of housing tenures, types and sizes in 
order to create sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities, and that within 
Nottingham City there should be an emphasis on providing family housing, 
including larger family housing, to meet Sustainable Community Strategy and 
Housing Strategy objectives.  

 
7.5 The latest Nottingham Authority Monitoring Report (March 2017) highlights that in 

last 9 years there has been a significant rise in the number of students in 
Nottingham. This has resulted in approximately 12,417 additional students (a rise 
from 42,292 in 2007/08 to 54,709 in 2016/17). The 2016/17 academic year saw the 
largest number of full time students in the two universities. It is difficult to predict 
student numbers given current uncertainties such as Brexit, but the Universities are 
continuing to invest in their facilities and are both highly rated both nationally and 
internationally, so the trend of increases in student numbers is anticipated to 
continue.   

 
7.6 It is recognised that policy guidance contained in the BBCPD and development plan 

documents has been effective in assisting the maintenance and promotion of 
balanced communities by encouraging well-managed purpose built student 
accommodation (PBSA) in appropriate locations, with the intention of freeing up 
other residential properties for occupation by other households. The Council’s 
monitoring has shown that the number of Student Council Tax Exempt properties 
has fallen by approximately 20% across the city over the last few years. However, 
despite the increase in number of purpose-built student bed spaces, general 
housing stock in the traditional areas of high student concentration, i.e. Dunkirk and 
Lenton and Radford and Park, remain attractive to students, with little reduction in 
Council Tax exemptions for student households in these areas. The last few years 
has seen a significant increase in the supply of PBSA, which reached its highest 
level in 2016/17 when 1,412 additional bed spaces were made available (it is likely 
that an additional 800 bedspaces will have been provided for 2018/19 academic 
year). Vacancy surveys were undertaken for the last 4 academic years with PBSA 
providers who reported very low vacancy rates of less than 1% for 2017/18. Despite 
the increase supply of PBSA bedspaces being provided, this has actually been less 
than the number of additional students requiring accommodation within the City. 

 
7.7 The latest Nottingham Authority Monitoring Report (March 2017) recognises that 

Page 67



 
there remains need for a continued supply of bedspaces within attractive purpose 
built accommodation and that the demand for student accommodation remains 
high. It is considered that the provision of further good quality PBSA would attract 
students that would otherwise occupy houses of multiple occupation in Lenton and 
Dunkirk.  

 
7. 8 Although the application relates to a pub rather than a shop, the principle set out in 

BBCSPD in Paragraph 7.3 is felt to be equally applicable in this instance. It would 
not result in the loss of family housing. The creation of student accommodation 
would also enable the retention and restoration of this locally important historic 
building and its use as a pub. It is questionable whether a viable residential scheme 
of apartments could be achieved on the site without demolition of the building. The 
location of the site is at the periphery of the main areas of high student 
concentration to the west. The site is effectively bound on three sides by highway 
and is constrained by the buildings close relationship with Castle Boulevard and 
roundabout junction, which is a particularly busy part of the highway network. This 
is not a location where the development would be likely to have a detrimental 
impact on the amenity of existing residents, given the inward looking nature of the 
Castle Gardens development, its position at the corner of Grove Road and being 
alongside a busy arterial route into the City Centre.  

 
7.9 The proposed accommodation is of an appropriate size with cluster bedrooms 

averaging 12sqm and benefitting from associated communal kitchen/living areas 
commensurate to the size of the cluster flat, and studios ranging from 18-25sqm. It 
is in a highly accessible location with good pedestrian, cycle and tram links to the 
City Centre and both University campuses.  

 
7.10 The development scheme would retain the existing pub use on the ground floor 

which in itself has amenity value to the community.   
 
7.11  It is concluded that the principle of the development for student occupation is 

acceptable and that the proposal accords with the Policies A and 8 of the Aligned 
Core Strategy, Policies ST1, H2 and H6 of the Local Plan, and the Building 
Balanced Communities SPD (BBCSPD). 

 
(ii) Design Considerations (Policy 10 of the Aligned Core Strategy and 
Policies H2 of the Local Plan) 

 
7.12 The NPPF recognises the importance of design in making places better. It states 

that decisions should not attempt to impose architectural styles and that great 
weight should be given to schemes that raise the standard of design in the area. 

 
7.13 The Grove is an attractive Victorian building located in a prominent position. The 

building has been vacant and boarded up for a long period. Its retention and 
refurbishment as part of the proposed development is very much welcomed. The 
proposal would provide a long term viable use for the building and ensure that its 
importance as local historic landmark is retained for the future. 

 
7.14 The extension to the building has been the subject of significant design amendment 

in terms of its scale, massing and architectural treatment. Great weight has been 
given to the retention of the existing building as the main feature of the site, with the 
scale, density and external appearance of the extension respecting both this and 
that of the terrace housing on Grove Road, with which it sits comfortably within the 
street scene. 

Page 68



 
 
7.15  The design aesthetic of the extension is contemporary and derived from its two 

distinctly different frontages and neighbouring buildings. Its aim is not to compete 
with the highly decorative detailing of the Grove’s primary facades, yet also to 
respect the scale and character of the terraced housing on Grove Road. The 
proposed elevational treatment to Abbey Bridge Road presents a more striking 
façade to this prominent frontage with a varied building line and projecting windows 
(for reasons of protecting the neighbouring property’s privacy) that provide visual 
interest and verticality. These sit above a continuous and very horizontal glazed 
ground floor that grounds the building and activates this frontage with the main 
entrance and communal space. The Grove Street frontage is quieter and respects 
the more regular rhythm and character of the adjacent terrace, which it also steps 
down too. The final details of the materials would be dealt with by condition, 
together with hard surfacing. 

 
7.16 The development has a shared bin store of 31 sqm located with access from Grove 

Road. The bin stores have been designed to accommodate both general and 
recycling bins. The applicant has stated that their cleaning strategy would involve 
the provision of recycling bins in each kitchen. Management of the student 
accommodation would include responsibility for putting out and bringing in bins on 
waste collection days. A waste management strategy will be required by condition. 

 
7.17 Environmental Heath have confirmed that as with city centre public houses, there is 

no requirement for retained pubs to be serviced by an outdoor smoking area. 
 
7.18 Overall the scale, density, layout and design of the proposed development is 

considered to be a positive and well-considered response to the site and its 
context, in accord with the NPPF, Policy 10 of the ACS and Policy H2 of the Local 
Plan. 

 
iii) Impact on amenity of surrounding residents (Policy 10 of the Aligned Core 
Strategy, Policies H2, H6 and NE9 of the Local Plan, and the Building 
Balanced Communities SPD) 
 

7.19 The proposed development has been designed to take into account the existing 
residential properties which abut the site and to ensure that there would be no 
adverse impact upon the amenities of existing residents in terms of light, outlook 
and privacy. 

 
7.20 The applicant’s recognise that there is a need for strong management 

arrangements with purpose built student accommodation. Accordingly, a student 
management plan is proposed within the S106 obligation to negate issues 
regarding waste management and anti-social behaviour within the locality. An 
integral part of the management plan would be a contact point for local residents to 
liaise directly with those responsible for the management of the accommodation. 

 
7.21 Environmental Health have also recommended the submission of a noise 

management plan and noise assessment/sound insulation conditions to protect 
existing and future residents of the scheme, and to address potential noise 
disturbance arising from the building and external mechanical plant. 

 
7.22 On this basis, the design of the scheme and relationship with surrounding 

properties would ensure that the proposal would not result in an unacceptable level 
of harm to existing residents, or result in the types of issues identified in the 

Page 69



 
Building Balanced Communities document such as noise and disturbance, poorly 
maintained properties and inappropriate management of waste disposal. The 
proposal therefore complies with the requirements of Policy 10 of the Aligned Core 
Strategy, Policies H2, H6 and NE9 of the Local Plan and the Building Balanced 
Communities SPD.  

 
 (iv) Highways considerations (Policy 14 of the Aligned Core Strategy and 

Policy T3 of the Local Plan) 
 
7.23 Policy T3 seeks to preclude development that would be detrimental to highway 

safety. There is no parking provision for this development and there would be a 
restriction within the student management plan to prevent residents from bringing 
vehicles to the development and surrounding area. A condition is recommended 
with regard to drop off and pick up arrangements and Highways are satisfied that 
the proposed development should not pose a risk to highway safety. In addition the 
scheme incorporates secure cycle storage with a space per bedroom, well placed 
on this primary cycle route. The proposed servicing of the pub from Grove Road is 
also considered to be acceptable. In light of these factors, the development is 
considered to accord with Policy 14 of the Aligned Core Strategy and Policy T3 of 
the Local Plan. 

 
7.24 It is fully recognised that this is a confined site and that a construction management 

plan is imperative to ensure that its impact on existing residential properties and 
Castle Boulevard/Abbey Bridge as a main transport corridor, during construction, is 
minimised. A requirement for a construction management plan together with other 
matters requested by Highways can be addressed by condition. 

 
(v) Planning obligations (Policy R2 of the Local Plan) 

 
7.25 In order to comply with the requirements of the relevant Supplementary Planning 

Guidance, the developer is required to enter into a section 106 obligation to secure 
the following: 

  
• A financial contribution towards off-site Public Open Space - £8, 8,011.54 in 

lieu of on-site provision 
• A student management scheme, which shall include a restriction on car 

usage, mitigation and management of potential noise nuisance, security 
details, cleaning and refuse management. 

 
7.26 The public open space contribution is based on the formula within the Council’s 

Open Space Supplementary Planning Guidance. This would be directed towards 
improvements at the Kings Meadow Wildlife Site. 

 
7.27 It is confirmed that the Section 106 obligation sought would not exceed the 

permissible number of obligations according to the Regulation 123 (3) Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010. 

 
 Other Matters 
 
 Contamination and Noise (Policy NE12 of the Local Plan) 
 
7.28 The requirements for a remediation strategy to deal with ground contamination 

would be secured by condition. The proposals are therefore in accordance with 
Policy NE12 of the Local Plan.  

Page 70



 
 
8. SUSTAINABILITY (Policy 1 of the ACS and Policy NE10 of the Local Plan) 
 
8.1 The site is located in an accessible location and the proposal secures the re-use of 

this vacant building.   
 
8.2 The extension is proposed to be in line with current Building Regulations 

requirements involving appropriately insulated walls, floors and roofs. Energy 
efficient lighting and reduced consumption water fittings are also proposed. 

 
8.3 The development would be required to reduce surface water run-off by 30%, in 

comparison with its previous use.  
 
9 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

A financial contribution of £8,011.54 has been negotiated in accordance with the 
Open Space SPG. 
 

10 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The issues raised in this report are primarily ones of planning judgement. Should 
legal considerations arise these will be addressed at the meeting.  
 

11 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 

12 RISK MANAGEMENT ISSUES 
 
None. 
 

13 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
 
Neighbourhood Nottingham: Redevelopment of a cleared brownfield site with a 
quality sustainable residential development.  
 
Safer Nottingham: The development is designed to contribute to a safer and more 
attractive neighbourhood. 
 

14 CRIME AND DISORDER ACT IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 

15 VALUE FOR MONEY 
 
None. 
 

16 List of background papers other than published works or those disclosing 
confidential or exempt information 
 
1. Application No: 18/01082/PFUL3 - link to online case file: 
http://publicaccess.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=P9NBRJLYJZE00 
 

 
Page 71

http://publicaccess.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=P9NBRJLYJZE00
http://publicaccess.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=P9NBRJLYJZE00


 
 
17 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 

 
Nottingham Local Plan (November 2005) 

• Aligned Core Strategy (ACS) (September 2014) 
• Building Balanced Communities SPD (BBCSPD) 
• Open Space SPG. 

 
Contact Officer:  
Mrs Jo Bates, Case Officer, Development Management.  
Email: joanna.briggs@nottinghamcity.gov.uk.      Telephone: 0115 8764041

Page 72



Key
°0 0.02 0.04 km

NOMAD printed map

© Crown copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey Licence number 100019317. NOMAD print generated by a NOMAD user on 11/12/2018.
THIS MAP IS UNSUITABLE FOR PUBLICATION: contact gi@nottinghamcity.gov.uk (ext. 64341) for high quality maps.

City Boundary No description provided
Description

Copyright Nottingham City Council, Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey Licence number 100019317

Page 73



Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

My Ref: 18/01082/PFUL3 (PP-06968118)

Your Ref:

Contact: Mrs Jo Bates

Email: development.management@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Leonard Design Architects
FAO: Miss Lara Hanes
5-13 
Canal Street
Nottingham
NG1 7EG

Development Management
City Planning
Loxley House
Station Street
Nottingham
NG2 3NG

Tel: 0115 8764447
www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Date of decision: 
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMISSION

Application No: 18/01082/PFUL3 (PP-06968118)
Application by: Mr Sam Burt
Location: Grove Hotel, 273 Castle Boulevard, Nottingham
Proposal: Refurbishment and external alterations to the existing public house on the 

ground floor. Change of use of the upper 2 floors to 2no. student cluster 
apartments. Conversion of the existing loft space to 5no. student studios. 
Erection of three storey extension to the rear consisting of 20no. student studios 
(In total 38 student beds)

Nottingham City Council as Local Planning Authority hereby GRANTS PLANNING PERMISSION 
for the development described in the above application subject to the following conditions:-

 1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

1

Time limit

Pre-commencement conditions
(The conditions in this section require further matters to be submitted to the local planning authority 
for approval before starting work)

Page 74



Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

2. Prior to the commencement of the development, a Remediation Strategy that includes the 
following components to deal with the risks associated with ground and ground gas 
contamination of the site shall be submitted to and be approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority:  

a) Based on the findings Phase 1Geo-Environmental Desk Study (Preliminary Risk 
Assessment) by MEC Ltd, dated September 2018 report reference: 24306/09-18/6220.

b) A Remediation Plan, based on a) above, giving full details of the remediation measures 
required and how they are to be undertaken (including a contingency plan for dealing with any 
unexpected contamination not previously identified in the Site Investigation). 

c) A Verification Plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to demonstrate 
that the works set out in c) above are complete.

The Remediation Strategy shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless 
varied with the express written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development poses no contamination risks to accord 
with Poilcy NE12 of the Local Plan.

3. The development, including all site preparation works, shall not be commenced until a 
Construction Management Plan detailing how the development works are to be carried out, 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall 
include as a minimum:

-  Measures to be taken to reduce noise and disturbance to neighbouring properties;
- Schedules - to include timings of the construction works;
- Licenses -  including hoarding and works within the highway;
- Traffic Management requirements;
- Impact on highway, capacity and congestion;
- Access across highway;
- Storage;
- Deliveries, loading and unloading;
- Contractor staff parking provision;
- Measures to prevent the deposit of debris onto the highway.

The construction of the development shall take place in full accordance with the approved plan

Reason: To avoid prejudice to traffic conditions within the vicinity of the site and to safeguard 
the amenities of existing occupiers in accordance with Policies  10 and 14 of the Aligned Core 
Strategy and Policies NE9 and T3 of the Local Plan.

2

Page 75



Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

4. Prior to the commencement of above ground development a verification plan based on the 
sound insulation scheme recommended within the noise assessment report by MEC Ltd, 
referenced: 24306/09-18/6230 dated September 2018 shall be submitted to and be approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The sound insulation scheme and structural work between the commercial & domestic areas 
of the development shall be designed to achieve the following internal noise levels: 

i. Not exceeding 30dB LAeq(1 hour) and not exceeding NR 25 in bedrooms for any hour 
between 23.00 and 07.00, 
ii. Not exceeding 35dB LAeq(1 hour) and not exceeding NR 30 for bedrooms and living rooms 
for any hour between 07.00 and 23.00,
iii. Not more than 45dB LAmax(5 min) in bedrooms (measured with F time weighting) between 
the hours of 23.00 and 07.00,
iv. Not more than 50dB LAeq(1 hour) for garden areas (including garden areas associated with 
residential homes or similar properties). 

The sound insulation scheme verification plan shall include details of the acoustic 
measurements and other data that will be collected following completion of the development in 
order to demonstrate that the internal noise levels set out above have been achieved.  

Reason: To ensure that an appropriate noise environment for future occupants and to accord 
with policies H2 and NE9 of the Local Plan and policy 10 of the ACS.

5. Prior to the commencement of above ground development, details of all external materials, 
including details of the windows/doors, means of enclosure and hard surfaced areas of the 
site, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details 
shall include any new windows and doors in the existing building.

The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved materials.

Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the development is satisfactory and in the interests 
of securing a sustainable development in accordance with Policies 10 of the Aligned Core 
Strategy.

6. Prior to the commencement of above ground development, large-scale elevation and section 
drawings (e.g. at a scale of 1:20/1:10) of the detailed design of the following elements of the 
extension shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:

a) Elevations: including window, glazing systems, reveals, window panels and entrances;

b) Roofs: including edges, parapets, and oriel windows;

c) Plant: including, external ventilation systems, and other similar elements that are integral to 
the fabric of the building.

The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In order to ensure that the detailed design of these areas are consistent with the high 
quality of the development and in accordance with Policy 10 of the Adopted Core Strategy 
2014.

3

Pre-occupation conditions
(The conditions in this section must be complied with before the development is occupied)

Page 76



Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

7. Prior to the development being first occupied, the following shall be submitted to and be 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:

a) A Verification Report, which shall include the data referred to in the Verification Plan, to 
demonstrate that the approved Remediation Strategy to deal with ground contamination of the 
site has been fully implemented and completed.  

b) A Verification Report, which shall include the data referred to in the Verification Plan, to 
demonstrate that the approved Remediation Strategy to deal with ground gas contamination of 
the site has been fully implemented and completed.   

Reason: To ensure that the site is appropriately remediated in accordance with policy NE12 of 
the Local Plan.

8. Prior to first occupation of the development, a verification report, which shall include the data 
referred to in the verification plan approved under condition 3, to demonstrate that the 
approved structural work has been achieved & the sound insulation scheme and any 
complementary acoustic ventilation is fully operational and meets the required internal noise 
levels, shall be submitted to and be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
including the post completion acoustic measurements between the commercial and domestic 
floors of the development.   

Reason: To ensure that an appropriate noise environment for future occupants and to accord 
with polcies H2 and NE9 of the Local Plan and policy 10 of the ACS.

9. Prior to the first occupation of the development, a Waste Management Plan shall be 
implementedin accordance with details that shall first have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted management plan shall include 
provisions for the management of waste arising from the development, details of the 
management company responsible for the building and waste management, and details for the 
collection of waste from the development. 

Reason: To ensure waste arriving from the development is dealt with in an appropriate manner 
to safeguard the amenities of the future and neighbouring occupiers in accordance with Policy 
10 of the Aligned Core Strategy

10. Prior to the first occupation of the development  a scheme of landscaping shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall indicate the type, 
height, species and location of proposed trees and shrubs, including appropriate replacements 
for the mature trees to be removed. The approved scheme shall be carried out in the first 
planting and seeding seasons following the completion of the development and any trees 
which die are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased within a period of five years 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless 
the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the development and ecological value of the site 
are satisfactory in accordance with Policy 10 of the Aligned Core Strategy.

11. Prior to first occupation of the development the secure cycle parking shall be provided in 
accordance with the approved details. The cycle area provided shall thereafter be used for no 
other purpose other than for the parking of cycles.

Reason: To ensure that appropriate cycle parking are facilities are provided to encourage an 
alternative mode of transport to accord with policy T3 of the Local Plan and policy 14 of the 
ACS.

4

Page 77



Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

12. Prior to the first occupation of the development, a detailed Noise Management Plan shall be 
submitted to and be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

The Noise Management Plan shall identify the types and locations of operational activities 
which are likely to cause noise disturbance to sensitive receptors and: 

- Minimise noise arising from operational activities -such as deliveries and bottling up, by 
technical and physical means, and through management best practice
- Identify (and make stakeholders aware of) the person responsible for recording, investigating 
& dealing with complaints from any residents
- Provide details of how the internal noise levels in all parts of the proposed development will 
be controlled & managed to ensure that the noise breakout does not cause noise disturbance 
- Provide details of how noise on the street immediately surrounding the proposed 
development either from customers entering & exiting the premises, queues, smoking areas 
will be managed
- Regularly review the Noise Management Plan.

Reason: To ensure that an appropriate noise environment for neighbouring and future 
occupants and to accord with policies H2, H6 and NE9 of the Local Plan and policy 10 of the 
ACS.

13. Prior to the first occupation of the development, any redundant footway crossings and/or 
damaged or altered areas of footway or other highway shall be reinstated in accordance with 
details that have first been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To ensure that any redundant crossings or damaged crossings are reinstated 
appropriately to safeguard highway safety and to accord with policy 10 of the ACS.

14. The development shall not be occupied until details of a Traffic Management Plan for the 
loading and unloading of vehicles collecting and delivering the belongings of occupants of the 
proposed student accommodation at the start and finish of each academic term has been 
submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

The Traffic Management Plan shall be exercised in accordance with the approved details 
unless varied by the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To avoid prejudice to traffic conditions within the vicinity of the site and in the interest 
of highways and pedestrian safety in accordance with Policy 10 and 14 of the Aligned Core 
Strategy.

15. The development shall be carried out in full accordance with approved surface watre drainage 
strategy, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage as 
well as to reduce the risk of creating or exacerbating a flooding problem and to minimise the 
risk of pollution in accordance with Policy 1 of the Aligned Core Strategy and Policy NE10 of 
the Local Plan.

Standard condition- scope of permission

S1. Except as may be modified by the conditions listed above, the development shall be carried 
out in complete accordance with the details described in the forms, drawings and other 

5

Regulatory/ongoing conditions
(Conditions relating to the subsequent use of the development and other regulatory matters)

Page 78



Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

documents comprising the application as validated by the council on 24 September 2018.

Reason: To determine the scope of this permission.

Informatives

 1. The reason for this decision, and a summary of the policies the local planning authority has had 
regard to are set out in the committee report, enclosed herewith and forming part of this decision.

 2. This permission is valid only for the purposes of Part III of the Town & Country Planning Act 
1990. It does not remove the need to obtain any other consents that may be necessary, nor does it 
imply that such other consents will necessarily be forthcoming. It does not override any restrictions 
contained in the deeds to the property or the rights of neighbours. You are advised to check what 
other restrictions there are and what other consents may be needed, for example from the 
landowner, statutory bodies and neighbours.  This permission is not an approval under the Building 
Regulations.

 3. Contaminated Land, Ground Gas & Groundwater:

The Remediation Strategy (including its component elements) must be undertaken and 
implemented in accordance with Defra and the Environment Agency's guidance Model Procedures 
for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11, CIRIA C735 Good Practice on the Testing & 
Verification of Protection Systems for Buildings Against Hazardous Ground Gases (2014) and other 
authoritative guidance. The Remediation Strategy must also provide details of:
- 'Cut and fill' operations on site
- How trees retained on site will be dealt with
- How gas precautions including any radon gas precautions will be validated 
- Any asbestos surveys carried out, the method statement for removal of asbestos and subsequent 
validation of air and soil following asbestos removal and demolition. 

Following completion of the development, no construction work, landscaping or other activity must 
be undertaken which may compromise the remediation measures implemented to deal with ground, 
groundwater and ground gas contamination of the site.  

Any ground gas protection measures included in the original development are designed for the 
buildings as originally constructed to protect against possible dangers to public health and safety 
arising from any accumulation of methane, carbon dioxide or other gas and to ensure that the site 
can be developed and used without health or safety risks to the occupiers of the development 
and/or adjoining occupiers.  These protection measures may be compromised by any future 
extension of the footprint of the original building or new building structures within the curtilage of the 
site including the erection of a garage, shed, conservatory or porch or similar structure.  Advice 
from the Council's Environmental Health Team regarding appropriate gas protection measures 
must be sought should future extension of the footprint of the original building or new building 
structures within the curtilage of the site be proposed (regardless of whether the proposed 
construction requires planning permission or building regulation approval). 

It is a requirement of current Building Regulations that basic radon protection measures are 
installed in all new constructions, extensions conversions & refurbishments on sites which are 
Radon Class 3 or 4 and full radon protection measure are installed on site which are Radon Class 5 
or higher.  Advice from the Council's Environmental Health Team regarding appropriate gas 
protection measures must be sought where there are both radon issues and ground gas issues 
present.

6

Page 79



Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

The responsibility and subsequent liability for safe development and secure occupancy of the site 
rests with the developer and/or the landowner.  The developer is required to institute a thorough 
investigation and assessment of the ground conditions, nature and degree of contamination on the 
site to ensure that actual or potential risks to public health and safety can be overcome by 
appropriate remedial, preventive or precautionary measures.  The developer shall provide at his 
own expense such evidence as is required to indicate clearly that the risks associated with ground, 
groundwater and ground gas contamination of the site has been addressed satisfactorily.

 4. Environmental Noise Assessment:

The environmental noise assessment shall be suitable and sufficient, where appropriate shall 
consider the impact of vibration, and shall be undertaken by a competent person having regard to 
BS 7445: 2003 Description and Measurement of Environmental Noise and any other appropriate 
British Standards.  The internal noise levels referred to are derived from BS 8233: 2014 Sound 
Insulation and Noise Reduction for Buildings.

Where noise sources shared a floor / ceiling separation or party wall with the development then a 
sound insulation test of the relevant separation may be required as well as an assessment of the 
noise source itself and how it is limited or controlled.  

The sound insulation scheme verification plan must include the measurement of the impact of any 
transportation noise, noise from people on the street and be carried out whilst any premises and/or 
activities in the vicinity that are likely to have an adverse effect on noise levels are operating, 
including any plant and equipment which forms part of the development.

The approved sound insulation scheme must be maintained &, in the case of mechanical 
ventilation, must be maintained, serviced and operated in accordance with manufacturer's 
recommendations. 

 5. Highways Informatives:

1. Planning consent is not consent to work on the highway. To carry out the off site works 
associated with the planning consent, approval must first be obtained from the Local Highway 
Authority. Approval will take the form of a Section 278 Agreement and you should contact 
Highways Network Management on 0115 8765293 to instigate the process.

It is strongly recommended that you make contact at the earliest opportunity to allow time for the 
process to be completed as you will not be permitted to work on the Highway before it is complete. 
All associated costs will be borne by the developer.

2. Planning consent is not consent to work on or from the public highway. Therefore prior to any 
works commencing on site including demolition works you must contact Highways Network 
Management on 0115 876 5238 to ensure all necessary licences and permissions are in place. A 
Construction Management Plan should be submitted for approval prior to works commencing on 
site.

3. It is an offence under Section 148 and Section 151 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit mud on 
the public highway and therefore you should take every effort to prevent this occurring.

4. The residents of the approved student dwellings will not be eligible for permits for the adjacent 
resident parking scheme in operation.

Where a condition specified in this decision notice requires any further details to be submitted for 
approval, please note that an application fee will be payable at the time such details are submitted 
to the City Council. A form is available from the City Council for this purpose.

7

Page 80



Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

Your attention is drawn to the rights of appeal set out on the attached sheet.

8

Page 81



- 9 -

DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

RIGHTS OF APPEAL
Application No: 18/01082/PFUL3 (PP-06968118)

If the applicant is aggrieved by the decision of the City Council to impose conditions on the grant of 
permission for the proposed development, then he or she can appeal to the Secretary of State under 
section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Any appeal must be submitted within six months of the date of this notice.  You can obtain an appeal 
form from the Customer Support Unit, The Planning Inspectorate, Room 3/15 Eagle Wing, Temple 
Quay House, 2 The Square, Temple Quay, Bristol, BS1 6PN.  Phone: 0117 372 6372.  Appeal forms 
can also be downloaded from the Planning Inspectorate website at http://www.planning-
inspectorate.gov.uk/pins/index.htm.  Alternatively, the Planning Inspectorate have introduced an 
online appeals service which you can use to make your appeal online. You can find the service 
through the Appeals area of the Planning Portal - see www.planningportal.gov.uk/pcs.

The Inspectorate will publish details of your appeal on the internet (on the Appeals area of the 
Planning Portal).  This may include a copy of the original planning application form and relevant 
supporting documents supplied to the local authority by you or your agent, together with the 
completed appeal form and information you submit to the Planning Inspectorate.  Please ensure that 
you only provide information, including personal information belonging to you that you are happy will 
be made available to others in this way.  If you supply personal information belonging to a third party 
please ensure you have their permission to do so.  More detailed information about data protection 
and privacy matters is available on the Planning Portal.

The Secretary of State can allow a longer period for giving notice of an appeal, but will not normally 
be prepared to use this power unless there are special circumstances which excuse the delay.

The Secretary of State need not consider an appeal if the City Council could not for legal reasons 
have granted permission or approved the proposals without the conditions it imposed.

In practice, the Secretary of State does not refuse to consider appeals solely because the City 
Council based its decision on a direction given by him.

PURCHASE NOTICES

If either the City Council or the Secretary of State refuses permission to develop land or grants it 
subject to conditions, the owner may claim that he can neither put the land to a reasonably beneficial 
use in its existing state nor can he render the land capable of a reasonably beneficial use by the 
carrying out of any development which has been or would be permitted. This procedure is set out in 
Part VI of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

COMPENSATION

In certain limited circumstances, a claim may be made against the City Council for compensation 
where permission is refused or granted subject to conditions by the Secretary of State. The 
circumstances in which compensation is payable are set out in Section 114 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990.
  

Page 82



 

 
WARDS AFFECTED: Dales  Item No:  
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
19th December 2018 

 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF PLANNING AND REGENERATION  
 
Colwick Hall, Racecourse Road 
 
1 SUMMARY 
 
Application No: 18/01224/PFUL3 for planning permission 

 
Application by: GVA Grimley on behalf of Colwick Hall Hotel 

 
Proposal: Erection of a function suite containing WC's, stores, kitchen and 

bar with landscaping and associated works. 
 

The application is brought to Committee because it is for a major development on a 
prominent site where there are important design and heritage considerations.   
 
To meet the Council's Performance Targets this application should have been determined 
by 16th October 2018, but an extension of time has been agreed with the applicant until 
24th December 2018. 
 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the indicative conditions substantially 

in the form of those listed in the draft decision notice at the end of this report. 
 
2.2  Power to determine the final details of the conditions to be delegated to Director of 

Planning and Regeneration. 
  
3 BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The application site is the Grade II* listed Colwick Hall situated on Racecourse 

Road in Colwick, approximately 3km east of the city centre. The Hall was granted 
as series of planning permissions, some conditional in 2004 and 2005  transitioning 
use to a hotel and conference centre. Conditional (temporary) Grant of Planning 
Permission (04/02654/PFUL3) was also given for a marquee but a further renewal 
application for a further 4 years was refused in 2009 (09/00003/PFUL3). An 
enforcement notice remains in place for the removal of the marquee. Nottingham 
Racecourse occupies approximately 4ha of land adjacent and to the north of the 
site, with stable and jockey accommodation immediately to the north east of the 
Hall. A lake is situated immediately to the south of the site with the River Trent 
beyond. Given the proximity of the river the site, in accordance with Environment 
Agency mapping, is designated as being within Flood Zone 2.  

 
3.2 The specific area to which this application relates is situated to the south of the Hall 

and east of its formal garden and is currently occupied by the marquee referred to 
above. Immediately to the south of the site is a public footpath providing access into 
Colwick Country Park, which is also designated as a Local Wildlife Site.  
 
 

Page 83

Agenda Item 5c



 

3.3 Officers have been working with the applicants to find a long term appropriate 
solution for the replacement  of the marquee, in the interests of the on-going vitality 
of the Hall, as such to date it has not been expedient to enforce the notice.  

 
 Relevant Planning History  
 

03/01019/PFUL3 - Change of use of first floor from bedrooms/conference facilities 
to office and second floor to toilets and ancillary accommodation. 
Landscaping to front of building incorporating entrance gates. Approved 
2004 

 
04/00765/PFUL3 - Erection of marquee and landscape works. Approved 2004 
 
04/02616/PFUL3 - Change of use of first floor from offices to hotel. Approved 2005 
 
04/02654/PFUL3 - Erection of marquee.  (Resubmission of planning permission 

reference 04/00765/PFUL3). Approved 2005 
 
05/00006/LLIS1 - Alterations to enable change of use of first and second floors to 

hotel. Approved 2005 
 
05/00030/PFUL3 - Change of use of 2nd floor to hotel including insertion of dormer 

windows. Approved 2005 
 
07/02304/PFUL3 - Renewal of temporary planning permission 04/02654/PFUL3 for 

erection of marquee. Approved 2007 
  

09/00003/PFUL3 - Renewal of temporary planning permission 07/02304/PFUL3 for 
erection of marquee for a further four years. Refused 2009 

   
4 DETAILS OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 Planning permission is sought for the removal of the existing marquee and 

associated structures and its replacement with a permanent function suite of brick 
construction. The function suite would comprise a banqueting hall, self-contained 
from the hall that would provide for up to 500 covers. The building would include a 
lobby, bar area, kitchen and ancillary facilities.  

 
4.2 The building would approximately align with the western boundary of the adjacent 

walled stable accommodation for the racecourse and would measure approximately 
30m in width at the front, narrowing to 13m at the rear of the building. It would have 
a length of approximately 65m and a flat roof with lanterns lights which would be 
approximately 5.7m in height; comparable with the adjacent single storey frontage 
of the Hall.  

 
4.3 Revisions have been sought during the lifetime of the application to seek retention 

of a Walnut tree which was originally proposed to be removed. The building design 
has been altered to achieve retention of this tree with changes to a small glazed bar 
area incorporated on the south western corner of the building and a terrace area 
incorporated around the tree.   

 
4.4 The application has been supported by a: planning statement, ecology appraisal, 

arboricultural survey, noise assessment, heritage impact assessment, conservation 
audit and ground contamination report.  

Page 84



 

 
5 CONSULTATIONS AND OBSERVATIONS OF OTHER OFFICERS 
 

Adjoining occupiers consulted: 
 
2 neighbouring properties have been notified in writing of the proposal. The 
application has also been publicised through site and press notices. A further site 
notice has been erected on receipt of revised plans.  

 
Five letters of representation have been received raising the following points: 
 

 The Nearest residential property is located within the racecourse stable yard 
and not 600M away. 

 Complaint of excessive noise have previously been raised with Nottingham 
City Council and movement/increase in size will only compound the issue 

 Parking is insufficient for the size of events hosted, cars are often parked 
down one side of racecourse road on each large event which causes access 
issues 

 There is a Fire Exit route from stable yard through hotel grounds which is 
often blocked during events 

 If planning permission is granted construction works must be scheduled so 
as not to coincide with racecourse fixtures 

 Bin stores are currently not fit for purpose on the site and a better 
arrangement needs to be had if the building is approved 

 Upset regarding the proposed loss of trees 

 The proposal encroaches on to public open space which is part of a 
designated open space network and identified as a biological site of 
importance for nature conservation within the Core Strategy 

 Do not consider that special circumstances exist which would allow the 
intrusion into Green Belt land 

 Note the English Heritage suggestion that serious consideration be given to 
development within the existing developed footprint of the eastern service 
area 

 The extension would be incongruous to the country park and result in the 
loss of a large area of public owned broadleaf woodland 

 The application would be contrary to a number of Local Plan policies in 
addition to guidance of the NPPF  

 Birds and bats use the adjacent lake for foraging and would be disturbed by 
the new building  

 Why has no landscape visual impact assessment been undertaken? 
Consider that there would be a major magnitude of change, which would 
lead to a major adverse impact on the landscape 

 People are not aware of the development, only 1 site notice is visible on the 
bridleway 

 The loss of trees is large; 7. These integrate together to form a woodland 

 Consider that the Holm Oak could survive for decades and should be 
retained 

 The current circus tent structure is better than destroying a large area of 
mature woodland  

 
 
 
 

Page 85



 

Nottingham Civic Society 
 
Nottingham Civic Society supports in principle the proposal affecting the Grade II* 
listed building. If implemented, it would resolve the long standing eyesore which is 
the unauthorised marquee which has disfigured one of the principal elevations of 
the Hall. The new banqueting suite does appear to be as appropriately sited and 
cleanly elevated as it could be, if its absolute necessity to the economic future of 
the hall is accepted. However, given the high-profile status of the listed building, it is 
surprising that the submitted elevations are little more than sketches and no 
perspective of the relationship with the hall has been offered. The Civic Society 
believes that more detailed rendering of the proposal should be available to ensure 
that this large building in a sensitive location will be sufficiently recessive and 
deferential to allow the principal elevation of Colwick Hall to retain its heritage 
significance. 

 
Additional consultation letters sent to: 
 
Natural England: No comments. Please see standing advice.  
 
Biodiversity Officer: Awaiting further comments.  

  
 Initial concerns raised that the ecology report submitted is out of date and hasn’t 
provided due consideration to the loss of the land, part of which is designated as a 
Local Wildlife Site.  
 
Nottingham Wildlife Trust: Initial objection. No objection to the updated ecology 
report subject to a number of conditions in relation to ecological mitigation and 
enhancement.  
 
Pollution Control: No objection conditions relating to contamination and noise 
management are recommended  
 
Highways: No objection condition relating to the submission of a construction traffic 
management plan is recommended.  
 
The proposal is for a permanent building on the site of an existing temporary 
marquee located immediately adjacent to Colwick Hall. This space will be used for 
weddings and other events for the site. Colwick Hall is situated on Racecourse 
Road, which is a road serving the hotel and Nottingham racecourse. The road 
immediately adjacent to the hotel is not adopted, but is adopted further west near 
the junction of Waterside Way. Racecourse Road eventually leads onto Daleside 
Road adjacent to the Racecourse Park and Ride site. Parking is available for 104 
cars at the site, including two disabled bays. Additional staff parking of 6 bays 
including one disabled bay is also provided. 
 
A transport statement has been provided for the site. Whilst access to the site could 
be made by walking/public transport, the remote location of the site from the bus 
stops (over 1km) will mean that it is unlikely to be accessed by public transport, or 
by walking. It is noted that the applicant indicates that the majority of users of the 
temporary marquee access the site by taxi, coach or by car. Notwithstanding this, 
the transport statement is considered acceptable. 
 
The proposed replacement building for the proposed marquee is located away from 
the road and car park, to the rear (south) of the hotel. As the proposed building is of 

Page 86



 

similar size to the temporary marquee being used, there would be little impact to the 
highway compared to the existing situation. There are therefore no highway 
objections to the proposed development from a highways perspective. 
 
Whilst the building location is remote from the highway, it is recommended that a 
Construction Management Plan be provided for the site. This would be for 
consideration of construction traffic that would operate along Racecourse Road, 
construction compound/storage, as well as to minimise disruption to the existing 
hotel use. 
 
Historic England: No objection, defer to Council Conservation Officer. 
 
Historic England (formally English Heritage) has provided substantive advice for 
over ten years, both at pre application and at statutory consent stage on the 
harmful impact of the temporary marquee on the significance of Colwick Hall. Our 
most recent advice letter to Janet Keble at Nottingham City Council, dated 26 
February 2015, refers.  Previously we considered options for new build within the 
stables yard to the east and reaffirmed our view that any new development should 
not compromise the open character of the southern elevation and views to and from 
the hall sweeping down to the ornamental lake - the setting of the hall formed by 
these views and landscape character, are integral to the hall’s national significance.   
 
Since 2005 the temporary marquee constructed to the east of the south elevation 
has become an unsightly, dominant feature within the setting of the hall. It has a 
distracting presence which obscures part of the southern elevation and 
compromises the appreciation of this elevation and the hall’s relationship with the 
stables to the east and within the site, the ruined church to the west. We have 
consistently advised that the temporary marquee is harmful to the significance of 
both Colwick Hall and the scheduled monument.  We understand this marquee is 
unauthorised and an enforcement notice has been served and remains extant. In 
the context of the extensive planning history, we previously concluded that we 
believe there may be compelling evidence for a separate entertainment space and 
this needs to be a permanent solution which sustains the heritage value and 
viability of the hall. The justification for a scheme of this nature, however, would 
need to be robust and in line with paragraphs 193, 194 and 196 of the NPPF. Any 
new structure should complement and enhance the architectural form and not 
obscure it. 
 
NCC Conservation Officer: No objection subject to conditions relating to provision 
of further details in relation to the specific finish of the building 
 
Comments based on initial plans: 
 
The Colwick Hall Hotel, who occupy the building, currently utilise a large temporary 
marquee which is positioned immediately to the south east of the Hall. The 
marquee is the subject of an unresolved planning enforcement case and is 
considered to detract from the setting and significance of the Hall due to its siting 
(overlapping the southern façade in views over the ornamental lake) and its 
temporary, poor quality appearance.  
 
Bookings for private functions are understood to contribute significantly to the 
income for the hotel and to be critical to the upkeep of the grade II* listed building. If 
the financial case made by the applicant is sufficiently robust, this would provide a 

Page 87



 

clear and convincing justification for the principle of a permanent banqueting 
building.  
 
The proposed building is a low profile structure and has been designed with a 
contemporary appearance that complements, but does not compete with the 
distinctive architecture of the Hall. In general terms the new building is felt to be a 
major improvement on the temporary marquee. However, its impact on the setting 
of the Hall would still be high and would result in some harm to its significance. 
Crucially the siting of the building will allow the full width of the Hall to be visible in 
views from the south. While this will benefit the setting of the listed building, it will 
result in the loss of a pair of mature trees (a Holm Oak and a Walnut) which 
contribute to the character of the parkland. In order to mitigate this issue 
specifically, a landscaping scheme should be required by condition which proposes 
suitable replacement planting and preferably a degree of screening for the new 
building which breaks up its horizontal massing.  
 
In terms of detailed building design, the application provides insufficient information. 
Further drawings will be required which show large scale sections and elevations of 
the façade treatments (including the glazing frames and profiles) and the palette of 
materials. These aspects could normally be dealt with by condition, but it is felt that 
in this case they are of fundamental importance when assessing the development's 
visual impact and should therefore be provided prior to determination. 
 
Comments based on revised plans: 
 
In terms of the amendments to the design I am satisfied that the any additional 
impact on the heritage assets would be minimal and the benefits of retaining the 
Walnut as part of the scheme would outweigh the drawbacks of bringing the 
building line of the bar element further to the west.  
 
NCC Tree Officer: No objection subject to detailed condition in relation to provision 
of an arboricultural method statement. 
 
Environment Agency: No objection. 
 
The Environment Agency does not normally comment on or approve the adequacy 
of flood emergency response procedures accompanying development proposals, 
as we do not carry out these roles during a flood. Our involvement with this 
development during an emergency will be limited to delivering flood warnings to 
occupants/users covered by our flood warning network. 
 
Those proposing developments should take advice from the emergency services 
when producing an evacuation plan for the development as part of the flood risk 
assessment. 
 
In all circumstances where warning and emergency response is fundamental to 
managing flood risk, we advise local planning authorities to formally consider the 
emergency planning and rescue implications of new development in making their 
decisions. 
 
Lead Local Flood Authority: No objection. 
 

 
 

Page 88



 

6 RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE 
 

National Planning Policy Framework 
 

The NPPF advises that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development 
and that applications for sustainable development should be approved where 
possible.  Paragraph 124 notes that the creation of high quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve, and that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development. 

 
Paragraph 194 states:  
Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its 
alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require 
clear and convincing justification.  

 
Furthermore, Paragraph 196 states: Where a development proposal will lead to less 
than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 
 
Paragraph 200 states that ‘Local planning authorities should look for opportunities 
for new development within the setting of heritage assets, to enhance or better 
reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the setting, that 
make a positive contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its significance) 
should be treated favourably’. 
 
Aligned Core Strategy (September 2014):  
 
Policy 1 – Climate Change 
 
Policy 3 – The Green Belt 
 
Policy 10 – Design and Enhancing Local Environment  
 
Policy 11: The Historic Environment  
 
Policy 14: Managing Travel Demand 
 
Policy 17 – Biodiversity 
 
Nottingham Local Plan (November 2005): 
 
Policy BE10 - Development within the Curtilage, or Affecting the Setting of a Listed 
Building  
 
Policy BE16 – Archaeology  
 
Policy ST1 – Sustainable Communities  

 
Policy NE2 – Natural Conservation 
 
Policy NE5 – Trees 
 
Policy NE8 – Green Belt 

Page 89



 

 
Policy NE9 - Pollution 
 
Policy NE10 – Water Quality and Flood Protection 
 
Policy R1- Open Space Network 
 
Policy R9 - Leisure development in major parks and district parks 
 
Policy T3 - Car, Cycles and Servicing Parking  

 

7. APPRAISAL OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
 Main Issues 
 

 i) Principle of the development 

ii) Design and impact on host listed building 

iii) Biodiversity and green infrastructure 

iv) Flood risk and drainage 

v) Amenity 

vi) Archaeology 

vii) Parking and highway safety 

viii) Other matters 

 
(i) Principle of the development (Policies BE10, NE2, NE5, NE8, R1 & R9 of 

the Local Plan and Policies 3, 10, 11 & 17 of the Aligned Core Strategies) 
 

7.1 The NPPF at paragraph 200 states that ‘Local planning authorities should look for 
opportunities for new development within the setting of heritage assets, to enhance 
or better reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the 
setting, that make a positive contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its 
significance) should be treated favourably’. Furthermore, paragraph 196 states 
‘Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against 
the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its 
optimum viable use.’  

 
7.2 The proposed building would replace the existing unauthorised marquee building 

that has been on the site for in excess of 10 years. The marquee by way of its 
design and temporary construction detrimentally impacts upon the setting of the 
host building. Pre-application discussions have been held with the applicant for a 
considerable period of time and it has been established that a function suite is 
required to safeguard the upkeep and maintenance of the Grade II* listed Hall and 
to keep it in a viable, economic use. This has been supported through financial 
documentation supplied as part of the application. In this instance it is considered 
that the principle of provision of a permanent function suite ancillary to the Hall is 
justified subject to the below considerations.  

 
7.3 Policy NE8 of the Local Plan establishes a presumption against development in the 

Green Belt and paragraph 143 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development 
is by definition harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very 

Page 90



 

special circumstances. Paragraphs 145 & 146 go on to list various forms of 
development which are not considered to be inappropriate in the Green Belt. None 
of the forms of development listed within the NPPF fit cleanly with what is proposed 
as part of this development.  
 

7.4 Very special circumstances are not defined by legislation, policy (including in the 
NPPF itself) or any specific planning guidance. However, general guidance on its 
interpretation has been provided in a Commons statement of the 13th March 1997 
which supports the view that even in the Green Belt, the planning system offers the 
flexibility to consider alterations and extensions to listed buildings, or alternative 
uses that would help to safeguard their future viability and can therefore comprise 
very special circumstances for such development. Improvements to the setting of 
listed buildings, historic parks and gardens or the character of conservation areas 
may, the statement suggests, also be accorded the status of a very special 
circumstance for development. In the circumstances the removal of the existing 
marquee and provision of a building which is far more sympathetic to the setting of, 
and better reveals the architectural interest of the Hall, is considered to weigh 
significantly in the planning balance. The function suite, whilst larger than the 
existing marquee, is proposed to be finished with a flat roof, thus limiting the bulk of 
the building. The function suite would secure the future viability of the Hall, which in 
this instance is considered to represent very special circumstances that would 
outweigh any perceived loss of openness to the surrounding Green Belt. The 
proposal is considered to accord with policy NE8 of the Local Plan, Policy 3 of the 
Core Strategy and guidance of the NPPF.  

  
(ii)  Design and impact on host listed building (Policy BE10 of the Local Plan 

and Policies 10 & 11 of the Aligned Core Strategy) 
 
7.5 Policy BE10 of the Local Plan states that permission for development within the 

curtilage or affecting the setting of a listed building will not be granted if it would be 
detrimental to the appearance or character of the building or its setting. The existing 
temporary buildings are made up of a number of separate marquees and 
associated portable buildings which are situated to the south east of the Hall and 
partially obscure the frontage of the building. The structures are temporary in 
appearance and fail to contribute to the setting of the host listed building. These 
would be removed under the proposal and replaced with the function suite that
 would, in the main, be aligned with the western edge of the stable yard to the north, 
addressing the current overlap the marquee has with the Hall’s southern elevation 
and providing an improvement to its setting.  

 
7.6 The function suite is expressed in a contemporary style yet references the aesthetic 

of both a walled garden and orangery, which are considered appropriate to this 
context. Its intention is to create a plainer, subservient outbuilding to the Hall, the 
clean simple form in contrast to the detailed architecture of the Hall that it does not 
seek to copy. The height and massing of the proposal is deliberately lower than the 
single storey eastern wing of the Hall, and lower than the existing marquee 
structures. The building incorporates split level flat roofs concealed behind a 
substantial red brick garden wall which steps down as it reaches the lake. The 
function areas are naturally lit by large glazed elements within the garden wall and 
due to the deep plan, low level roof lanterns are positioned in the centre of each of 
the main function rooms, which also provide natural ventilation to maximise energy 
efficiency. The lanterns will not be apparent in close views of the building but from 
greater distance their orangery style is sympathetic and appropriate within this 
context. The large curtain wall glazing within the garden wall helps to distinguish it 

Page 91



 

from the solidity of the listed building, further referencing the orangery aesthetic and 
facilitating an obvious connection between the building and its landscaped 
surrounds. 

 
7.7 In terms of external materials, brick was chosen in preference to stone to create the 

appearance of a more traditional garden wall. The curtain wall glazing is to be 
housed in deep reveals with the aluminium window frames in dark grey, an 
intentional contrast from the white sash window frames within the Hall. 

 
7.8 In the interests of retaining a Walnut tree which is considered to positively 

contribute to the setting of the Hall, a lightweight glazed bar area has been 
developed on the south western corner of the building, with an adjacent terrace 
area incorporating the tree. This now fully glazed and lower element, that 
marginally projects towards the Hall to enable the tree to be retained, expands the 
orangery aesthetic and is a welcomed revision to the scheme. More detailed plans 
and visuals of the building have been supplied by the applicant to better understand 
its relationship with the Hall. Notwithstanding this, it is considered that further 
clarification on precise brick detail and window sections are required to ensure a 
satisfactory finish to the development, the provision of which would need to be 
secured by condition.  

 
7.9 In summary the proposed replacement function suite is considered to result in less 

than substantial harm to the setting of Colwick Hall and would contribute to the on-
going viability of Colwick Hall, a Grade II* Georgian country house. The 
replacement function suite would be a permanent ancillary building to the Hall and 
provide an improved relationship, better revealing the architectural interest of the 
Hall, particularly when viewed from the Country Park to the south. The identified 
less than substantial harm to the setting of the hall is considered to be outweighed 
through the public benefit that would be realised through the future security relating 
to the retention and upkeep of the Hall. Subject to appropriate conditions it is 
considered that the proposal is acceptable and would accord with policy BE10 of 
the Local Plan, Policies 10 & 11 of the Aligned Core Strategy and the NPPF.  
 

(iii)  Biodiversity and green infrastructure (Policies NE2, NE5, R1 and R9 of 
the Local Plan and Policy 17 of the Aligned Core Strategies)  

 
7.10 All land to the south and east of the Hall is defined as being within Colwick Country 

Park, which is designated as a Local Wildlife Site. Colwick Country Park is also part 
of an Open Space network (OSN) as defined by policy R1 of the Local Plan.  

 
7.11  The application has been supported by an arboricultural assessment which details 

the removal of 18 trees and associated vegetation to accommodate the proposed 
development. The trees range from category A to U. A walnut tree; the sole 
category A tree, has been the subject of prolonged discussion during the lifetime of 
the application with officer’s keen to see it retained. The applicant has sought to 
alter the plans of the building accordingly to incorporate the walnut into a terrace 
area on the southern elevation of the building. Whilst it is regrettable that a number 
of other trees are required to be removed to facilitate the development, this is 
weighed in the balance of providing a permanent replacement building which better 
respects the setting of the Hall. Subject to conditions securing replacement trees 
and an arboricultrual method statement in relation to trees designated as being 
retained, the development is considered to be acceptable in this regard.  

 

Page 92



 

7.12 Policy R1 states that permission will not be granted for development which would 
adversely affect the OSN, with proposals being considered against 5 criteria. The 
proposed development site is composed of land partially occupied by the existing 
marquee and land to the east which is a mix of broad leafed woodland, scrub and 
ruderal vegetation. Whilst the loss of existing woodland is regrettable, it is 
considered that the small portion in question which forms part of the much wider 
Colwick Country Park, can be regarded as both underused and forming a small part 
of a major open space, the loss of which would not result in the loss of integrity or 
wildlife value of the OPN overall. The proposed loss of land would in this instance 
not result in the loss of the integrity of the wider open space that is the Country 
Park and the loss would not be detrimental to the function of the Park. Furthermore, 
discussions are still on-going with the applicant and biodiversity colleagues on ways 
to best seek opportunities to compensate for the loss of woodland and further 
details will be provided as part of the update sheet prior to the Committee meeting. 
The proposal is considered to be acceptable against policy R1 of the Local Plan.  

 
7.13 The application has also been supported by an ecological appraisal, which 

following comments received from biodiversity colleagues, has been updated 
during the lifetime of the application. As detailed above, a small area of broad 
leafed woodland would be lost to the rear of the existing marquee to facilitate the 
construction of the function suite.  

 
7.14 In conclusion, the development would result in the acceptable loss of a small part of 

the Country Park which is designated as both Open Space and a Local Wildlife site. 
However, the development would partially utilise previously developed land and 
would facilitate the removal of an existing marquee which is unsympathetic to both 
the setting of the adjacent listed Hall and the character of the wider Country 
Park/OSN. On balance and subject to appropriate mitigation being secured by 
condition, the proposed development is not considered to result in a significant loss 
of biodiversity on the site and would accord with Policies NE2, NE5, R1 and R9 of 
the Local Plan and Policy 17 of the Aligned Core Strategies. 

 
(iv) Flood risk and drainage (Policy NE10 of the Local Plan and Policy 1 of the 
Aligned Core Strategies)  

7.15 A lake is situated to the south of the site and the river Trent beyond. The land 
immediately to the south is slightly lower than the development site and defined as 
being within Flood Zone 3 in accordance with Environment Agency mapping, albeit 
benefiting from flood defences. The development site is defined as being within 
Flood Zone 2. The application has been supported by a Flood Risk Assessment 
(FRA) & Drainage Strategy which have been reviewed by the Lead Local Flood 
Authority and Environment Agency. No objection has been raised to the proposed 
development from either subject to the imposition of a number of conditions.  

 

7.16 In accordance with NPPF technical guidance, the development is designated as 
being ‘more vulnerable’ and table 2 confirms that this form of development is 
acceptable within Flood Zone 2. The development therefore passes the necessary 
sequential test and is not required to pass the exception test.  

 

7.17 The submitted FRA details that floor levels within the function suite should be set 
above the 1 in 1000 year level of 21.84m AOD. Levels on the site are between 
22m and 23m AOD, there is therefore no requirement to raise the building floor 
levels. Subject to a condition detailing that development shall be undertaken in 

Page 93



 

accordance with the recommendations of the undertaken FRA, it is not considered 
that the development would result in flood risk or drainage concerns and the 
proposal  therefore accords with Policy NE10 of the Local Plan and Policy 1 of the 
Aligned Core Strategies. 

 

(v) Amenity (Policy NE9 of the Local Plan and Aligned Core Strategies policy 10) 

7.18 The existing collection of marquees have been on site for in excess of 10 years 
and used for functions and events throughout the year. The representations 
receive refer to previous instances of noise pollution which are clearly exacerbated 
the poor sound insulation offered by the existing marquees. The site backs onto 
existing stable and jockey accommodation associated with the Racecourse to the 
north.  

 

7.19 A noise report has been submitted in support of the application which identifies the 
closest residential dwelling to be approximately 600m to the south on the southern 
bank of the Trent, off Adbolton Lane. However, the comments received regarding 
the racecourse stable complex including a dwelling associated with the running of 
the stables are noted.  

 

7.20 The replacement function suite would be of permanent construction and the noise 
assessment submitted confirms that events being held in the building would be 
unlikely to result in excess noise levels. It is therefore considered that the 
development would provide considerable betterment in this regard and accord with 
Policy NE9 of the Local Plan and Aligned Core Strategies policy 10. 

 

(vi) Archaeology (Policy BE16 of the Local Plan)  

7.21 The application has been supported by an archaeological desk based assessment 
and reviewed by the Council’s archaeologist. The site is not designated as being 
within an archaeological constraint area but is within an area recognised as being 
of archaeological interest. No objection to the proposed development has been 
raised subject to the imposition of a condition requiring the submission of a Written 
Scheme of Investigation (WSI) securing a watching brief during groundworks on 
the site. Subject to condition the proposal would accord with Policy BE16 of the 
Local Plan. 

 

(vii) Parking and highway safety (Policy T3 of the Local Plan and Aligned Core 
Strategies policies 10 & 14) 

7.22 The application has been supported by a Transport Statement. The building 
proposed would be larger than the existing marquee but provide the same number 
of total covers; 500. Whilst the comments received from a 3rd party regarding 
displaced vehicle parking along Racecourse Road are noted, the submitted 
transport statement details that in the majority people arrive for events by taxi or 
coach/mini bus with the existing 104 capacity carpark capable of accommodating 
private vehicles. It is not anticipated that the replacement structure would result in a 
significant increase in vehicle movements, given the like for like offer in terms of 
number of covers to be provided within the function suite. No highway objections 
have been raised by Highway colleagues subject to inclusion of a condition 
requiring detail to be submitted and agreed in the form of a construction 

Page 94



 

management plan. Subject to condition it is considered that the proposal would 
accord with Aligned Core Strategies policies 10 & 14. 
 
(viii) Other matters 
 

7.23 The comments from Environmental Health colleagues are noted in relation to 
contaminated land and the necessary information can be secured by way of 
condition.  
 

7.24 The comments raised regarding a fire exit being blocked during events are noted; 
the proposed site plan shows an access path being provided to the north and east 
of the function suite, adjacent to the stable complex. The requirement for provision 
of a fire escape route would be a matter to be discussed with the operators of the 
Hall and the Fire Authority/Building Control and is not a material planning 
consideration.  

 
7.25 The comment received regarding the lack of a Landscape Visual Impact 

Assessment (LVIA) is noted. As detailed earlier in the report, the proposed function 
suite would replace the existing unauthorised marquee and whilst its footprint  
would be larger than the marquee, the building is lower in height and designed to 
better reflect the setting of the adjacent Grade II* Hall. The assessment of its visual 
impact is felt to be sufficiently demonstrated by the CGI’s provided by the applicant 
and adequately addressed in the relevant sections of the report above.  

 
8. SUSTAINABILITY / BIODIVERSITY 
 

The building has been designed to benefit from natural light with the proposed roof 
lanterns positioned in the centre of each of the main function rooms, which also 
provide natural ventilation to maximise energy efficiency.  
 
The proposed development as outlined in section (iii) would result in the loss of a 
number of trees vegetation and on the site. Subject to condition it is not considered 
that the scheme would result in a significant impact to surrounding biodiversity.   

 
9 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

None. 
 

10 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The issues raised in this report are primarily ones of planning judgement. Should 
legal considerations arise these will be addressed at the meeting. 
 

11 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 

12 RISK MANAGEMENT ISSUES 
 
None. 
 

13 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
 
None. 

Page 95



 

 
14 CRIME AND DISORDER ACT IMPLICATIONS 

 
None. 
 

15 VALUE FOR MONEY 
 
None. 
 

16 List of background papers other than published works or those disclosing 
confidential or exempt information 
 
1. Application No: 18/01224/PFUL3 - link to online case file: 
http://publicaccess.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PARI0SLYN0000 

 
17 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 

 
Nottingham Local Plan (November 2005) 
Nottingham City Aligned Core Strategies (September 2014) 
NPPF (July 2018) 
Commons Statement 11 March 1997 
 
Contact Officer:  
Mr James Mountain, Case Officer, Development Management.  
Email: James.Mountain@nottinghamcity.gov.uk.      Telephone: 0115 8764065

Page 96

http://publicaccess.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PARI0SLYN0000
http://publicaccess.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PARI0SLYN0000


Key
°0 0.055 0.11 km

NOMAD printed map

© Crown copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey Licence number 100019317. NOMAD print generated by a NOMAD user on 11/12/2018.
THIS MAP IS UNSUITABLE FOR PUBLICATION: contact gi@nottinghamcity.gov.uk (ext. 64341) for high quality maps.

City Boundary No description provided
Description

Copyright Nottingham City Council, Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey Licence number 100019317

Page 97



Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

My Ref: 18/01224/PFUL3 (PP-06145587)

Your Ref:

Contact: Mr James Mountain

Email: development.management@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

GVA Grimley
FAO: Mr Robert Gardner
3 Brindleyplace
Birmingham
B1 2JB

Development Management
City Planning
Loxley House
Station Street
Nottingham
NG2 3NG

Tel: 0115 8764447
www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Date of decision: 
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMISSION

Application No: 18/01224/PFUL3 (PP-06145587)
Application by: Colwick Hall Hotel
Location: Colwick Hall, Racecourse Road, Nottingham
Proposal: Erection of a function suite containing WC's, stores, kitchen and bar with 

landscaping and associated works.

Nottingham City Council as Local Planning Authority hereby GRANTS PLANNING PERMISSION 
for the development described in the above application subject to the following conditions:-

 1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

1

Time limit

Pre-commencement conditions
(The conditions in this section require further matters to be submitted to the local planning authority 
for approval before starting work)

Page 98



Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

2. Development shall not be commenced, including the breaking of any ground unless a 
programme of archaeological investigation and works, for those parts of the site which are 
proposed to be excavated below existing ground or basement levels, has first been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The programme of archaeological 
investigation and works shall include:

a)      Excavation of areas to be affected by development and the implementation of a watching 
brief during the course of groundworks for service installation;
b)      Preservation, in situ, of any remains which, upon archaeological investigation, are found 
to significantly contribute towards understanding of the historic Nottingham City Centre;
c)      Arrangements for the recording of archaeological remains and finds during the 
investigation and for the preparation of a final report;
d)      Arrangements for the deposition of the material and documentary archive in a registered 
museum;
e)      Arrangements of the publication of a summary of the final report in an appropriate journal
 
The archaeological investigation and works approved under this condition shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved programme.

The archaeological work should be undertaken by a suitably qualified and experienced 
archaeological contractor in accordance with the Standards and guidance of the Chartered 
Institute for Archaeologists and in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) to 
be approved by the City Archaeologist. The WSI should be produced in response to a brief to 
be issued by the City Archaeologist.

Reason: To ensure that any archaeological remains at the site are appropriately preserved 
and to accord with policy BE16 of the Local Plan.

3. Prior to the commencement of any work on site (including demolition, vehicle movement and 
ground preparation) an Arboricultural Method Statement and Scheme of Works which details 
the protection of trees to be retained (as shown in arboricultural report by Symbiosis 
September 2017) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.
In relation to the walnut tree shown to be retained to the south of the building it should include 
the following information:
i) Details of pile foundation construction within Root Protection Area (RPA) of tree
ii) Details of decking construction to allow expansion of trunk and fixings into soil within 
the RPA
iii) Details of proposed non-slip decking surface 
iv) A schedule of works required for pruning of the tree. 

No development or other operations shall take place except in complete accordance with the 
details as so-approved (hereinafter referred to as the Approved Scheme).

Reason: To ensure that existing trees are safeguarded during construction in accordance with 
Policy NE5 of the Local Plan.

2

Page 99



Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

4. Prior to the commencement of the development, a Remediation Strategy that has regard to the 
Phase 1 environmental report  by GVA dated August 2017 referenced 01B712123 and  
includes the following components to deal with the risks associated with ground, groundwater 
and ground gas contamination of the site, shall be submitted to and be approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority:   
a) A Site Investigation, based on the findings within the phase one environmental report  
by GVA dated August 2017 referenced 01B712123

b) A Remediation Plan, based on  a) giving full details of the remediation measures 
required and how they are to be undertaken (including a contingency plan for dealing with any 
unexpected contamination not previously identified in the Site Investigation). 

c) A Verification Plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in b) above are complete.

The Remediation Strategy shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless 
varied with the express written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that any contamination of the site is adequately dealt with and to accord 
with policy NE12 of the Local Plan.

5. The development shall not be commenced until a construction management plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall as a 
minimum include details of the type, size and frequency of vehicles to/from the site, haul 
routes (if any), staff parking provision, site security, traffic management plans, wheel cleaning 
facilities and measures to prevent the deposit of debris on the highway and a timetable for its 
implementation. Thereafter the construction plan shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details and timetable unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the construction of the development has no adverse impact on the 
local highway network and has no significant impact on neighbouring properties to accord with 
policy NE9 of the Local Plan.

6. Prior to the commencement of development, a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
CEMP shall ensure the habitats within the LWS are protected from impacts such as damage 
by construction traffic, pollution, and increased noise and lighting levels. The CEMP shall 
contain details relating to locations of protective fencing along the lake edge to prevent 
accidental encroachment within this buffer. No direct lighting of the surrounding woodland, 
mature trees and lake should occur during construction. Further consideration should be given 
to Site hydrology and run-off into the lake in order to prevent effects through an alteration in 
water chemistry or siltation. Any environmentally hazardous material used should be kept in 
dedicated stores and storage tanks should have appropriate bunding. 

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity and in accordance with policy NE2 of the Local Plan 

7. No above ground development shall be commenced until a sample panel showing the brick 
work, bond, mortar mix and pointing technique has been provided on site for inspection and 
approval has been received in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: To safeguard the special architectural and historic interest of the building in 
accordance with policy 11 of the Aligned Core Strategies

3

Page 100



Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

8. No above ground development shall be commenced in respect of the features identified below, 
until details of the design, specification, fixing and finish in the form of drawings and sections 
at a scale of not less than 1:10 have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

External windows including roof windows, doors and their immediate surroundings, including 
details of glazing and glazing bars.

Treatment of window and door heads and cills

Verges and eaves

Rainwater goods 

Coping

Extractor vents

Meter boxes

Airbricks

Soil and vent pipes

Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historical appearance of the hall and 
in accordance with policy 11 of the Aligned Core Strategy

9. Prior to first occupation of the development, the following shall be submitted to and be 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:

A Verification Report, which shall include the data referred to in the Verification Plan, to 
demonstrate that the approved Remediation Strategy to deal with ground gas contamination of 
the site has been fully implemented and completed.  

Reason: To ensure that any contamination of the site is adequately dealt with and to accord 
with policy NE12 of the Local Plan.

10. Prior to the development being first occupied, verification shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority that mechanical services, plant or equipment 
(including any air handling plant) specified to serve the development have been implemented 
as described within the environmental noise report by Hoare Lea Acoustics, REP-1006945-
AM-140717-R2, 27/09/2017.  

Reason: To ensure that approved mitigation measures schemes to deal with noise associated 
with the operation of the building have been implemented to accord with policy NE9 of the 
Local Plan.

11. Prior to the development being first occupied a scheme for ecological enhancement for the 
adjacent Country Park shall be submitted and agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall include a schedule (including planting plans and written 
specifications, including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass 

4

Pre-occupation conditions
(The conditions in this section must be complied with before the development is occupied)

Page 101



Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

establishment) of trees, shrubs and other plants, noting species, plant sizes, proposed 
numbers and densities, and a timetable for implementation. The scheme shall also contain 
details of proposed bird/bat boxes including locations of proposed installation. Trees to be 
removed shall be replaced on a two for one basis. The scheme shall be designed so as to 
enhance the nature conservation value of the site and adjacent park and include the use of 
locally native plant/tree species.

The scheme shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved timetable 
unless otherwise varied in accordance with the written agreement of the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and biodiversity and in accordance with policies NE2 
and NE5 of the Local Plan

12. The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
recommendations made within the Ecological Appraisal undertaken by FPCR dated November 
2018. 

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity and in accordance with policy NE2 of the Local Plan 

13. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) dated November 2017 and the following 
mitigation measures detailed within the FRA:

1. Identification and provision of safe routes into and out of the site to an appropriate safe 
haven.
2. Finished floor levels shall be set no lower than 21.84 m above Ordnance Datum (AOD).

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation or within any other 
period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure safe access and egress from and to the site. To reduce the risk of flooding 
to the proposed development and future occupants. 

Standard condition- scope of permission

S1. Except as may be modified by the conditions listed above, the development shall be carried 
out in complete accordance with the details described in the following drawings/documents:
Elevations reference 3188-200 revision Rev B dated 1 September 2018, received 20 
November 2018
Location Plan reference 3188-03 revision Rev C dated 1 September 2018, received 20 
November 2018
Planning Layout reference 3188-04 revision - dated 1 November 2018, received 20 November 
2018

Reason: To determine the scope of this permission.

Informatives

5

Regulatory/ongoing conditions
(Conditions relating to the subsequent use of the development and other regulatory matters)

Page 102



Continued…DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

 1. The mechanical services plant or equipment (including any air handling plant), including any 
mitigation measures, must be maintained, serviced and operated in accordance with 
manufacturer's recommendations while the development continues to be occupied.

 2. The Remediation Strategy (including its component elements) must be undertaken and 
implemented in accordance with Defra and the Environment Agency's guidance 'Model Procedures 
for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11' and other authoritative guidance. The 
Remediation Strategy must also provide details of how gas precautions including any radon gas 
precautions will be validated.

Following completion of the development, no construction work, landscaping or other activity must 
be undertaken which may compromise the remediation measures implemented to deal with ground 
gas contamination of the site.  

Any ground gas protection measures included in the original development are designed for the 
buildings as originally constructed to protect against possible dangers to public health and safety 
arising from any accumulation of methane, carbon dioxide or other gas and to ensure that the site 
can be developed and used without health or safety risks to the occupiers of the development 
and/or adjoining occupiers.  These protection measures may be compromised by any future 
extension of the footprint of the original building or new building structures within the curtilage of the 
site including the erection of a garage, shed, conservatory or porch or similar structure.  Advice 
from the Council's Environmental Health Team regarding appropriate gas protection measures 
must be sought should future extension of the footprint of the original building or new building 
structures within the curtilage of the site be proposed (regardless of whether the proposed 
construction requires planning permission or building regulation approval). 

It is a requirement of current Building Regulations that basic radon protection measures are 
installed in all new constructions, extensions conversions & refurbishments on sites which are 
Radon Class 3 or 4 and full radon protection measure are installed on site which are Radon Class 5 
or higher.  Advice from the Council's Environmental Health Team regarding appropriate gas 
protection measures must be sought where there are both radon issues and ground gas issues 
present.

The responsibility and subsequent liability for safe development and secure occupancy of the site 
rests with the developer and/or the landowner.  The developer is required to institute a thorough 
investigation and assessment of the ground conditions, nature and degree of contamination on the 
site to ensure that actual or potential risks to public health and safety can be overcome by 
appropriate remedial, preventive or precautionary measures.  The developer shall provide at his 
own expense such evidence as is required to indicate clearly that the risks associated with ground, 
groundwater and ground gas contamination of the site has been addressed satisfactorily.

Where a condition specified in this decision notice requires any further details to be submitted for 
approval, please note that an application fee will be payable at the time such details are submitted 
to the City Council. A form is available from the City Council for this purpose.

Your attention is drawn to the rights of appeal set out on the attached sheet.

6

Page 103



- 7 -

DRAFT ONLY
Not for issue

RIGHTS OF APPEAL
Application No: 18/01224/PFUL3 (PP-06145587)

If the applicant is aggrieved by the decision of the City Council to impose conditions on the grant of 
permission for the proposed development, then he or she can appeal to the Secretary of State under 
section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Any appeal must be submitted within six months of the date of this notice.  You can obtain an appeal 
form from the Customer Support Unit, The Planning Inspectorate, Room 3/15 Eagle Wing, Temple 
Quay House, 2 The Square, Temple Quay, Bristol, BS1 6PN.  Phone: 0117 372 6372.  Appeal forms 
can also be downloaded from the Planning Inspectorate website at http://www.planning-
inspectorate.gov.uk/pins/index.htm.  Alternatively, the Planning Inspectorate have introduced an 
online appeals service which you can use to make your appeal online. You can find the service 
through the Appeals area of the Planning Portal - see www.planningportal.gov.uk/pcs.

The Inspectorate will publish details of your appeal on the internet (on the Appeals area of the 
Planning Portal).  This may include a copy of the original planning application form and relevant 
supporting documents supplied to the local authority by you or your agent, together with the 
completed appeal form and information you submit to the Planning Inspectorate.  Please ensure that 
you only provide information, including personal information belonging to you that you are happy will 
be made available to others in this way.  If you supply personal information belonging to a third party 
please ensure you have their permission to do so.  More detailed information about data protection 
and privacy matters is available on the Planning Portal.

The Secretary of State can allow a longer period for giving notice of an appeal, but will not normally 
be prepared to use this power unless there are special circumstances which excuse the delay.

The Secretary of State need not consider an appeal if the City Council could not for legal reasons 
have granted permission or approved the proposals without the conditions it imposed.

In practice, the Secretary of State does not refuse to consider appeals solely because the City 
Council based its decision on a direction given by him.

PURCHASE NOTICES

If either the City Council or the Secretary of State refuses permission to develop land or grants it 
subject to conditions, the owner may claim that he can neither put the land to a reasonably beneficial 
use in its existing state nor can he render the land capable of a reasonably beneficial use by the 
carrying out of any development which has been or would be permitted. This procedure is set out in 
Part VI of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

COMPENSATION

In certain limited circumstances, a claim may be made against the City Council for compensation 
where permission is refused or granted subject to conditions by the Secretary of State. The 
circumstances in which compensation is payable are set out in Section 114 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990.
  

Page 104


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5a Land Between Clifton Wood And Clifton Phase 4 Development Yew Tree Lane
	5b Grove Hotel 273 Castle Boulevard
	REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF PLANNING AND REGENERATION

	5c Colwick Hall Racecourse Road



